
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 
To: The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to be held on Thursday, 19th January, 2023 at 2.00 pm in the Authority 
Chamber, No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Trudy Bedford 
on telephone number 07803 630124. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 
 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3 TO CONSIDER THE MINUTES OF THE:  

   

a MEETING ON THE 7 SEPTEMBER 2022  

  (Pages 1 - 14) 

b INQUORATE MEETING HELD ON 1 DECEMBER 2022  

  (Pages 15 - 18) 

4 COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET 2023/24  

 This report provides the Members of the Committee with the draft revenue 
and capital budgets, together with the treasury management strategy and 
capital strategy for scrutiny.  

  (Pages 19 - 88) 

5 CORPORATE PLAN 2021-24; QUARTER 2 (JULY TO SEPTEMBER) 
2022-23 PERFORMANCE UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations and the Portfolio Holder for Policy, Resources and 
Reform.  

  (Pages 89 - 138) 

6 FAIR EMPLOYMENT CHARTER: IMPLEMENTATION AND NEXT 
STEPS  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations and the Portfolio Holders for Education, Skills, 
Equality and Diversity and Policy, Reform and Resources.  

  (Pages 139 - 146) 

7 APPOINTMENT TO THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  

 To consider a report of the Interim Monitoring Officer.  

  (Pages 147 - 150) 
 

 



LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 7th September, 2022 the 
following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor Steve Radford 
Chair of the LCR Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillors John Abbott, David Burgess-Joyce, George Davies, Eddie Dourley,  
Edna Finneran, Sam Gorst, James Hansen, Trisha Long, Julie McManus, Pat Moloney, 
Tricia O'Brien, Brian Spencer, Mancyia Uddin and Carran Waterfield. 
 
15 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Christine Howard and Angela 

Teeling. 

 
16 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest received.  
 
17 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 13 JULY 2022  
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 13 July 2022 were received as 
a correct record.  
 
18 PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE - BUSINESS SUPPORT  
 

Mark Basnett, Managing Director, LCR Local Enterprise Partnership, advised that 
unfortunately the Chair of the LEP was unable to attend the meeting due to business 
demands but he confirmed that the presentation slides had been shared and discussed with 
him and it was hoped that he would be available to attend the next meeting.  
 
 The primary rationale for the Committee requesting attendance at the meeting today 
was to talk about the Business and Innovation Portfolio Board and its role in overseeing that 
Portfolio for the Combined Authority. He also proposed to provide an update on what had 
happened since the pandemic.  
 
 The Business and Innovation Portfolio Board covered a very broad range of issues all 
relating to business and innovation across the City Region. It covered the business evidence 
base and was particularly focused on what was in the business ecosystem, whether it was 
working effectively, what the gaps were. It was interested in inward investment and how new 
businesses could be attracted into the region and how existing businesses could be 
supported through business growth services. The portfolio also covered the Freeport, which 
had its own Board, and had an interest in commercial property as it related to business and 
innovation more broadly.  
 
 It was noted that the Business Support Portfolio Board had met three times, the last 
meeting having taken place on 28 June 2022 and the next meeting was scheduled for the 
end of September. The Board comprised of local Councillors and was chaired by Asif Hamid 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



MBE with Councillor Marion Atkinson as Deputy Chair and was supported by an Executive 
team from the Combined Authority.  
 
 In terms of the evidence base he stated that one of the main challenges for the City 
Region was that its business base was too small - it was the third lowest of all LEP areas in 
the UK. A lot of businesses started up in Liverpool but there was an issue around business 
survival with the result that most of the businesses that started up failed within five years. 
That presented a challenge in terms of the economy and meant that growth and jobs had to 
rely on a smaller business base than most other locations. There was also an issue in 
respect of business growth in that there were not that many high growth businesses in the 
economy. High growth businesses made up about 3% of the UK economy but they 
generated around 50% of its growth. There was also a lack of business growth infrastructure 
that went with them e.g. seed funds. Lastly, it would be necessary to drive productivity. There 
was a small number of high productive businesses and some medium sized companies in 
the region but there were also a lot of medium to low productivity businesses with not enough 
absorption of innovation to drive that growth. The evidence base highlighted that these were 
the fundamental issues which needed to be tackled as a City Region and therefore they 
would be the focus of the Business Portfolio going forward.  
 
 An extensive mapping of the business support ecosystem had taken place which had 
looked at what the gaps were compared to other successful locations and the Combined 
Authority together with the Board and with colleagues across the City Region would be 
looking at filling those gaps through various programmes and funding streams. In respect of 
innovation again this was a hugely important area and he referred to the launch of the 
Innovation Prospectus in Westminster earlier this year by Steve Rotheram and alongside that 
was the refreshed Science and Innovation Audit. They had identified where the strengths 
were and provided a platform for where future innovation investment needed to take place, 
some of which was already happening. Projects such as the Future Innovation Fund, High 
Growth Innovation Fund, UKRI Innovation Launchpad were emerging in the innovation 
space. There was also an Inward Investment Service which was funded until June 2023 and 
which it was hoped would be renewed. The service promoted the City Region’s high value 
sector and was about attracting some of those high value, high quality jobs into the City 
Region and despite the fact that the last couple of years had been difficult for everyone 
throughout the pandemic it had managed to attract 75 inward investments over the last two 
and a half years and had a strong pipeline. Out of those 75 projects the most common areas 
of investment had been in advanced manufacturing, digital and creative and health and life 
sciences and they were exactly the kind of innovative, high value productive sectors that it 
was aimed to attract growth into in order to provide the higher value jobs and productivity that 
the City Region needed. It was noted that in the financial year 2021/22 those investment 
projects had attracted over 400 jobs into the City Region.   
 
 The Business Growth Service worked with local authorities and Chambers of 
Commerce to provide a joined up approach to simplify and co-ordinate that business support 
network. A High Growth Programme had recently been launched with Combined Authority 
support to try and find businesses which had some high growth ambition to help them 
become high growth businesses. The service was doing a lot of work around resilience to 
help businesses to survive but also to identify those businesses with great potential. A 
watching brief was being kept over the Freeport, although that had its own Board comprising 
the Metro Mayor, several Council Leaders, and businesses etc., but the ambition was that 
the Freeport would be used as a force for good to complement and add value to the City 
Region rather than competing with it. In order to attract investment and support businesses it 
was necessary to have the right commercial property offer and therefore an active interest 
would be required to understand what was happening in that space. Whilst a lot had been 
done in respect of funds to try and stimulate and develop plans to bring forward sites for 
development there was still a lot more to be done. He referred to the changing nature of the 

Page 2



landscape and the fact that what business were looking for was changing. If the aim was to 
attract the best businesses it would be necessary to have the right sites and premises 
available and businesses were increasingly looking for a campus style environment. There 
were a few of those campus sites in the City Region already such as Paddington and the 
Knowledge Quarter. What had been seen in terms of inward investment was that businesses 
from outside of the area were attracted to those campus environments and therefore this was 
something that needed to be focused on and would be a big challenge going forward.  
 
 The pandemic meant that the focus of the board had had to shift overnight. A number 
of issues had been identified and the priority became about business survival and supporting 
businesses through the pandemic. The board had worked with over 10,000 businesses 
during the pandemic across the City Region and provided business support to help with their 
survival through the LEP/Growth Platform business support network. He stated that this had 
been a hugely challenging and demanding period, but it had been a great piece of 
collaborative work. In this period over 4,400 local businesses had been directly provided with 
grants totalling £45m which had mainly been funded by Central Government to support their 
survival and backed by the Combined Authority and administered through local authorities 
and the Growth Platform. Surprisingly, over the same period, despite the pandemic, the City 
Region had attracted 75 new inward investments predominantly in advanced manufacturing, 
health & life sciences, digital, creative and technology projects. This was encouraging as the 
basic premise of the City Region and its attractiveness was something to build upon. One of 
the programmes had focused on providing business resilience, survival and growth support 
in collaboration with Combined Authority colleagues and supported by the LEP/Growth 
Platform network which included Mettle, Sustain, Business Resilience and Kindred. As an 
organisation the focus had shifted to getting the City Region business community through 
this so that as the pandemic ended it would come out on the other side with a really 
ambitious and progressive plan for growth. However, it had now been hit with a second 
global crisis.  
 
 As a result of all the interventions and support over the last two years the rate of 
business failures had reduced and the rate of net additional business had increased, 
expanding the City Region business population in the last 12 months by over 2,000 to 74,849 
businesses. However, a lot of the businesses were not in a great financial position, 
particularly in the hospitality sector, and that was something it would need to be very mindful 
of over the next 12 months.  
 
 Mark Basnett stated there was a whole range of future business challenges ahead. 
The country had emerged from the pandemic to a second global crisis which meant there 
would be a complete change from how things had been done previously. The era of 
globalisation, where everything had been farmed out to lower cost locations such as China 
and the Far East in terms of production and the reliance on cheap energy from Russia, that 
age of globalisation had effectively ended with the challenges in Russia and some of the 
associated concerns around China. Many businesses had been weakened by the pandemic 
and were highly vulnerable to unprecedented spikes in energy costs. This would be 
completely unsustainable for many businesses and would be a significant risk. This changing 
environment would likely see a repatriation of supply chains into western economies which 
could provide a real opportunity for the City Region in that space. There were also issues 
around accelerated digitisation and remote working which would have an effect on changing 
the office workplace and practice if the model of hybrid working continued. Most businesses 
were reporting skill shortages and rising wage costs. Despite all the growth which had 
happened over the last ten years there was still a considerable difference between the 
wealthy and non-wealthy and high levels of deprivation were still being seen within 
communities. The economic models had not addressed that so there needed to be a 
rebalancing in that space and the Board needed to recognise that. So it would be necessary 
to support sustainable, inclusive, productive and competitive growth in businesses to help 

Page 3



respond to those challenges and these were issues that would be taken forward as a LEP 
and the Growth Platform but also through the Business and Innovation Board.  
 
 When the Board had last met with the Committee it had been given some great 
advice and interrogation which had been really valued. A lot had been learnt from each other 
in those interactions. It had been a cathartic process and therefore the Board was very happy 
to come back to this group to get that challenge and insight and to understand the issues 
from its perspective. Following the pandemic in early 2021 the Government had questioned 
the future of LEPs and by February 2022 they had decided that where there was a Combined 
Authority they wanted Local Enterprise Partnerships to integrate with that Combined 
Authority. So that process had started in April 2022 and work had been ongoing with 
colleagues to look at how that could be achieved in the most effective way. A plan had been 
submitted to Government as to how that was expected to work which essentially looked to 
strengthen and refresh the LEP Boards in order to be more helpful to Combined Authority 
policy and delivery and to retain and develop the City Region Growth Company (Growth 
Platform) for business support and investment. The functions would very much continue but 
the LEP brand and essence being a separate entity would gradually dissolve over the 
coming months. A LEP would still remain in existence in other parts of the country where 
there was not a Combined Authority. Work was being undertaken to look at how the boards 
could be strengthened and the conversation had been expanded to include local authorities, 
Combined Authorities and Chambers as to how the whole business ecosystem was going to 
work. For example, who would interact with businesses and how to ensure that the right 
support was being given to the right businesses in a balanced way across the City Region. 
That review was being undertaken at the moment and would be reported at the end of the 
calendar year.  
 
 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee had welcomed and approved the role and work 
of the LEP and had made a suite of practical recommendations to further enhance the 
Boards and ensure ongoing feedback with the Committee and these included: 
 

 Sharing of LEP Annual Performance Review process and decisions – this had happened 
in March 2021 but when the pandemic hit that process took a back seat. There had been 
two Performance Reviews in 2021 and 2022 and both of those had achieved an excellent 
result and had been described as a good model. All of the committed objectives and 
targets had been delivered jointly with the Combined Authority in the period that the LEP 
had operated.  

 Sharing of Performance Dash Board and involvement in Annual Conference – some of 
the dashboards had been shared but some of the governance arrangements around 
dashboards etc had not happened and it had been necessary to cancel the Annual 
Conference as it could not be attended in person due to the pandemic.  

 Support Business Resilience and increase SME on Boards – a huge amount of work had 
been undertaken around business resilience and increased SME participation had been 
seen on our boards. A lot more had also been done around diversity and inclusion to 
ensure that ethnic diversity was achieved on our boards and the Chair of the Race 
Equality Working Group was also now on the main LEP Board.  

 Carbon Audit and Carbon Reduction measures – there had been less progress in this 
area as there was very little resource available to businesses to undertake this sort of 
audit work. He was hoping that through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund there would be 
some resource that could be tapped into. However, this was an area that needed to be 
focused on. There were lots of commercial services out there for businesses around audit 
work and businesses had been encouraged to take that up but for some businesses it 
would be necessary to do a bit more encouragement and support.  

Page 4



 Support Apprenticeships – a lot of work had been undertaken on supporting 
apprenticeships. The board had helped in getting hundreds of new apprenticeships out 
there within the business community.  

 Communicate Achievements/Success/Impacts – the Committee was keen that more work 
should be done in this area but it had not been possible as the focus had been on 
supporting the business community.  

 Measure Social Value/Impact – this was a longer term priority/challenge. How would the 
social value and impact be measured in respect of the interventions that were being 
made in terms of making a difference to our poorer communities. This was an area which 
needed more work and it had not been taken forward as fully as had been intended.  

 
It was noted that these recommendations had been partially achieved but the pandemic 

and the LEP Review had impacted on fuller implementation.  
 
Councillor Steve Radford said that if Merseyside was suffering a greater level of failures 

than other LEPs was there anything that other LEP areas were doing to combat that problem 
which could be learned from. 

 
 Mark Basnett responded that some of this was down to the economic structure and the 

nature of businesses in the region. Many of the businesses that had started up were in the 
more vulnerable sectors such as hospitality, retail and personal services. There had been far 
fewer business starts in the higher growth or tradable services. What could be seen in some 
of the other areas was a focus of resources around those businesses which were likely to 
generate income from outside of the region or country. Some areas, such as the North East, 
provided very little general business support and focused on those businesses which made 
the biggest contribution. It was a balancing act as Merseyside had tried to provide a support 
of some kind universally for all businesses particularly through the pandemic but increasingly 
it would be necessary to focus on building and supporting those business that had the 
greatest economic impact potential.  

 
Councillor Edna Finneran asked whether Brexit had had an impact on the UK trading with 

Europe and whether there had been any benefits of leaving the European Union?  
 
Mark Basnett felt that he would struggle to find any business which had benefited from 

Brexit. It had created many of challenges and bureaucracy in trading with Europe for 
businesses. For the first 12 months of the EU transition period a lot of work had been 
undertaken with businesses to help them navigate the new arrangements of selling goods 
overseas and importing goods. In some areas there were tariffs which had not been helpful. 
If there was a significant value in it a lot of businesses would continue to trade but some 
businesses had stopped trading with Europe because it had become too difficult. His 
experience was that businesses had only ever found it a problem and there was some 
analysis that it had reduced our exports and had therefore had a negative impact across the 
UK.  

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce queried whether local authorities or large organisations 

in the Merseyside region were being encouraged to use those Merseyside businesses or 
start-ups that were being supported in the procurement process as a first port of call. It was 
not necessary to be driven by the EU procurement process as had been the case in the past 
and therefore our own process could be used.  

 
Mark Basnett replied that there was a great opportunity in both using local businesses 

and improving the take up of local businesses but also in driving some of the key criteria 
around social priorities and sustainability and it was very legitimate to start using that sort of 
criteria now that the UK had been freed from some of the previous requirements. There had 

Page 5



been quite a bit of talk about that issue but he did not think it had translated into 
comprehensive action as yet but there was certainly interest in it. There was a recognition 
that that was a power those big organisations had and certainly it would apply to local 
authorities. The Combined Authority had done a lot of work in looking at which sort of 
businesses it would support and it only provided funding to those businesses who were good 
employers. If a business wanted to get some help from the public sector it should expect to 
fulfil the criteria of a good employer. Work had commenced to look at how more local 
businesses could be helped to bid so there was a supply and demand side which needed to 
be worked on.  

 
Councillor Burgess-Joyce asked why the skills gap had not been looked at in order to 

support them to support us. There seemed to be a bit of a gap in the middle to help these 
start-ups to maintain their business.  

 
Mark Basnett confirmed that a few examples of that sort of work had been seen where 

organisations were almost entering into partnerships with smaller businesses to pull them 
through. There were certain rules around what could be done in that space but there was a 
recognition that there was a need to upskill and people who were experts in procurement 
were the perfect people to provide the skills for those businesses to understand what it took 
to pass those criteria. This was something that was in the pipeline, but it had not been 
translated as far as it should have been as yet. He stated that it was good to have these 
sorts of challenges raised as they could be taken away in order to initiate further work in this 
area.  
  
 Councillor Tricia O’Brien was very aware that the pandemic had adversely affected 
things and Brexit had not helped either. She was interested to know what had happened 
about Education as there had been a lot of discussions about career and talent development 
in school and she knew how much children had suffered as a result of being taught from 
home during the pandemic. She asked what had happened in respect of career development 
for those children and sought reassurance that it would be taken up again in the future.  
 
 Mark Basnett stated that all the planned work in classrooms in schools had obviously 
had to stop during the pandemic for all of the right reasons. The team had worked with 
Heads and Career Heads to move to online resources. He admitted that it had not been the 
same for young people but the team had worked with local employers to put together video 
materials and accessible interactive materials for an online presence so at least there was a 
library of resources available to them. That was now in place but all of the in-school and face 
to face work had now recommenced. The team worked and engaged with 134 schools 
including all the SEND schools across the City Region. He stated that the amount of funding 
available from Government was nowhere near enough as the transition from education to 
employment was so important to get right. He stressed that the team had worked incredibly 
hard to make this a priority and good progress was still being made.  
 
 Councillor Julie McManus referred to the sustainable supply chains and following on 
from what Councillor Burgess-Joyce had said she thought the OJEU Regulations were a bit 
of an excuse not to procure locally. She had worked for the local Regional Development 
Agency some years ago who had talked about local supply chains then with quite some 
success, so it had always been a key issue. She was aware of a training organisation based 
on the Wirral that had lost their contract with the City Region to a national organisation and 
being a Wirral Councillor she was upset about that because of the local work they had done 
and the social impact that had had. She would like some answers on that and she confirmed 
that she would send the details through. 
 
 Mark Basnett responded that he was aware of several businesses locally that lost out 
in that employment support and procurement exercise. A number had been in contact 

Page 6



directly and discussions had taken place with the Combined Authority but it might be a 
different case and therefore he encouraged her to share the information because locally 
delivered provision was important provided that it was of sufficient quality.  
 
 Councillor Eddie Dourley noted that there was a lot of detail available about 
successful businesses and he asked whether there was any kind of detail on those that had 
failed e.g. the size and nature of the businesses sector by sector. Also in regard to The 
Chest he stated that he had worked with a lot of small and medium enterprises who had bid 
for tenders on Chest and they had not been successful because bigger businesses were 
able to employ professional tender writers and the smaller companies could not compete 
with that. 
 
 Mark Basnett felt that the UK Shared Prosperity Fund could possibly be used to help 
businesses to employ professional tender writers and that would be a great use of resource 
as it was not just about winning business locally but would also help to bring businesses in 
from outside the region. There had already been some support in that space and discussions 
had taken place in regard to supply chains in the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and he thought 
that there was an opportunity to help resource SMEs in that space. In terms of the first point 
he confirmed that he would ask the team to produce an analysis as he thought it would be 
helpful for everyone to see that. Most of the fall off tended to be in very small micro 
businesses due to the fact that often people who started did not have the necessary 
networks, experience or money and it was known as ‘necessity entrepreneurship’ due to the 
fact that people did not have an alternative.  
 
 Councillor Steve Radford noted that the Ministry of Defence was looking at relocating 
140+ business service support staff from Liverpool to Blackpool and he queried whether the 
local authority had been consulted about that relocation and was there any way of counter 
bidding.  
 
 Mark Basnett confirmed that he would take that away and report back on that.  
 
 Councillor Trisha Long felt that the sustainable supply chain and local procurement 
was an important issue and she asked for reassurance that this was something that would be 
looked at as a matter of urgency.  
 
 Mark Basnett gave a commitment that the Portfolio Board would look at it. However, 
in order to look at this properly additional resources would be required to provide the 
professional support that had been suggested. It also needed absorption within the larger 
organisations to have a willingness to do that. He confirmed that a discussion would take 
place with colleagues within the Combined Authority to try and accelerate that. The message 
had come across loud and clear from a number of Members of the Committee and he would 
take that away and report back.  
 

RESOLVED - That the update be noted.  
 
19 RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE IMPROVING DISABILITY EMPLOYMENT 

OPPORTUNITIES IN THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION TASK AND FINISH GROUP  
 
 Councillor John Abbott presented a report which set out the recommendations of the 
Task and Finish Group on Improving Disability Employment Opportunities across the 
Liverpool City Region. He said that this was an area he had been involved in for over 20 
years and it was very important to him. He thanked all the LCR staff for organising and 
facilitating the meetings and he also thanked the Members of the Committee as it had been 
quite challenging doing hybrid meetings. He stated that he had learnt a lot especially from 
the people who had brought their lived experiences to the meeting and shared them with the 

Page 7



experts. Some of the issues had stopped people from being able to fully access employment. 
He felt that from a City Region and its constituent local authorities perspective civic 
leadership could be shown together with an indication as to what was felt to be right and 
proper.  
 

The key three recommendations focused on the following areas: 
 

 ethical procurement by encouraging companies to share our values around 
inclusion and disabilities; 

 looking at LCR best practice across the board in all of our boroughs; and  

 engaging with employers to move this forward.  
 
There was still prejudice and stereotyping of people with disabilities and assumptions 

were often made which had come through in people’s life experiences. But rather than just 
focusing on the nuance of language and the current working practices the Task Group had 
looked at practical steps to make a difference to people’s real lives.  

 
He felt that the report did reflect the wide ranging discussions that had taken place in 

the Task Group and a fourth recommendation was being put forward. It was proposed that 
LCR should encourage the constituent local authorities to publicise and promote Access to 
Work in their localities. The Access to Work scheme was a scheme through which people 
could access transport and equipment free of charge which would enable them to physically 
get to the workplace or office. However, it was hundreds of millions of pounds under claimed 
across the country and millions of pounds in this City Region. There were people in the 
region who could do the job if they could just get to the workplace. He felt that this work could 
be led by the local councils, through its newsletters and promotions, to publicise this fantastic 
scheme which he was sure would make a difference.  

 
Councillor Trisha Long fully agreed with the comments made by Councillor Abbott 

and she shared his passion in reducing and eliminating inequalities in this area. It was good 
to see such a strong set of recommendations which were just the start of making a real 
difference to people with disabilities. She was mindful of the fact that there was a wide 
diversity under the generic term of disability, and she felt that an effort should be made in 
terms of developing the recommendations to ensure that the term ‘disability’ did not lose or 
hide all the different variations of disabilities in that term e.g. people who were neuro diverse, 
visually impaired or British Sign Language users.  

 
Councillor Long asked if it would be possible for an Officer to look at working that 

point into the recommendations if agreed by Members. Councillor Abbott felt that it was 
important. In Halton 22% of people had a disability and he could see no harm in having a 
definition of disability and what was meant by that in the introduction to the report.  

 
Trudy Bedford advised that in terms of Councillor Abbott’s request around expanding 

the Access to Work Scheme in the second recommendation it talked about the Combined 
Authority being a champion and promoting the DWP Disability Confident Scheme and 
Access to Work scheme and she asked if Members would be happy to broaden that out to 
include the Combined Authority and constituent local authorities. In terms of Councillor 
Long’s point in respect of disability Officers would go through the report to look at the 
language that had been used and to encompass some sort of definition in there. In terms of 
next steps if approved by this Committee the report would go to the Combined Authority and 
if agreed the recommendations would be implemented and come back to this Committee 
with an action plan which would include a timeframe for the implementation of those 
recommendations so that Members could track the recommendations to ensure that they 
were implemented.  

Page 8



 
RESOLVED - That the recommendations set out in the report be approved and that 

recommendation two would be expanded to accommodate the further recommendation 
proposed by Councillor Abbott that LCR should encourage the constituent local authorities to 
publicise and promote Access to Work in their localities.  
 
20 RACE EQUALITY PROGRAMME  
 

Lorna Rogers, Assistant Director – Mayoral Programme Delivery, provided an 
overview of recent progress in relation to the Combined Authority Race Equality Programme 
which had been established in 2020, and an update on progress against targets which had 
been set in the Race Equality Declaration of Intent. 

 
Following the murder of George Floyd the Combined Authority response to this had 

been to establish a programme to support Black Asian and Minority Ethnic employees and 
residents and to tackle systemic injustice and drive some positive change. It had been 
agreed to focus on the economic disparities and employment and exclusion from 
employment and how important that was to people’s life chances. It was felt that this was an 
area where the most impact would be. In March 2021, a Declaration of Intent had been 
agreed which set out a series of targets and was a public facing commitment of what it was 
wanted to achieve in this space. Funding had also been secured from the Combined 
Authority to deliver a number of projects to help achieve those targets. There was a lot of 
evidence, research and data that showed the kinds of lower life satisfaction and outcomes for 
a number of different groups within the Black Asian and Minority Ethnic communities. But 
there was also a lot of evidence and research around to demonstrate that economic benefit 
could be brought to the region if that employment gap could be closed and the fact that 
diverse teams were more profitable.  

 
The slides noted the achievements set out in the Declaration of Intent which it was 

hoped would be achieved by 2025 in terms of the Combined Authority as an employer, a 
commissioner and as a civic leader/facilitator. Procurement featured in this work as well and 
also the wider SMEs as it was known that the local supply chain did need to pause in 
accessing contracts so some of this work would complement the wider work that was needed 
and which had been alluded to in the earlier presentation. There were some real tangible 
targets that had been set that the authority wanted to be held accountable to achieve and 
there was a timetable to do that.  

 
Lorna Rogers highlighted a range of indicators that had been looked at that 

demonstrated across all different stages of a person’s life and was the rationale as to why 
this kind of work was required.  

 
There were six projects that sat across three workstreams. The Generations for 

Change project which consisted of six creative research placements for young people was 
now closed as it had been completed. Updates on the other projects were set out below.  

 
The Race Equality Hub was the largest project that sat within the programme and 

work was being undertaken to co-design what it was thought the hub should deliver to help 
address the economic disparities for Black Asian and Minority Ethnic businesses and 
individuals. It was believed that the hub would deliver a support service around employment 
and business support but also to work with organisations both large and small to help them 
diversify their workforce. The hub had a number of subject matter experts who had supported 
the establishment of a Development Board and they had undertaken a number of co-design 
workshops with individuals and businesses and over 500 people had been engaged in that 
process to help to develop the Business Plan.  There were a number of options that were 
currently being looked at in terms of the best way to take that forward and that would be 

Page 9



shared with the Executive Team next month and then it would come through to the 
Combined Authority later on in the year.  

 
The World Reimagined was a ground-breaking national arts education project aimed 

at using the story of the transatlantic slave trade to promote racial justice and the part our 
region had played in it. The project went live in line with the national programme on 13 
August 2022 and would end on 31 October 2022. There were six other cities nationally that 
were taking part in this. There had been lots of engagement from schools. Over 41 schools 
and community organisations had been engaged in the production of smaller learning globes 
which had been dotted across the region. It was also hoped to have some celebration events 
across October. It was a positive way for the community to engage with a ringfenced subject 
and to get people to learn from it.  

 
The Learning and Development Collaboration Project was something that had been 

initiated very early on and involved working closely with local authorities to develop an anti-
racism training course, to be delivered to 21,000 local authority and Combined Authority 
employees over the next two years. This project should be impactful and different to the 
equality training that had happened in the past and therefore it would need to have lived 
experience and a local voice. The authority was working with a supplier to develop the 
content following which it would be piloted with 1,500 staff prior to rolling it out further. A local 
person was helping to provide the local voice so that it would be meaningful.  

 
The Positive Action Project was the internal work that was being undertaken with HR 

colleagues as to how to drive our representation as an organisation. One of the things that 
had been introduced was that all of the job adverts and opportunities were being advertised 
externally which had seen a bit of an increase in terms of numbers – an increase to 3.4% of 
Combined Authority representation from Black Asian and Minority Ethnic staff. However, 
there was further work to be done and there was an internal project which was looking at 
where jobs were advertised and to encourage people to come and work here and that 
learning could be shared across other organisations as well. In addition, officers were in the 
final stages of finalising the contract with LJMU for delivery of the reverse mentoring 
programme, which would see 20 senior leaders from across the Combined Authority paired 
with Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic residents from across the Liverpool City Region.  

 
The Chair noted that two Members had now left the meeting and therefore it was 

inquorate. However, as this report was only to note it would not need to go to the next 
meeting for ratification.  

 
Councillor Trisha Long thanked Lorna Rogers for the report and she was really 

impressed with the work that had taken place. In the report it stated that there were 41 
schools that had been engaged to date across the City Region with the construction of 
globes and she queried whether it was open for more schools to participate or not. Lorna 
Rogers responded that further schools could take part and there were learning materials 
available free on the national website for all schools to access. It was also hoped to have 
some events in Black History Month in October that schools could participate and engage in.  

 
Councillor Carran Waterfield referred to the World Reimagined project and in 

particular around the procurement of artists and asked what the spread was in terms of all 
the different boroughs involved in that. She asked if the artists had been locally drawn and in 
terms of the national organisation that was being worked with would some of that learning 
cascade into this region so that it could start to grow projects instead of importing things from 
elsewhere as it would be more cost effective.  

 
Lorna Rogers replied that she would be happy to come back on that issue. The 10 

large globes had been commissioned by a national organisation and they had commissioned 

Page 10



two local artists but there were others who were international or from other parts of the 
country. In terms of the learning globes a local commission had been made for that and the 
authority had supported them in making sure that they could access schools and community 
organisations. The authority was very conscious of the legacy and making sure that that 
stayed within the region so she would be happy to feedback on that. Legacy plans were in 
place for when the project finished as the aim was to continue on with the learning and all the 
work that had been done. 

 
 Councillor Waterfield asked how discussions with each of the boroughs and the art 

centres would work. Would it be grown from a local perspective or was it another example of 
something being led from the top down. How were these projects being grown locally within 
the boroughs as well as within the region.  

 
Lorna Rogers responded that for this project a steering group had been set up and 

Cultural Leads from some of the local authorities had sat on that group and very much 
shaped how it would happen and evolve in the region but there had also been a number of 
cultural partnerships and organisations. The Cultural Lead from the Combined Authority had 
taken the lead on that in making sure that it was plugged in to all of the creative and cultural 
organisations and different forums. 

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to paragraph 3.2.3 on page 17 of the report. 

It talked about the course being delivered to 21,000 local authority employees and he 
wondered what the actual cost of that would be given that 21,000 people would be taken out 
of the business.  

 
Lorna Rogers stated that the actual delivery cost had been included in the £3.2m but 

in terms of delivery of the content work was being undertaken with the local authorities as to 
how they would release staff to attend. There needed to be some flexibility to make sure that 
frontline staff were covered and that was currently work in progress to make sure that there 
were no staff shortages. She confirmed that it was a half day training session and work was 
ongoing as to how backfills would be covered off.  

 
Councillor Burgess-Joyce asked if the staff costs would be covered off in any way on 

top of the £3.2m that was being paid for the actual design and delivery. Lorna Rogers 
confirmed that the £3.2m was the total programme budget which included the development 
work as well as the training. If Councillor Burgess-Joyce wanted a further breakdown of that 
project Learning and Development would be able to provide that.  

 
Councillor Mancyia Uddin referred to the Reverse Mentoring project and noted that it 

stated that it would involve senior leaders across the Combined Authority. She asked if that 
would also include staff from across the constituent local authorities in the region.  

 
Lorna Rogers confirmed that the Combined Authority Senior Leadership Team would 

be involved in the project. It was something that the Combined Authority had initiated as an 
organisation but if local authorities wanted to take that forward she would be happy to 
provide the information.  

 
Councillor James Hansen asked if the 41 schools taking part in the World 

Reimagined project had been evenly spread across the region or was it more concentrated in 
certain areas. 

 
Lorna Rogers confirmed that there was a spread across the region so there were 

schools across all the boroughs and city which had benefitted from that project. She would 
be happy to share the specific schools. Councillor Hansen confirmed that he had attended a 
school where 95% of pupils were white Catholic and there had been very little experience of 

Page 11



projects like this. He therefore thought it was important to reach out to those sorts of schools 
where there might only be a handful of BAME students in one year group and a handful of 
BAME teachers. Lorna Rogers agreed that it was important to reach out to those schools.  

 
RESOLVED – That the inquorate meeting: 
 
(i) note the contents of the report and plans for achieving the targets set in the 

Declaration of Intent; and 
 
(ii)  requested that feedback on progress to date and the next steps for the 

Programme be provided to a future meeting. 
 
21 INQUORATE MEETING  
 
 The Chair, Councillor Steve Radford advised that the meeting was inquorate. He 
advised that he was supportive of continuing with the meeting as an informal discussion and 
asked the Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer, Jill Coule to advise on how the meeting would 
proceed.  
 
 Jill Coule explained that any decisions or recommendations made by the meeting 
would be on an advisory basis only and would be re-considered at the next meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in the new Municipal Year.  
 
 Councillor John Abbott expressed his disappointed regarding the level of attendance 
by members and felt that there should be some recourse to challenge non-attendance. He 
praised the work of Democratic Services who did everything possible to ensure that meetings 
would be quorate. 
 
 The Chair, Councillor Radford, concurred with Councillor Abbott’s disappointment and 
asked Jill Coule, Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer to respond. 
 
 Jill Coule advised that this was a problem experienced by all Mayoral Combined 
Authorities due to the high level of quorum. Representations had been made on this issue on 
several occasions, including a recent conversation with Government on the issue.  
 
 The Chair, Councillor Radford expressed his gratitude for the support he had 
received in his role and acknowledged that Officers had made tremendous effort to ensure 
that meetings were quorate. He suggested that members may wish to feedback informally to 
their own Authority on the issue. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce thanked the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram for taking 
the time to attend Committee meetings and he acknowledged the problem with the high level 
of quorum required.  He referred to the selection process for membership of the Committee 
and felt that a formal request should be sent to Local Authorities to nominate members who 
are able to attend and participate in meetings of the Committee.  
 
 The Chair, Councillor Radford requested that Jill Coule write to the six Local Authority 
Chief Executives to reiterate the high level of quorum and ask that discussions take place 
with prospective nominees regarding the importance of attendance at Committee meetings to 
ensure that decision making can take place. 
 
 Councillor Pat Moloney asked if it would be beneficial to supply Local Authorities with 
details of member attendance for this past year for inclusion within the papers for their 
Annual Meetings where representatives are appointed to serve on this Committee. 
 

Page 12



 The Chair, Councillor Radford advised that attendance information was available to 
view publicly on the Combined Authority website. 
 
22 WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
 Councillor James Hansen stated that the discussion in the briefing on the Local 
Transport Plan had been interesting and he felt that it would be useful to set up a Task and 
Finish group to look at the challenges going forward as Members had raised some concerns.  
  
 Trudy Bedford confirmed that she had already been in discussions with the Lead 
Officer as to how the Committee could be engaged with LTP4. It was the intention to bring 
the policy development of the Strategy to the Committee, but she took on board the point 
made and would speak to the Lead Officer about how that could be incorporated into a Task 
and Finish Group.  
 

 
 
Minutes 15 to 22 received as a correct record on the 1 day of December 2022. 
 
 
 
 

…..……………………………………………………. 
Chair of the Committee 

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 3.23 pm 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Thursday, 1st December, 2022 the 
following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor Steve Radford 
Chairperson of the Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillor Pat Moloney, LCR Liberal Democrat Group 
Councillor John Abbott, Halton Council 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce, Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor George Davies, Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Edna Finneran, Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Christine Howard, Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Trisha Long, St Helens Council 
Councillor Brian Spencer, St Helens MBC 
Councillor Carran Waterfield, Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 
 
23 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors R Austin, E Dourley, S Gorst, J 
McManus, B O’Brien, T O’Brien, K Taylor, A Teeling and M Uddin. 
 
24 INQUORATE MEETING  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor S Radford, advised Members that the meeting of the Committee 
was inquorate and he was supportive of continuing with the meeting as an informal 
discussion.   
 
25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were received.  
 
26 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 SEPTEMBER 2022  
 
The inquorate meeting noted the minutes of the previous meeting of the LCR Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee held on 7 September 2022 as a correct record. 

 
27 DEVELOPMENT OF THE NEXT LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN FOR THE 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director for Policy, Strategy and 
Government Relations and the Portfolio Holder for Transport and Air Quality which provided 
an update on the process of developing the new Local Transport Plan (LTP) for the Liverpool 
City Region.  
 
Councillor Liam Robinson, Portfolio Holder – Transport and Air Quality, explained to 
Members that the previous Local Transport Plan (LTP) was created in 2011 and pre-dated 
the existence of the LCR Combined Authority. He explained that creating an LTP was a 
statutory duty placed on local authorities and in this instance the LCR Combined Authority 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3b



was the local transport authority for the City Region. As such it was timely and appropriate to 
develop a new LTP which also reflected Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram’s manifesto 
commitment to deliver a ‘London style-transport system’.  
 
Councillor Robinson emphasised that the forecast for not bringing about changes to transport 
and carbon emissions were stark and as such the LTP would develop a strategy and delivery 
plan which would have to be ambitious.    
 

Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer for Transport Policy, provided an update on the development of 

the vision and goals for the LTP, which through extensive public consultation had achieved 

broad consensus. Members attention was drawn to the four scenarios set out at paragraph 

4.12. The scenarios highlighted how travel and transport may look in the future and how they 

could be tested to understand the transport and carbon implications.  

It was emphasised that without a strong strategy the City Region would fall short of the 2040 

net zero target. As such a bold shift in the transport infrastructure was required. In 

conclusion, the Committee was advised that the Department of Transport (DofT)had yet to 

publish new guidance on LTPs to replace the outdated guidance from 2009.  

Trudy Bedford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, presented a proposal to establish a Task and 

Finish Group to support the development of the LTP and drew Members attention to the draft 

scoping document, which was set out at Appendix One.  

 

Members raised the following questions and comments:  

 

 Highlighted that the north of Liverpool suffered significant match day traffic congestion 

and suggested that the Bootle branch railway line should be introduce to alleviate the 

congestion and improve the transport infrastructure for the area.  

 

Members were advised that feasibility work was being undertaken to explore the 

options available to the North of Liverpool. However, the Bootle Branch line was used 

for freight which presented challenges when also looking to use it for passengers too.  

 

 Reflected on the introduction of cycle lanes, which in some areas had been 

dysfunctional and with limited consultation. It was suggested that future consultation 

processes should be proactive and reach all areas of the community.  

 

Councillor Robinson informed Members that as part of the recovery from the pandemic, 

Government had provided funding to install pop up cycle lanes. It was reported that 

Liverpool City Council was currently undertaking consultation to determine whether the 

pop up cycle lanes should be made permanent and recognised that more could be 

done to undertake extensive consultation.  

 

 Members expressed concerns regarding the transport infrastructure and how it limited 

people’s ability to access employment and learning across the City Region.  

 

Councillor Robinson explained that there were a number of improvements to transport 

infrastructure which would shortly becoming on stream which were the new trains, 

improvements to disabled access at train stations, the introduction of hydrogen buses 

on the No.10 route.  

 

 Recognising the impact diesel HGV’s had on the environment, clarity was sought on 
what engagement had been undertaken with the Road Haulage Association.  

Page 16



 
Members were advised that the ‘State of Freight’ had been commissioned which had 
provided the data in respect of the Liverpool City Region. This information had focused 
on the Port of Liverpool and would be used to build data to understand the movement 
of HGV’s across the City Region.  

  

 Councillor Pat Maloney recognised the complex process of developing the LTP and 
welcomed the progress made to improve the cycling infrastructure across the City 
Region.   

 

 Councillor Burgess-Joyce welcomed the exciting work which had been undertaken to 
date. However, he stressed the importance of not excluding people in the drive towards 
cashless payment systems. He also suggested that encouragement should be given to 
employers to consider basing themselves in areas which have good transport access.  

 
The inquorate meeting noted:  
 
(i) the process in shaping the development of a new Local Transport Plan for the 

Liverpool City Region, starting with the “Vision and Goals” document;  
 

(ii) the key messages emerging together with the broad support that was emerging in light 
of consultation and engagement on the “Vision and Goals” document;  

 
(iii) that an Integrated Assemsnet of the Plan had been commissioned looking at the plan’s 

likely impact on the environment, habitats, equality and diveristy and social value and 
how these could be mitigated against;  

 
(iv) there was a delay to the publication of new, draft guidance on Local Transport Plans by 

the department for Transport and that this introduced a degree of risk;  
 

(v) the establishment of an LTP4 Task and Finish Group; 
 

(vi) Councillors S Radford, P Maloney, D Burgess-Joyce, T Long, E Finneran, G Davies, C 
Waterfield and C Howard be nominated to the LTP4 Task and Finish Group; and  

 
(vii) the Scrutiny Officer in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair finalise the scope for 

the Task and Finish Group. 
 
28 WORKPROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer which provided an 
update on the progress of the Committee’s work programme.  
 
Members were advised that the report and recommendations of the Apprenticeship Task and 
Finish had been presented to the meeting of the LCR Combined Authority on 14 October 
2022 by Councillor Radford. The LCR Combined Authority had welcomed the report and 
agreed the recommendations and in doing so, had also agreed an Action Plan which set out 
a timeframe for the implementation of the recommendations. The Committee would receive 
timely updates on the implementation of the recommendations.  
 
The inquorate meeting noted:  
 
(i) The Work Programme as set out at Appendix One;  

 

Page 17



(ii) The Action Plan for the Apprenticeship Task and Finish Group as set out at Appendix 
Two; and  
 

(iii) Authorised the Scrutiny Officer, in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair, to 
progress activity in relation to the Committee’s Work Programme.  

 
 

The meeting closed at 3.32 pm 
 
Minutes 23 to 28 be received as a correct record on the 18th day of January 2023. 
 

 
 

Chairperson of the Committee  
 
 
 

 

Page 18



 
Report Title 

 
Combined Authority Budget 2023/24  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 

Summary of report   
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 
 

Yes   

Is the report urgent 
 

No 
 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

(All Local Authorities); 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

Yes 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √ 

A Stronger City Region  √ 

A Cleaner City Region  √ 

A Connected City Region  √ 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√ 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation Yes 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Assistant Director Finance  
 

Appendices Yes –  
 

Background Documents No 
 

 
  

Page 20



Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 

Friday, 20 January 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director - Corporate Services and the Portfolio Holder for 
Policy, Reform and Resources 

 
COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET 2023/24  

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report seeks approval for the Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority 

budget for 2023/24. In establishing its budget, the Combined Authority needs to make 
a series of key decisions regarding its income and how it uses this income. 

 
1.2 The Combined Authorities (Finance) Order 2017 established financial arrangements 

in respect of Mayoral Combined Authorities that need to be reflected in the 2023/24 
budget. These include the requirement to specifically determine the costs of the 
Combined Authority Mayor.  

 

1.3 The Order also requires the Combined Authority Mayor to notify the Combined 
Authority of the Metro Mayor’s draft budget before 1st February 2023, which was 
complied with in the issuing of this report and provides a statutory timescale for the 
Combined Authority to consider and, where appropriate, to recommend amendments 
to the Metro Mayor before 8th February 2023. 

 
This provision only applies to the Mayoral Cost element of the Combined Authority’s 
budget for 2023/24, and specifically those areas where the Mayoral Combined 
Authority is funded through the Mayoral precept. 

 
1.4 The Combined Authority must also set a budget for its other costs in 2023/24. This 

includes transport activity funded through the Transport Levy mechanism and the 
operation and maintenance of the Mersey Tunnels estate. 

 
1.5 Members will be aware that the Combined Authority has a statutory duty to agree a 

Transport Levy for 2023/24 before 14th February 2023.  
 
1.6 The Combined Authority must also set the schedule of tolls applicable to the Mersey 

Tunnel for 2023/24. For 2023/24 tolls setting was subject to approval by the 
Combined Authority at its meeting on 16 December 2022. Their approved 
recommendations are incorporated into the Combined Authority budget for 2023/24. 

 
1.7 In funding its transport activities, the Combined Authority also needs to establish a 

differential levy in respect of the Combined Authority’s transport powers in Halton. It 
is important to note, however that there are no changes to the delivery of transport 
services in Halton implied within this report. 

 
1.8 The purpose of this report is to bring together these key decisions and present detail 

of the budget requirement for the Authority for 2023/24, together with the operational 

Page 21



grants that will be payable to Merseytravel and Halton for the delivery of the 
Combined Authority’s transport activities throughout the City Region. 
 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority is recommended to: - 

 
(a) note this report. 
(b) agree the Mayoral Budget as presented at Table 2 of this report. 
(c) agree to freeze the Mayoral precept for 2023/24 at its 2022/23 level equivalent to 

£19 per year for a Band D property and £12.67 per year for a Band A property. 
(d) approve the composite Combined Authority budget for 2023/24 as presented at 

Table 3. 
(e) approve a 2.95% increase in the Transport Levy for 2023/24 from £99.352m to 

£102.283m. 
(f) approve the payment of an operational grant of £87.523m to Merseytravel to cover 

its operational costs and the revenue project costs associated with the Rolling 
Stock project as detailed at paragraph 5.1.2. 

(g) approve the request for an operational grant of £23.413m in respect of the 
operation of Mersey Tunnels for 2023/24 as detailed at paragraph 5.1.2. 

(h) approve a temporary variance to the key decision threshold as detailed at 5.1.4. 
(i) approve the capital programme as detailed in Table 6 and Appendix Three. 
(j) approve a grant of £101.855m to Merseytravel to support the delivery of capital 

schemes. 
(k) recognise the differential levy payable by Halton as £3.3m.  
(l) agree a corresponding grant from the Combined Authority to Halton of £3.3m in 

order that Halton can continue to provide transport services in Halton on behalf of 
the Combined Authority in 2023/24. 

(m)approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 incorporating the Minimum 
Revenue Provision and associated Treasury Limits and Prudential Indicators as 
detailed at Appendix Four; and 

(n)  approve the Capital Strategy as detailed at Appendix Five. 
 

  

Page 22



3. BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 The Mayoral budget reflects the priorities of the City Region Metro Mayor and 

Combined Authority and is focussed on securing the City Region’s economic recovery 
by prioritising investment in infrastructure, skills and environment. 

 
3.2 These priorities are contained within the Combined Authority’s Corporate Plan and 

are: 
 

 A fairer City Region 

 A stronger City Region 

 A cleaner City Region 

 A connected City Region 

 A vibrant City Region 
 
3.3 The Combined Authority, like many public bodies, operates in a challenging financial 

environment. Transport revenues continue to be impacted by changing patterns of 
travel arising from Covid. At the same time, significantly higher inflation has an impact 
on costs. 

 
3.4 The Combined Authority has been at the forefront of responding to the challenges of 

the Covid pandemic while at the same time building the foundations for the City 
Regions future economic recovery and prosperity. The Metro Mayor is determined 
that the Combined Authority should play a central role in supporting the City Region’s 
future economic recovery. Ensuring that it is a green recovery, and this budget 
supports the City Region’s net zero carbon ambitions.  

 
3.3 The Combined Authority’s financial strategy is to ensure that over the medium term it 

is able to achieve financial sustainability with value for money at the heart of all its 
activities. The budget setting process has sought to ensure that there is an alignment 
of resources with the key priorities as detailed in the Authority’s Corporate Plan whilst 
maintaining a strong focus on developing a sustainable and balanced budget.  

 
3.4 The budget as set for 2023/24 covers the operational costs associated with the group 

position: that is the costs associated with the operation of a Mayoral Combined 
Authority and those that relate to powers and responsibilities held by the Combined 
Authority prior to the establishment of the City Region Mayoral powers. These 
principally relate to transport powers. This budget considers the Transport Levy 
payable by each of the constituent local authorities within the city region and the 
schedule of tolls in respect of the Mersey Tunnels for 2023/24. 

 
3.5 The Combined Authority has delegated detailed financial monitoring for transport 

activities to the Transport Committee. However, it is important for the Combined 
Authority to oversee all aspects of the budget and therefore for full visibility the 
transport budgets are also detailed as part of this report. The Transport Committee 
considered the proposed budget for Merseytravel at its meeting on 18h January 2023 
and a verbal update on the outcome of these discussions will be provided. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



4. PROPOSED MAYORAL BUDGET 2023/24 
 
4.1  The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority has been established in law 

as a major precepting authority in order that the costs associated with exercising its 
functions can be funded in an appropriate manner. 

 
4.2 Having due regard to the principles of value for money the Metro Mayor has sought 

to minimise the costs associated with these functions and has established a structure 
that includes only those functions directly associated with delivering the maximum 
benefit for the City Region. 

 
4.3 The Metro Mayor has sought to provide resources to further priorities in digital 

connectivity, tidal energy, bus reform and other areas associated with the devolution 
agreement which will be of significant and long-term benefit to the City Region. 

 
4.4 The Metro Mayor recognises the financial challenges facing households across the 

City Region as a result of the cost of living crisis and does not want to add to this 
burden unnecessarily. 

 
4.5 To help address these pressures it is proposed to freeze the precept for 2023/24 at 

the levels approved in 2022/23. This means that the precept for a Band D property 
in 2023/24 will remain at the level of £19.00 and £12.67 for Band A. 

 
4.6 The table below confirms the precept that will be payable for each band of property 

across the City Region.  
 

Table 1 Mayoral Precept by Council Tax Band 2023/24 
 

Band Charge £ 

Band A 12.67 

Band B  14.78 

Band C  16.89 

Band D  19.00 

Band E  23.22 

Band F  27.44 

Band G 31.67 

Band H  38.00 

 
4.7 Additional responsibilities and commitments arising from the devolution deal continue 

to increase and wherever possible, the Metro Mayor is using other sources of funding 
to shield households from corresponding increases in taxation. 

 

4.8 The Combined Authority (Finance) Order 2017 requires the Metro Mayor to 
specifically identify the budget for costs directly related to the exercise of Mayoral 
function in 2023/24.  These are presented in Table 2 below. 

 
4.9 It should be noted that Table 2 includes only those costs associated with the Mayoral 

budget for 2023/24 and is provided for the purposes of transparency. In reality, these 
costs form only a proportion of overall Combined Authority expenditure which is 
shown in its general budget in Table 3. 

Page 24



 

Table 2 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Mayoral Budget 2023/24 
 

 Proposed 
Budget  
£’000 

Bus Reform 3,800 

Tidal Power 2,335 

Other Mayoral Priorities 150 

Digital 290 

Mayoral Programme Delivery 750 

Mayoral and Corporate Management Costs 629 

Investment and Delivery 413 

Policy Strategy and Government Relations 907 

Corporate Services 502 

Corporate Development and Delivery 200 

Total Expenditure 9,976 

Funded by:  

Mayoral Precept (7,976) 

Application of Reserves (2,000) 

Net Budget Requirement 0 

 
4.10 In setting the budget for 2023/24, consideration has been given to the revised 

2022/23 spend profile for the Tidal and Bus Reform projects. At the Combined 
Authority meeting on 16 December 2022, amended budgets were approved for both 
projects with the associated funding flowing back into reserves to support project 
spend in 2023/24. This has been duly reflected in the budget for 2023/24 and in the 
table above. 
 
 

5. LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY REVENUE BUDGET 2023/24 
 
5.1 Overview 
 
5.1.1 The table below provides a comprehensive group revenue budget for 2023/24 which 

includes all the functions of the Combined Authority and including those associated 
with the exercise of Mayoral powers. The table details spend by directorate. Appendix 
One provides a more detailed breakdown of the budget by service areas.  

  

Page 25



Table 3 Combined Authority Revenue Budget 2023/24  
 

 Proposed 
Budget  
£’000 

Place Directorate 61,542 

Concessionary Travel 46,384 

Investment and Delivery Directorate 50,454 

Policy, Strategy and Government Relations Directorate 6,829 

Corporate Services Directorate 5,934 

Corporate Development and Delivery Directorate 11,090 

Corporate Management 397 

Mayoral Priority Budget 150 

Corporate Costs and Contingencies 9,518 

Halton Differential Levy 3,300 

Revenue Grants 19,318 

Net Debt Servicing Costs 16,270 

Total Expenditure 231,186 

Funded by:  

Transport Levy (102,283) 

Tunnel Tolls (43,471) 

Halton Differential Levy (3,300) 

Mayoral Precept (7,976) 

Gain Share Revenue (13,492) 

Other Revenue Grants (12,338) 

UK Share Prosperity Fund (incl. Multiply) (13,694) 

Housing First Workforce Reform (2,913) 

Adult Education Budget (19,909) 

EU Revenue Grants (4,420) 

CRSTS Pre Development Funding (3,118) 

Use of Reserves (4,272) 

Total Income (231,186) 

Net Budget Requirement 0 

 
5.1.2 The table above details the overall revenue budget at a group level, which includes 

the Merseytravel budgets. The budget for Merseytravel service, which has been 
considered at the Transport Committee on 18 January 2023, includes the Mersey 
Tunnels, a share of corporate support services, funding for general transport services 
and Rolling Stock. As a separate statutory body funded by the Combined Authority, 
funding needs to flow from the Combined Authority to Merseytravel to fund its activity. 
It is recommended that the following revenue grants are paid to Merseytravel:   

 

 £87.523m to support general transport services, including a proportion of 
corporate support services and to cover Rolling Stock net costs; and 

 £23.413m to cover Mersey Tunnels operations and their share of corporate 
support service costs. 

 
 
5.1.3 As part of the budget setting process, all directorates were requested to identify 

savings and efficiencies to ensure that a balanced budget could be set. In balancing 
the budget, savings and efficiencies totalling £5.62m have been taken from service 

Page 26



budgets, however if the proposals can be successfully implemented during the year, 
these will allow more significant benefits to be unlocked over the medium term.  

 
5.1.4 Under the current constitution, all expenditure over £150k is required to be 

approved by the Combined Authority. Whilst this level was felt appropriate for the 
early years of the organisation, it is recognised that due to the increasing complexity 
of the Combined Authority’s business and the scale of its financial transactions, this 
has led to a significant increase in the volume of approvals required by the 
Combined Authority or delegations sought. To address this, it is proposed that there 
is a temporary variation to the £150k threshold stated in the constitution up to £250k 
pending consultation on a more permanent amendment early in the new municipal 
year. 

 
5. 2 External Grant Funded Revenue Programme 2023/24 
 
5.2.1 In addition to the main revenue budget, the Combined Authority is supporting an 

extensive programme of investment across the City Region through its various 
external grants, which includes the Strategic Investment Fund. As detailed above at 
table 3, the value of these projected payments for 2023/24 is £19.318m. 

 
5.2.2 This investment brings together funding from a number of sources to allow a more 

strategic and coherent approach to investment in economic growth. While the majority 
of funding is earmarked for capital schemes, a proportion is available to fund revenue 
priorities. 

 
5.2.3 Revenue funding is used to support delivery of specific projects and facilitate 

development of schemes bringing them to a “shovel ready” state. Schemes are 
delivered internally and through external delivery partners. The table below provides 
a breakdown of the schemes currently being delivered. A detailed breakdown of 
schemes and future year spend is included at Appendix Two. 

 
Table 4 External Grant Funded Revenue Schemes  

 

 Projected 
Spend 

2023/24 
£’000 

Business Ecosystems & Innovation 9,516 

Housing 115 

Low Carbon 213 

People 2,249 

Place 7,225 

Total Projected Expenditure 19,318 

 
 
5.3 TRANSPORT  
 
5.3.1 The Combined Authority is the transport authority for the Liverpool City Region. Its 

transport responsibilities are discharged by Merseytravel and by Halton Council 
within the boundaries of Halton. 

 

Page 27



5.3.2 Transport responsibilities are funded through the Transport Levy. Over the last ten 
years, the Transport Levy has reduced significantly which has benefited those local 
authorities that fund the levy through Council Tax. 

 
5.3.3 In 2022/23 the Levy was increased by 2% in response to emerging inflationary 

pressures following a period of levy reductions and freezes. Since the budget was set 
for 2022/23, inflationary pressures have escalated significantly. Whilst the impact of 
this has been felt in all areas of the Combined Authority’s business to some extent, 
the impact has been most pronounced in respect of transport services. Higher energy 
costs, pay and general inflation have translated through into higher contract prices 
for supported bus and increased costs of services which has started to place upward 
pressure on capital budgets.  

 
5.3.4 General inflation passing 10%, puts significant strain on the transport levy, however 

it is equally true that an inflation linked increase to the Levy would be unaffordable at 
current rates of price escalation. For this reason, it is proposed to limit the increase 
in the Levy to 2.95%. This will see the Levy increase from £99.352m to £102.283m.  

 
5.3.5 Should this proposal be agreed, the distribution of the Levy will be as detailed in the 

table below. 
 

Table 5 Transport Levy by Authority 
  

 Transport Levy 
2022/23 
£’000 

Transport Levy 
2023/24 
£’000 

Knowsley 
Liverpool 
Sefton 
St Helens 
Wirral 
 
Total 

10,563 
34,669 
19,111 
12,545 
22,464 

 
99,352 

11,138 
34,821 
20,102 
13,180 
23,042 

 
102,283 

 
 Note: Halton Council equivalent transport differential levy is £3.24m for 2022/23 
 
5.3.5 The Transport Levy is utilised to support the operational transport related activities of 

the Combined Authority and to support the delivery of ambitious transport priorities 
as detailed within the Corporate Plan.  As the transport delivery arm of the Combined 
Authority, grants will be paid by the Combined Authority to Merseytravel to support 
the delivery of these priorities. 

 
5.3.6 As referenced above, increases in contract costs will continue to be a significant risk 

to transport budget in 2023/24 and potentially beyond. The Combined Authority will 
require these to be managed within the resources available for transport in 2023/24. 
In balancing the budget for transport for 2023/24 efficiency savings of £4.35m have 
been taken from transport budgets, meaning that the ability to absorb further cost 
increases will be challenging. To assist with this, an inflationary provision has been 
created within the budget and retained centrally as a means of mitigating the risk.  

 
5.3.7 Looking further ahead, managing cost pressures over the medium term within an 

affordable budget envelope will require service modernisation and streamlining of 

Page 28



processes across the transport division over the next five years. Throughout the year, 
quarterly budget monitoring report will be brought to the Combined Authority which 
will provide an update on the delivery of savings.  

 
5.3.8 Arrangements for Halton will continue to recognise the historical differences in 

transport funding and delivery, with Halton subject to a differential transport levy of 
£3.3m which will be paid back to Halton for transport delivery within its boundaries on 
behalf of the Combined Authority. 

 
 
5.4 FEES AND CHARGES 
 
5.4.1 A vital part of the Combined Authority’s budget strategy is the setting of key transport 

fees and charges. The raising of income through charges, including tunnel tolls is 
fundamental to assisting in the balancing of the budget both in year and over the 
longer term. At its meeting on 16th December 2022, the Combined Authority 
considered a fees and charges report which approved the following changes to 
charges: 

 

 Amendments to the schedules of discounts on Tunnel Tolls. 

 Amendments to ancillary income from tolls. 

 An increase in tunnels tours pricing from £8 to £10. 

 An increase in supported bus fare from £2.00 to £2.20 (although the cost to the 
public will remain £2). 

 A 6% increase in bus layover and departure charged: and 

 Increases to Mersey Ferries leisure services charges. 
 
5.4.2 These measures will generate additional income in the region of £3.6m which has 

been incorporated into the budget proposed above. 
 
 
5.5 ADULT EDUCATION 
 
5.5.1 The expenditure and associated grant in respect of Adult Education is contained 

within the Investment and Delivery Directorate line of the budget tables above. As the 
service is funded in its entirety through the grant, the net impact on the net spend is 
nil. As funding in respect of Adult Education Budget (AEB) is received in relation to 
academic years, the funding for the financial year comprises funding in respect of the 
remainder of the fourth years devolved funding and the start of the fifth year which 
commences August 2023. Contracts are in place with providers until July 2023 with 
funding allocation for the period from August 2023 yet to be confirmed. This will be 
subject to a separate report to the Combined Authority in due course. 

 
5.5.2 The annual funding allocation for AEB is announced in January for the academic year 

commencing August 2023 and therefore at the time of writing this report the actual 
settlement is unknown. The Combined Authority’s share of the national pot remains 
fixed at 3.99% and therefore for the purpose of setting a budget, the 2022/23 
allocation is being used for planning purposes. Any variations will increase or 
decrease the amount available for dispersal and will not impact on the Combined 
Authority’s overall financial position. The Department for Education announced on 
the 12th December 2022 the intention to devolve from August 2023 the previously 
top-sliced element of national AEB set aside for delivery of Traineeships (circa 

Page 29



£8.55m nationally). This relates to provision for 19-24 year olds and although awaiting 
further information on allocation, should the 3.99% be applied, this will likely result in 
additional funding of around £340k for 2023/24 academic year. 

 
5.5.3 Of the total AEB allocation, 2% of the grant value will be top sliced to cover 

management and administration costs with the remainder available for delivery. In 
line with previous years and subject to affordability, around £2.5m will be retained as 
a contingency to respond to in year demands, the remainder will be disbursed as 
grant funded allocations and contracted services on an approximate 2:1 ratio. 

 
5.5.4 The priority areas for AEB in 2023/24 will be: 
 

 Holding strategic discussions ahead of year 5 allocations with the Colleges and 
Local Authorities to ensure levels and splits of funding are meeting the needs of 
areas including curriculum planning. 

 Ensuring provision continues to meet the priority sectors of the Liverpool City 
Region, including taking account of the development and reporting from the Local 
Skills Improvement Plans currently being developed locally. 

 Supporting providers ahead of Ofsted inspections, including the Enhanced 
Inspection Framework being used for colleges regarding meeting local skills needs 
and involving employers in curriculum design. 

 Continuing to develop support for the provider base in the recruitment and retention 
of FE tutors, including the Pathways to Train initiative developed locally with the 
local authorities, and exploring a similar model for the college sector. 

 Continuing to fund the required statutory entitlements for learning. 

 Supporting the local flexibilities introduced as a result of devolution including the 
extension of the low wage pilot and fully funding all Level 2s. 

 Continuing to explore new and innovative ways of delivering learning through the 
Test and Learn model.  

 To consider the delivery of the traineeships element of funding being introduced as 
part of devolved AEB from August 2023, and 

 To continue to engage with and respond to consultation and discussion with the 
DfE on FE reform and skills and accountability impacts, and the proposed 
introduction of the Skills Fund (replacement for AEB) in 2024/25. 

 
5.5.5 The Combined Authority will continue to deliver the delegated National Skills Fund 

Level 3 Adult Offer as part of the Government’s ‘Plan for Jobs’ for 2023/24. The 
allocation for this also uses the 3.99% measure and is currently at £4.4m for the 
current academic year. The allocation for 2023/24 is expected to be announced 
alongside mainstream AEB in January 2023. This is contracted to providers alongside 
the existing devolved AEB. Also delivered as part of the skills programmes within the 
Combined Authority, ‘Multiply’ is the national numeracy programme funded as part of 
a top-slice of the UKSPF aimed at adults aged 19+ without a level 2 maths 
qualification. Following submission to the DfE of a three 3 year investment plan in 
July 2022, funding was awarded of £2.5m for the financial year 2022/23. A more 
detailed investment plan for year two funding of circa £2.9m is currently being 
prepared and subject to approval from DfE for 2023/24.  

 
 
6. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 

Page 30



6.1 The Combined Authority has an ambitious plan of capital investment aimed at 
supporting the key priorities outlined in the Corporate Plan. 

 
6.2 The table below details the proposed capital programme and funding for 2023/24, 

incorporating the transport schemes that will be delivered by Merseytravel on behalf 
of the Combined Authority. A detailed breakdown of the capital programme is 
included at Appendix Three. 

 

Table 6 Proposed Group Capital Programme by Delivery Areas 2023/24- 2026/27 
 

 2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

2026/27 
£’000 

Business Ecosystems & Innovation 10,295 6,903 4,674 - 

Housing 23,232 14,000 - - 

People 828 11 - - 

Place 19,201 14,321 - - 

Transport 243,692 253,507 215,652 105,472 

Corporate Buildings and IT 1,045 440 615 290 

Total Capital Expenditure 298,293 289,182 220,941 105,762 

Funded by:     

Government Grant 259,829 278,762 212,826 97,972 

Borrowing 28,319 2,480 - - 

Reserves 2,645 440 615 290 

Revenue Contribution to Capital 
Outlay 

7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 

Total Funding 298,293 289,182 220,941 105,762 

Net Capital Requirement 0 0 0 0 

 
6.4 The internally delivered transport schemes as detailed in Appendix Three are those 

that will be delivered by Merseytravel on behalf of the Combined Authority. As 
Merseytravel receives most of its capital funding through the Combined Authority, it 
is proposed that a capital grant of £101.855m is paid to Merseytravel to provide 
funding toward the programme.  

 
6.5 The Combined Authority has an ambitious pipeline line of capital projects, not all of 

which have an immediate route through to funding; either due to the stage to which 
the project is developed or due to uncertainty around grant timescales. Whilst funding 
has been made available to support development activity, the progression of 
schemes outside the main capital programme will be subject to further refinement 
and reported back to the Combined Authority in March. 

 
6.7 The Treasury Management Strategy appended to this report at Appendix Four 

reflects this overall borrowing requirement. 
 
 
7.0 FINANCIAL RISKS AND RESERVES 
 
7.1 The table below details the reserves position for Combined Authority taking account 

of the projected use of reserves in 2022/23 and 2023/24 to support both revenue 
and capital activity. 

 

Page 31



Table 7 Projected Reserves Position 
 

 Balance as at 
1 April 2023 

£’000 

Utilisation in 
Year 
£’000 

Balance at 31 
March 2024 

£’000 

Group Capital Receipts 
Group General Fund Balances 
Infrastructure Reserve 
Tunnels Reserve 
Rail Reserve 
Chrysalis Reserve 
Merseytravel Reserves 
Other Reserves 

11,342 
11,665 
56,799 

5,411 
38,405 
34,972 
54,988 
15,240 

0 
(722) 

(1,920) 
0 

(3,000) 
0 

(965) 
(310) 

11,342 
10,943 
54,879 

5,411 
35,405 
34,972 
54,023 
14,930 

Total 228,822 (6,917) 221,905 

 
7.2 The nature of the external funding received by the Combined Authority means that 

the reserve position is typically high. It should be noted that the majority of these 
reserves, are earmarked for specific purposes and cannot be used to support 
general expenditure. Significant sums are set aside in the Infrastructure and Capital 
Receipts Reserves specifically to support the Combined Authority’s investment 
plans. 

 
7.3 In accordance with the Authority’s strategy of achieving an ongoing financially 

sustainable position, the revenue and capital budgets have been set on the basis of 
reserves only being applied where there is a clear link through to supporting 
expenditure for which specific funds have been set aside. Consequently, the 
application of reserves to support the budget has been done in a targeted manner, 
deliberately minimising use.  

 
7.4 Public transport continues to recover from the extreme challenges of recent years; 

however, a number of risks remain, most notably around patronage and cost 
pressures. The uncertainty around the recovery in income, allied to inflationary 
pressures means that there is a risk that if the assumptions used for setting key 
transport budgets are not achieved, there could be unmet financial pressures. 
Specific reserves have been set aside on the Merseytravel balance sheet for this 
purpose which could be applied to mitigate any financial pressures in the short term 
while the organisation introduces longer term efficiency measures to balance its 
budget over the next five years. 

 
7.5. Risks arise from the introduction of the new fleet of rolling stock. The delivery of the 

Rolling Stock project has been negatively impacted by Covid 19 both in terms of 
delivery costs and ongoing revenue levels. The original business case for new 
trains was predicated on increased patronage, higher income and reduction to the 
operating cost base. Assumptions that have been revised in light of events.  

 
7.6 Whilst the Authority has set a balanced budget for 2023/24, the position over the 

medium term remains challenging. Assuming ongoing savings of £3.6m from 
2023/24, there remains an underlying deficit to be addressed over the period to 
2027/28. Projected net budget requirements are detailed in the table below. 

 
Table 8 Combined Authority Group Medium Term Financial Projections 
 

Page 32



 2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

2026/27 
£’000 

2027/28 
£’000 

Gross Expenditure 160,864 175,784 179,399 183,399 187,949 

Gross Income (160,864) (160,864) (160,864) (160,864) (160,864) 

Net Budget Requirement 0 14,920 18,535 22,535 27,085 

 
7.7 The above deficit projections are predicated on no further increases to tolls or levy. 

In practice it is likely that further increases could be achieved and there is optimism 
that as part of an overall budget strategy that will see further savings flowing from 
efficiencies and business modernisation, it is anticipated that further increases to 
tolls and levy would be approved that would further reduce the net budget 
requirement identified above. 

 
7.8 To achieve the Authority’s objective of financial sustainability over the medium term, 

the Combined Authority will commit to a long term financial strategy that balances the 
revenue budget over the period. 

 
7.9 As part of the budget setting process for 2023/24, significant efficiencies have been 

taken and an ambitious programme of business transformation and consequent 
savings has been identified. This is a priority for delivery in 2023/34. 

 
 
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Human Resources 
  

None as a direct result of this report. 
 
8.2 Physical Assets  

 
This report will provide resources to Merseytravel to undertake its asset management 
function in respect of the Mersey Tunnels and other Combined Authority assets. 
 
 

8.3 Information Technology  
 
None as a direct result of this report. 
 

 
9. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 Both risks and mitigations are contained within the body of the report. 
 
 
10. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Members are reminded that under Public Sector Equality Duty, the Combined 

Authority has a duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not. Whilst the level of detail contained within this budget does not lend itself 
to a full appraisal of the operational implications with respect to equality and diversity, 

Page 33



it is possible that there could be resultant implications for people who share a 
protected characteristic, for example older disabled people.  

 
Full equality impact assessments will be undertaken as part of the transformation and 
savings programme and any negative implications for any of the protected 
characteristics will be mitigated, where possible, subject to available resources. 

 
 

11. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

None as a direct result of this report. 
 
 
12. CONCLUSION 
 
12.1 The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority is recommending a series of 

measures within its overall budget for 2023/24. These measures each recognise the 
need to deliver the functions of the Mayoral Combined Authority while seeking to 
protect households in the City Region from additional financial burdens wherever 
possible. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director Corporate Services  

 
Contact Officers: - 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance (0151 330 1015) 
Ben O’Brien, Head of Communications, Engagement and Marketing (07966 674 053) 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix One Detailed Directorate Revenue Budget 2023/24 
Appendix Two Revenue Grant Spend 2023/24 
Appendix Three Detailed Capital Programme 2023/24 
Appendix Four LCRCA Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 
Appendix Five LCRCA Capital Strategy 
 
 

Page 34



APPENDIX ONE

Corporate Development & Delivery

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Communications, Engagement & Marketing
Total Savings (13)
Total Employees 1,260
Total Transport 1
Total Supplies & Services 469
Total Communications, Engagement & Marketing 1,716

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Corporate Development
Total Savings (150)
Total Employees 1,468
Total Supplies & Services 381
Total Corporate Development 1,699

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Executive Director Corporate Development
Total Employees 170
Total Transport 1
Total Supplies & Services 2
Total Executive Director Corporate Development 173

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Page 35



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Chief Execs Office
Total Employees 236
Total Transport 1
Total Supplies & Services 3
Total Chief Execs Office 240

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

HR
Total Employees 1,242
Total Transport 3
Total Supplies & Services 17
Total HR 1,262

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

IT
Total Savings (55)
Total Employees 2,731
Total Transport 7
Total Supplies & Services 2,982
Total Income (137)
Total IT 5,527

Page 36



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Metro Mayors Office
Total Employees 447
Total Transport 12
Total Supplies & Services 15
Total Metro Mayors Office 473

Concessionary Travel

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Concessionary Travel
Total Savings (1,000)
Total Third Party Payments 47,384
Total Concessionary Travel 46,384

Corporate Costs

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Corporate Costs
Total Savings (310)
Total Employees 550
Total Supplies & Services 944
Total Other Costs 10
Total Income (319)
Total Corporate Costs 875

Page 37



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Corporate Management

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Mayoral Allowance
Total Employees 106
Total Mayoral Allowance 106

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Chief Executive
Total Savings (7)
Total Employees 283
Total Transport 8
Total Supplies & Services 7
Total Chief Executive 291

Corporate Services

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Internal Audit
Total Employees 629
Total Premises 38
Total Transport 49
Total Supplies & Services 121
Total Internal Audit 837

Page 38



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Executive Director Corporate Services
Total Employees 184
Total Transport 4
Total Supplies & Services 4
Total Executive Director Corporate Services 192

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Finance
Total Savings (10)
Total Employees 1,874
Total Transport 1
Total Supplies & Services 331
Total Income (78)
Total Finance 2,118

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Freeport
Total Employees 374
Total Transport 23
Total Supplies & Services 220
Total Income 0
Total Freeport 618

Page 39



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Legal, Procurement & Democratic Services
Total Savings (243)
Total Employees 2,180
Total Transport 3
Total Supplies & Services 279
Total Income (50)
Total Legal, Procurement & Democratic Services 2,168

Investment & Delivery

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Head of Development
Total Employees 1,856
Total Transport 1
Total Supplies & Services 70
Total Other Costs 3,118
Total Income 0
Total Head of Development 5,045

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Executive Director Investment & Delivery
Total Employees 154
Total Executive Director Investment & Delivery 154

Page 40



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Investment
Total Savings (275)
Total Employees 1,186
Total Transport 5
Total Supplies & Services 462
Total Income 0
Total Investment 1,378

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Programme Delivery
Total Employees 1,895
Total Transport 2
Total Supplies & Services 163
Total Income (556)
Total Programme Delivery 1,505

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Head of Programs
Total Employees 6,768
Total Supplies & Services 24,833
Total Third Party Payments 10,772
Total Income (0)
Total Head of Programs 42,373

Page 41



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Mayoral Priorities

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Mayoral Priorities
Total Supplies & Services 150
Total Mayoral Priorities 150

Place

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Asset Management
Total Savings (300)
Total Employees 7,877
Total Premises 208
Total Transport 166
Total Supplies & Services 69
Total Income (260)
Total Asset Management 7,761

Page 42



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Bus
Total Savings (1,290)
Total Employees 3,350
Total Premises 120
Total Transport 76
Total Supplies & Services 5,233
Total Third Party Payments 19,288
Total Income (5,373)
Total Bus 21,402

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Customer Delivery
Total Employees 1,908
Total Premises 17
Total Transport 1
Total Supplies & Services 475
Total Income (475)
Total Customer Delivery 1,926

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Executive Director Place
Total Employees 215
Total Transport 6
Total Supplies & Services 114
Total Executive Director Place 335

Page 43



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Ferries
Total Savings (220)
Total Employees 2,504
Total Premises 1,237
Total Transport 13
Total Vessels 731
Total Supplies & Services 308
Total Income (3,549)
Total Ferries 1,024

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Hubs
Total Savings (93)
Total Employees 2,182
Total Premises 1,865
Total Transport 6
Total Supplies & Services 128
Total Income (1,856)
Total Hubs 2,233

Page 44



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Mann Island
Total Employees 196
Total Premises 4,761
Total Supplies & Services 138
Total Income (1,943)
Total Mann Island 3,151

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Policy
Total Employees 593
Total Transport 1
Total Supplies & Services 5
Total Third Party Payments 0
Total Income (37)
Total Policy 562

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Rail
Total Savings (800)
Total Employees 1,086
Total Premises 255
Total Transport 3
Total Supplies & Services 815
Total Third Party Payments 123,079
Total Income (115,575)
Total Rail 8,861

Page 45



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Rolling Stock
Total Employees 649
Total Transport 5
Total Supplies & Services 1,215
Total Third Party Payments 11,884
Total Income (19,064)
Total Rolling Stock (5,312)

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Tidal
Total Employees 553
Total Premises 2
Total Transport 0
Total Supplies & Services 1,781
Total Tidal 2,335

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Tunnels
Total Savings (650)
Total Employees 6,077
Total Premises 2,260
Total Transport 107
Total Supplies & Services 1,049
Total Other Costs 8,448
Total Income (29)
Total Tunnels 17,263

Page 46



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Policy, Strategy & Government Relations

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Executive Director Policy
Total Employees 180
Total Executive Director Policy 180

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Evidence, Intelligence & Research
Total Savings (200)
Total Employees 1,610
Total Transport 0
Total Supplies & Services 923
Total Third Party Payments 20
Total Income (28)
Total Evidence, Intelligence & Research 2,324

Page 47



APPENDIX ONE

DIRECTORATE COSTS

LCRCA REVENUE BUDGETS 2023/24 BY SERVICE AREA

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Government Relations & Public Affairs
Total Employees 422
Total Transport 7
Total Supplies & Services 162
Total Income (0)
Total Government Relations & Public Affairs 590

Proposed Budget 
2023/24 (£'000)

Policy Co-ordination
Total Employees 2,191
Total Transport 5
Total Supplies & Services 1,544
Total Income (7)
Total Policy Co-ordination 3,733

Page 48



Appendix Two

Scheme
Budget 
2023/24
(£'000)

Budget 
2024/25
(£'000)

Budget 
2025/26 

Onwards
(£'000)

Housing Delivery Board
Birkenhead Land Assembly (Housing pre-dev) 70 0 0
Housing Delivery Board Gainshare Pipeline 45 264 0

Total Housing Delivery Board 115 264 0
Low Carbon Delivery Board
North West Energy Hub 213 0 0

Total Low Carbon Delivery Board 213 0 0
People Delivery Board
Agent Academy 30 13 0
Careers & Enteprise (Sep-21-Aug 22) 219 0 0
People Delivery Board Pipeline 2,000 2,000 1,500

Total People Delivery Board 2,249 2,013 1,500
Business Ecosystem Delivery Board
Createch Scale Up 291 0 0
Kindred Revenue 125 125 0
LCRCA Tech Accelerator - Baltic Ventures 1,000 861 1,704
Liverpool City Region Ventures 2,503 1,659 425
Lyva Labs (LV Phase 2) 646 734 1,521
Peepl Network - Peloton 58 0 0
Port City Liverpool (Innovation Hub) 184 0 0
Hemisphere (Phase 2) 0 0
ERDF Business Support 294 0 0
ERDF High Growth 763 0 0
New Markets 2 79 0 0
Place Marketing 631 0 0
Positive inclusion Programme 23 0 0
Ways to Work 2,522 0 0
SUD 108 0 0
Business Ecosystem Gainshare Pipeline 289 1,220 620

Total Business Ecosystem Delivery Board 9,516 4,599 4,270
Place Delivery Board
Civic Data Trust 1,681 1,368 296
Destination Marketing 500 500 0
Growing Businesses (SIFVE) 508 0 0
Music Fund 1,386 0 0
Town Centres Wirral - New Ferry 62 0 0
Bootle AAP 61 0 0
National Packaging Innovation  Centre (2nd application) 27 0 0
Place Delivery Board Gainshare Pipeline Forecasting 3,000 2,420 637

Total Place Delivery Board 7,225 4,288 933

Total EXTERNAL REVENUE GRANTS 19,318 11,164 6,703

LCRCA REVENUE GRANTS 2023/24 TO 2027/28 BY DELIVERY BOARD

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Three

Scheme
Budget 2023/24

(£'000)

Budget 
2024/2025

(£'000)

Budget 
2025/2026

(£'000)

Budget 
2026/2027

(£'000)

Transport Delivery Board (External Delivery)

Highways Maintenance 38,884 56,447 56,775 22,270

LCWIP phase 2 (Runcorn - Daresbury) 2,309 0 0 0

Parkside Road 23,800 0 0 0

South Whiston - Halsnead Garden Village 1,911 0 0 0
Transport Delivery Board Pipeline Forecast 67,433 91,192 30,805 10,138
TOTAL Transport Delivery Board (External Delivery) 134,337 147,639 87,580 32,408

Housing Delivery Board (External Delivery)

Lightbody Street, Liverpool - Torus 249 0 0 0

Housing Delivery Board Pipeline Forecast 22,983 14,000 0 0

TOTAL Housing Delivery Board (External Delivery) 23,232 14,000 0 0

People Delivery Board (External Delivery)
Agent Academy 28 11 0 0
People Delivery Board Pipeline 800 0 0 0
TOTAL People Delivery Board (External Delivery) 828 11 0 0

Business Ecosystem Delivery Board
Kindred Capital 970 1,903 0 0
ERDF High Growth 900 0 0 0
SUD 3,425 0 0 0
Business Ecosystem Delivery Board Pipeline 5,000 5,000 4,674 0
TOTAL Business Ecosystem Delivery Board (External Delivery) 10,295 6,903 4,674 0

Place Delivery Board (External Delivery)
Kirkby Town Centre (Phase 2) 1,400 0 0 0
Project Trinity Grant (Everton Football Club) 3,482 4,885 0 0
Place Delivery Board Pipeline Forecast 14,319 9,436 0 0
TOTAL Place Delivery Board (External Delivery) 19,201 14,321 0 0

TOTAL EXTERNAL DELIVERY 187,893 182,874 92,254 32,408

Bus (Internal Delivery)
Contract Management System 0 300 0 0
Transport Information 100 0 0 0
Replacement of RTI System 80 0 0 0
Small bus facility 0 0 0 100
Lower Lane/Fazakerley Bus turning circle 0 0 100 0
Earlestown bus station 0 100 0 0
Southport Hospital stops 55 0 0 0
Infrastructure - Banks Road bus turnaround and car parking 30 0 0 0
Green Bus Routes 9,000 22,200 44,300 35,200
Bus/Rail Interchanges - City Line 164 300 0 0
Bus Stop Accessibility Improvements 500 500 500 500
General Bus Stops 40 40 40 40
Bus Shelter Replacement Programme 150 150 150 150
Total 10,119 23,590 45,090 35,990
Rail (Internal Delivery)

Access for All 3,750 0 0 0

IPEMU Extension 2,000 2,000 40,000 27,000

LSP Renewals (CRSTS) 230 0 0 0

Sandhills GRIP 6-8 delivery 1,500 1,500 0 0

Headbolt Lane extension 19,000 0 0 0
To be allocated 1,000 0 0 0
Baltic Station Gateway (GRIP 4) formerly St James 2,000 38,000 32,000 0
Total 29,480 41,500 72,000 27,000
Rolling Stock (Internal Delivery)
Permanent Troughing 7,820 0 0 0
TCIS 959 0 0 0
Train Lengthening 9,873 0 0 0
MSA 9,667 2,480 0 0
Total 28,319 2,480 0 0
Tunnels (Internal Delivery)
Reinstating the Liverpool Obelisk 0 2,000 0 0
Improved Customer Information KW Approach 2,000 0 0 0
KW Tunnel Elevated Control Building and Toll Plaza Redesign 5,000 15,000 0 0
QW Main Tunnel Lighting Replacement 6,000 1,500 0 0
KW Safety Enhancements 51 81 0 0
KW Wallasey Embankment Stabilisation 41 0 0 0
SALIX Programme Management 150 150 0 0
Programme Management 75 75 0 0
Reinstating the Liverpool Obelisk 150 105 0 0
Improved Customer Information KW Approach 130 0 0 0
QW Main Tunnel Lighting Replacement 190 120 0 0
Reduction to programme to align with funding -609 -819 -375
CCC System display upgrade 50 0 0 0
QW – Upgrade and Install of  Pollution Sensors 200 0 0 0
QW Implement full closed loop control on tunnel vent system 30 30 0 0
Upgrade and Install of No2 Pollution Sensors 0 150 0 0
 Gas Monitoring 60 0 0 0
KW – Implement full closed loop control on tunnel vent system 30 0 0 0
ESN Upgrade 0 100 0 0
DAS Implementation 0 50 50 50
UPS replacement 0 50 50 50
LV Switchgear Replacement Woodside 1,000 0 0 0
LV cable replacement Queensway 0 0 50 0
LV cable replacement Kingsway 0 0 50 0
Generator and fuel tank replacement 0 0 0 0
QW jet fans delivery 100 0 0 0
QW  Review Tunnels Discharge Consents for Quality and Volume 0 10 10 10
QW  Review Historical Water Seepage into the Loop Heading 0 0 0 0
QW Pump Infrastructure 0 250 250 500
QW Renew Fixed Firefighting Systems 0 0 0 300
QW Ventilation review 60 0 0 0

DETAILED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023/24 TO 2026/27

Page 51



Appendix Three

Scheme
Budget 2023/24

(£'000)

Budget 
2024/2025

(£'000)

Budget 
2025/2026

(£'000)

Budget 
2026/2027

(£'000)

DETAILED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023/24 TO 2026/27

QW Inspection of Morpeth Dock Discharge Pipework 75 0 0 0
QW  Implement improvement options for smoke control in deficient zones 5, 8 & 10 0 50 0 0
QW  Balancing air flows re-organising & replacing baffle plates 0 0 0 300
Principal M&E inspection KW&QW 150 150 150 300
KW & QW  Lift Renewals 0 50 0 150
QW Vent Damper Inspection 10 0 0 10
KW/QW Fan Drive Gearboxes Refresh 75 75 75 75
KW  Wallasey Sump Upgrade to Mitigate Impact of Climate Change 0 30 0 0
KW  Review Tunnels Discharge Consents for Quality and Volume 10 0 0 10
KW  Replacing Exhaust Fan Blades 0 75 0 75
KW  Gully Cleaning/Renewals/CCTV Inspections 50 50 50 50
Investigate/Address historic Water Ingress Wallasey Portal 50 50 0 0
GDB boiler replacement 0 350 0 0
QW  Upgrade access doors 0 75 0 0
KW door replacement 100 100 100 0
AM external door replacement 100 200 0 0
SCADA replacement 0 200 500 500
QW SCADA Enhancement 80 200 0 0
Solar Panel Infrastructure 0 300 0 0
KW Wall Cladding 200 500 1,250 2,000
QW Cladding 0 100 0 100
Queensway loop heading water ingress 50 50 50 50
Principal KW&QW structures inspection (in-bore) 100 100 100 100
Principal bridge/gantries/retaining walls inspection KW&QW 50 50 50 50
KW lining painting / fire resillience 0 500 500 500
KW entrances & gantry painting 0 150 0 0
Kingsway Renew waterprooof membrane above tunnel roof 0 0 500 1,000
Tunnels portals and outbuilding refurbishment / cleaning 75 75 75 75
Queensway Junction Chamber rooms refurbishment 0 75 75 0
Queensway flat roof repair 0 450 450 0
QW fire supression replacement 80 0 0 0
Tunnels – HVAC Replacements/Upgrades 0 0 150 0
Maintenance System Upgrade 30 30 0 0
KW safety enhancements 500 500 500 0
Environmental Monitoring 20 20 20 20
KW Embankments 500 500 0 0
Vent Building Remedials 100 100 100 100
In-Tunnel communications 50 50 0 0
Ventilation Control Hardware 200 200 200 200
AM Vehicles 100 100 100 100
KW Concrete Repairs 50 250 250 0
KW Entrance Repairs 50 500 500 0
KW JET FANS 50 500 500 500
QW Tunnel road deck repairs 500 500 500 500
Vent Station Interior Refurbishment Programme (KW Fan Grill Repair)                                       282 0 0 0
Police Vehicles 200 200 200 200
KW – Discharge Pipework 2,387 0 0 0
Total 20,982 26,307 7,405 7,500
Hubs (Internal Delivery)
All Hubs heating plant New Eco Heating systems 30 0 0 0
Flat Roof Replacement 100 0 0 0
Birkenhead Bus Station - Reconfigure Stands 1-4 300 0 0 0
Total 430 0 0 0
Ferries (Internal Delivery)
Offices inverter heatpumps 0 0 45 0
Lighting conversion to LED in Pier Head Terminal 0 0 20 0
Refresh Seacombe Customer Toilets 0 0 0 40
Ferry terminals decarbonisation 0 90 0 0
Woodside ferry terminal timber repairs and painting 375 0 0 0
Woodside Development LUF 6,000 2,900 0 0
Vessels upgrade Refurbishment 550 550 550 0
Project Support New Vessel 500 500 100 0
New Vessel 12,000 7,000 0 0
To be allocated 600 0 0 0
Total 20,025 11,040 715 40

Internal Transport Highways Maintenance to be allocated across services 0 951 2,862 2,534
IT (Internal Delivery)
Remote Access 0 0 75 0
Wireless 0 0 50 0
Server related PS 50 20 20 20
Corporate Mobiles 90 90 90 90
Laptops 150 150 150 150
Corporate/VRF Firewalls 75 0 10 0
Core and DC Switches 0 0 140 0
Cisco UCS 180 0 0 0
PCI & Cyber Assurance 30 30 30 30
Cloud Onboarding/DC Decommissioning/VDI R'ment 150 150 50 0
Total 725 440 615 290
Corporate Buildings (Internal Delivery) 320 0 0 0
TOTAL INTERNAL DELIVERY 110,400 106,308 128,687 73,354

TOTAL EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL DELIVERY 298,293 289,182 220,941 105,762

Page 52



 APPENDIX FOUR 
 
COMBINED AUTHORITY TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY 2023/24 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
CIPFA published the revised Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code on 
20th December 2021 and has stated that revisions need to be included in the 
reporting framework from the 2023/24 financial year. The Combined Authority, 
therefore, has to have regard to these Codes of Practice when it prepares the 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy, and also 
related reports during the financial year, which are taken to the Combined Authority 
for approval. 
 

 
1. BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 The Combined Authority is required to operate a balanced budget which broadly 

means that expenditure incurred during the year will be met through cash raised 
during the year.  Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that cash 
flow is adequately planned, with cash available when it is needed. Surplus monies 
are invested in counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Authority’s low 
risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment 
return.  

 
1.2 The second main function of the Combined Authority’s treasury management 

activities is the funding of its capital plans.  The capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Combined Authority, essentially the longer-term cash flow 
planning to ensure that the Combined Authority can meet its capital spend 
obligations.  The management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or 
short term loans or using longer term cash flow surpluses.  On occasions, when it is 
prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet cost 
or risk objectives. 

 
1.3 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Combined Authority 

is critical as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the 
ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day to day revenue 
or for larger capital projects. The treasury operations will see a balance of the interest 
cost of debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits affecting the 
available budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves and balances, 
it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested as a loss of principal 
will in effect result in a loss to General Fund Balance. 

 
1.4 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 

function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activity, arising usually 
from capital expenditure, and are separate from the day-to-day treasury management 
activities. 

 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

Page 53



 
“The management of the Combined Authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.” 
 
  
 

Reporting Requirements 
 
1.5 The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes detail the reporting 

requirements for the Combined Authority. From a treasury perspective, the Combined 
Authority is required to receive and approve as a minimum, three main reports each 
year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. These can be 
summarised as: 

 

 An annual treasury management strategy and prudential and treasury indicators 
-  the capital plans, (including prudential indicators). 
- a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital expenditure 

is charged to revenue over time) 
- the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and borrowings are 

to be organised), including treasury indicators; and 
- an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be 

managed).  

 A mid-year treasury management report providing an update on progress of the 
capital position and amending treasury and prudential indicators if required; and 

 An outturn treasury report detailing the outturn position and comparing 
performance against estimates included within the strategy. 

 
1.6 From 2023/24, in accordance with the code, in order to improve transparency and 

scrutiny, there is a requirement to report quarterly which will be incorporated into the 
Authority’s reporting arrangements. 

  

 
1.7 In addition to the treasury reporting requirements, the CIPFA 2021 Prudential and 

Treasury Management Codes require all Authorities to prepare a capital strategy 
report which will cover the following: 

 

 a high-level, long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 

treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services; 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 

 the implications for future financial sustainability. 

The aim of the capital strategy is to ensure that all Members of the Combined 
Authority fully understand the overall long term policy objectives and resulting capital 
strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. 

 
1.8 The capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management 

Statement, with non-treasury investments being reported through the former. The 
rationale for the separate reporting is to ensure there is a separation of the core 
treasury function with the focus on security, liquidity and yield principles and the non-

Page 54



treasury investments which are driven by expenditure on an investment with the 
intended purpose of generating a return. The capital strategy will show: 

 

 The corporate governance arrangements in place for non-treasury investments. 

 Any service objectives relating to these type of activities. 

 The expected income, costs and resulting contributions. 

 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs. 

 The payback period (MRP Policy). 

 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; and 

 The risks associated with each activity. 

Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 
 
1.9 The Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 covers two main areas: 
  

 Capital issues 

- the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

- the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

 Treasury management issues 

- the current treasury position; 

- treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Combined 

Authority; 

- prospects for interest rates; 

- the borrowing strategy; 

- policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

- debt rescheduling; 

- the investment strategy; 

- creditworthiness policy; and 

- the policy on use of external service providers. 

 
These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and DLUHC Investment Guidance. 

 
1.10 Training 
 

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the responsible officer to ensure 
that members with responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training 
in treasury management.  This especially applies to members responsible for 
scrutiny.   

 
Furthermore, pages 47 and 48 of the Code state that they expect “all organisations 
to have a formal and comprehensive knowledge and skills or training policy for the 
effective acquisition and retention of treasury management knowledge and skills for 
those responsible for management, delivery, governance and decision making. 

 

Page 55



The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexity of the 
organisation’s treasury management needs.  Organisations should consider how to 
assess whether treasury management staff and board/ council members have the 
required knowledge and skills to undertake their roles and whether they have been 
able to maintain those skills and keep them up to date.  

 
As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review 
knowledge and skills:  

 
• Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor attendance is 

identified.  
• Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and board/ 

members.  
• Require treasury management officers and board/members to undertake self-

assessment against the required competencies (as set out in the schedule that may 
be adopted by the organisation).  

• Have regular communication with officers and board/members, encouraging them to 
highlight training needs on an ongoing basis.” 

 
In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better Governance 
Forum and Treasury Management Network have produced a ‘self-assessment by 
members responsible for the scrutiny of treasury management’, which is available 
from the CIPFA website to download. 

 
The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.  

 
A formal record of the treasury management/capital finance training received by 
training received by officers central to the Treasury function and others, will be 
maintained within Finance.   
 

1.11 The Combined Authority uses Link Group, Treasury solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors.  The Combined Authority recognises that responsibility for 
treasury management decisions remains with the organisation and seeks to ensure 
that undue reliance is not placed upon external service providers. All decisions will 
be undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, our 
treasury advisors. The Combined Authority recognises that there is value in 
employing external providers of treasury management services in order to acquire 
access to specialist skills and resources. The Combined Authority will ensure that the 
terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are 
properly agreed, documented and subjected to regular review. 

 
 
2. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2023/24-2025/26 
 
 The Combined Authority’s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of its treasury 

management activity and the output of these plans are reflected in the Prudential 
Indicators. The prudential indicators are designed to assist members’ overview and 
confirm capital expenditure plans. 

 
2.1 Capital Expenditure and Financing 
 

Page 56



2.1.1 This prudential indicator is a summary of the Authority’s capital expenditure plans, 
both those agreed previously and those forming part of the budget cycle.  Members 
are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

 

 
 
 

(1) A breakdown of the Merseytravel and Combined Authority capital spend is shown in the main body of the budget 

report 

The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these 
plans are being finaned by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources 
results in a funding borrowing need. 

 

 
 
 
2.1.2 To the extent that the overall quantum of the programme detailed above increases 

and cannot be funded through other grants or reserves, this would result in an 
increase to the overall requirement to borrow.  

 
2.1.3 In line with the Combined Authority’s SIF strategy, funding can be provided to 

sponsors in a variety of formats: be that grant, loan or equity. To date, the Combined 
Authority has approved 7 separate repayable instruments on a mixture of commercial 
and sub commercial rates. Each project has been subject to a detailed viability 
assessment and modelling.  Current proposals for non financial investments are such 
that for the period through to 2023, all activity will be funded by the Combined 
Authority’s devolution funding and borrowing.  There is therefore a risk that the 
Combined Authority will not recover the full value of its investment which would 
reduce the value of recyclable funds available for reinvestment. In accordance with 
accounting standards these loans will be subject to an expected credit loss 
assessment, and to the extent that there is an impairment, this will be reported and 
accounted for accordingly. 

 
 
2.2 The Combined Authority’s Borrowing Need (Capital Financing Requirement) 
 
2.2.1 The second prudential indicator is the Authority’s Capital Financing Requirement 

(CFR). The CFR represents the historic outstanding capital expenditure that has not 
yet been paid for either through revenue or capital resources and therefore a measure 
of the Authority’s indebtedness and underlying need to borrow.   

2.2.2 To the extent that the Combined Authority undertakes capital expenditure for which 
there are no immediately available capital or revenue resources, this will increase the 
CFR. The CFR does not, however, increase indefinitely as the MRP is a statutory 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Estimated 

Outturn
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Combined Authority Group Capital Spend 416,311 298,293 289,182 220,941 105,762

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Estimated 

Outturn
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Capital grants 331,313 260,149 278,762 112,826 22,972

Capital Reserves 8,448 2,325 440 615 290

Revenue 8,677 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500

Net financing need for the year 67,873 28,319 2,480 100,000 75,000

Financing of capital expenditure (£m)

Page 57



annual charge which broadly reduces indebtedness in line with each assets life, and 
so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used. 

 
2.2.3 The Combined Authority is asked to approve the CFR projections below. 
 

 
 
 
2.3  Liability Benchmark 

 
2.3.1 A third and new prudential indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark (LB).  The  

Authority is required to estimate and measure the LB for the forthcoming financial 
year and the following two financial years as a minimum.   
 
There are four components to the LB: 
 

1. Existing loan debt outstanding: the Authority’s existing loans that are still 

outstanding in future years. 

2. Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition in the 

Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved prudential 

borrowing and planned MRP. 

3. Net loans requirement: this will show the Authority’s gross loan debt less treasury 

management investments at the last financial year end, projected into the future and 

based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned MRP and any other major cash 

flow forecast. 

4. Liability Benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans 

requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance. 

 
 

 
2.4 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 
 
2.4.1 Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 

(England) Regulations 2003, where the Authority has financed capital expenditure by 
borrowing it is required to make a provision each year through a revenue charge 
(MRP).  

 
2.4.2 The Authority is required to calculate a prudent provision of MRP which ensures that 

the outstanding debt liability is repaid over a period that is reasonably commensurate 
with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits.  The MRP Guidance 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Estimated 

Outturn
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Opening CFR 526,201 591,000 608,856 600,697 689,880

Net financing need for the year (above) 67,873 28,319 2,480 100,000 75,000

Less MRP and other financing movements -3,074 -10,463 -10,639 -10,817 -10,999

Movement in CFR 64,799 17,856 -8,159 89,183 64,001

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Estimated 

Outturn
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Existing Loan Debt Outstanding 323,612 307,873 292,566 277,259 261,956

Loans CFR 526,201 544,057 535,898 625,081 689,082

Net Loans Requirement 35,165 53,021 44,862 134,045 198,046

Liability Benchmark (or gross loans requirement) 70,165 88,021 79,862 169,045 233,046

Liability Benchmark

Page 58



(2018) gives four ready- made options for calculating MRP, but the Authority can use 
any other reasonable basis that it can justify as prudent. 

 
2.4.3 The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) regulations 

require the Authority to approve an MRP statement in advance of each financial year.  
 
2.4.4 The regulations allow for an Authority to review and revise its MRP statement at any 

stage, providing that the overriding requirement that the resulting approach is 
prudent. Based on the regulations, the Authority revised the MRP Policy in 2021/22.  
No changes are proposed to the approach approved in 2021/22, therefore the 
Authority is recommended to approve the following MRP statement for application in 
2023/24:- 
 

 For historic capital expenditure (i.e. that incurred before 2008), MRP is calculated on 
the Asset Life Method (Option 3).  MRP will be based on the estimated life of the 
assets, in accordance with the regulations. It is proposed to apply a period of 50 years 
as the period which is proxy for the underlying asset’s life. It is felt appropriate to use 
the maximum life period as consequence of the fact that 55% of the Authority’s asset 
base (excluding assets under construction) are infrastructure assets with a maximum 
asset life of 72 years and 20% of the asset base relates to lease and free hold property 
which has a maximum asset life of 52 years.  
 

 For new (unsupported borrowing, the Authority intends to take a more nuanced, 

principle based approach to the calculation of MRP.  The approach to the calculation 

will be guided by whether the borrowing relation is related to the creation or 

enhancement of an asset or whether the borrowing is to support the provision of a 

loan or other form of investment within another organisation. 

 
Where the borrowing underpins the acquisition and enhancement of assets funded 
through borrowing is that an Asset Life Method is used to calculate MRP (Option 3 
under the MHCLG guidance). Under the guidance there are two approaches that can 
be applied for calculating MRP under the Asset Life Method: Equal Instalments or the 
Annuity Method. The Authority will make the decision as to the specific approach to 
be adopted on a case by case basis determining what is most appropriate and 
prudent based on the underlying asset. 
 
For capital expenditure that is classified as such under Regulation 25(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003, the rebuttable presumption will be that a revenue provision 
will be made and that MRP will be calculated in accordance with Option 3 (Asset Life 
Method) applying the maximum life value detailed in the statutory guidance. 
 
This presumption will be challenged on a case by case basis and to the extent that 
the Authority is seeking to make a loan to a third party, the approach to making a 
prudent provision will be made giving due consideration to a variety of factors 
including the following: 
 

 Whether the loan is being made on commercial or sub commercial rates; 

 The duration of the loan; 

 The financial standing of the borrower; 

 The degree of perceived risk to the underlying capital sums invested; 

 The strength or existence of covenants that underpin any loans; and 

 The structure of the loan and subsequent repayments. 

 Where loans are made to support policy objectives or there is a degree of risk that 
the capital will not be repaid either in full or in part, then a revenue provision will be 
made using Option 3 as detailed above. 

Page 59



 
Where loans are made where there is a higher degree of confidence in repayment 
and the regular repayment over the life of the agreement, then the Authority will 
seek to set aside capital receipts arising from the repayment of the loan to reduce 
the CFR as opposed to making an annual provision for MRP.  
 
Where loans are made where there is a high degree of confidence in repayment 
but where repayment is irregular or is on expiration of the loan, then the Authority 
will make a revenue provision in accordance with Option 3 using an asset life as 
determined through this method. To the extent that the loan is repaid over a 
shorter timescale, capital receipts from repayment would be used to write down 
any remaining CFR liability relating to the loan. 

 
 
 
2.5 Borrowing  
 
2.5.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2.1 provide details of the service 

activity of the Combined Authority.  The treasury management function ensures that 
the Combined Authority’s cash is organised in accordance with professional codes, 
so that sufficient cash is available to meet the service activity and its capital strategy. 
This will involve organising cash flows and appropriate borrowing facilities as 
necessary. 

 
 Current Portfolio Position 

 
 The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 2022 and for the estimated 

position as at 31 March 2023 are shown below for both borrowing and investments. 
 

 
 

 
2.5.2 The table below provides an analysis of the Combined Authority’s outstanding debt 

as at 31 March 2023. 

actual actual current current Estimate Estimate

31.3.22 31.3.22 30.11.22 30.11.22 31.03.23 31.03.23

£000 %  £000 %  £000 %  

Treasury Investments

Banks 95,199 33% 75,504 22% 90,000 49%

Local Authorities 43,017 15% 25,500 7% 30,000 16%

Certificates of Deposit 150,231 52% 220,846 64% 49,815 27%

Treasury Bills 0 0% 23,104 7% 13,104 7%

Total treasury investments 288,447 100% 344,954 100% 182,919 100%

Treasury External Borrowing

PWLB 140,033 43% 136,354 43% 132,759 43%

European Investment Bank 174,426 54% 171,311 54% 168,197 55%

Transferred Debt 9,153 3% 8,009 3% 6,864 2%

Total External Borrowing 323,612 100% 315,674 100% 307,820 100%

Net Treasury Investments / 

(Borrowing)
(35,165) 29,280 (124,901)

TREASURY PORTFOLIO

Page 60



  

Outstanding Debt as at 31 March 
2023 

Principal 
Average 

Rate 

£m % 

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) EIP 
Loans 

36.074 6.15 

PWLB Annuity Loans 43.374 8.26 

PWLB Maturity Loans 53.311 4.49 

European Investment Bank 168.197 1.52 

Transferred Debt 6.864 5.26 

Total 307.820   

 

 

2.5.3 The Combined Authority’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised overleaf 
showing actual external debt against the underlying capital borrowing need (the CFR) 
highlighting any under or over borrowing. 

 
 
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.4 Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to 

ensure that the Authority operates its activities within well defined limits. One of these 

External Debt 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate  

2024/25 
Estimate  

2025/26 
Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

External and Transferred 
Debt 1 April 

323.61  307.82  292.40  276.90  

Forecast Change in Debt (15.79) (15.42) (15.50) (17.05) 

Gross Debt 31 March 307.82  292.40  276.90  261.33  

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

(591.00) (608.86) (600.70) (689.88) 

(Under)/Over 
Borrowing  

(283.18) (316.46) (323.80) (428.55) 

 

Page 61



is that the Authority needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2023/24 and the following two financial years. This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years but ensures that borrowing is not 
undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes. 

 
2.5.5 The Executive Director of Corporate Services reports that the Authority complied with 

this prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the 
future. This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals contained within the budget report. 

 
 Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 
2.5.6 The Operational Boundary is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 

expected to exceed. Ordinarily this would be a figure commensurate with the CFR 
however this may be lower or higher depending on the Authority’s levels of actual 
debt and its ability to fund under borrowing by other cash resources. The table below 
summarises estimated operational boundary for the current and subsequent three 
years.    

 

  
 
 
2.5.7 The Authorised Limit for external debt.  This is a key prudential indicator and 

represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents the legal 
limit beyond which external debt is prohibited. The limit for this key prudential 
indicator is set by the Authority and therefore any changes to this limit must be agreed 
by the Authority also. The Authorised Limit reflects the level of external debt which, 
whilst not desirable or sustainable over the longer term, could be afforded in the short 
term.  

 
1.  This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 

2003.  The Government retains an option to control either the total of all Authorities plans, 

or those of a specific Authority, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

2. The Authority is asked to approve the following Authorised Limit below: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

Debt 506,062 542,288 547,483 718,336

Other Long Term Liabilities 5,700 5,400 5,100 4,800

Total 511,762 547,688 552,583 723,136

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

Debt 591,000 637,175 644,514 846,715

Other Long Term Liabilities 5,700 5,400 5,100 4,800

Total 596,700 642,575 649,614 851,515

Page 62



Prospects for Interest Rates 
 
2.5.8 The Combined Authority has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisors 

and part of their service is to assist the Combined Authority to formulate a view on 
interest rates. The table below provides an overview of Link Group’s view of interest 
rates. Link provided the following forecasts on 19th December 2022.  These are 
forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80 bps. 

 

 
 

 
2.5.9 The above forecast table reflects a view that the MPC would be keen to further 

demonstrate its anti-inflation credentials by delivering a succession of rate increases.  
Bank Rate stands at 3.5% currently but, as shown in the forecast, is expected to 
reach a peak of 4.5% by July 2023. 

 
2.5.10 Further down the road, it is anticipated the Bank of England will be keen to loosen 

monetary policy when the worst of the inflationary pressures are behind us – but that 
timing will be one of fine judgment: cut too soon, and inflationary pressures may well 
build up further; cut too late and any downturn or recession may be prolonged. 

 
2.5.11 In the upcoming months, forecasts will be guided not only by economic data releases 

and clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and the Government over 
its fiscal policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia and Ukraine.  (More 
recently, the heightened tensions between China/Taiwan/US also have the potential 
to have a wider and negative economic impact.) 

 
2.5.12 On the positive side, consumers are still estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of 

excess savings left over from the pandemic so that will cushion some of the impact 
of the above challenges.   However, most of those are held by more affluent people 
whereas lower income families already spend nearly all their income on essentials 
such as food, energy and rent/mortgage payments.  

 
2.5.13 For the PWLB the yield curve movements have become less volatile of late and 

PWLB 5 to 50 years Certainty Rates are, generally, in the range of 4.10% to 4.80%.   
Link view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects on gilt yields of 
the likely increases in Bank Rate and the elevated inflation outlook.  

 
 Borrowing Strategy 
 
2.5.14 The Authority is currently maintaining an under borrowed position, which means that 

the CFR, the underlying need to borrow, has not been fully funded by loan debt as 
cash supporting the Authority’s balances and reserves have been used as a 
temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent as medium and longer dated borrowing 

Page 63



rates are expected to fall from their current levels once prevailing inflation concerns 
are addressed by tighter near-term monetary policy. Given the quantum of the capital 
programme in relation to rolling stock, there is likely to be an absolute need to borrow 
additional funds at some point.   With the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2023/24 treasury operations.  The Executive Director of 
Corporate Services will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a 
pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

 
 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in borrowing rates, then 

borrowing will be postponed 

 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in borrowing rates 

than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding  

 
2.5.15 Whilst investment returns remain subdued and a relative dearth of high quality 

counterparties remains an issue, the strategy of utilising cash balances is considered 
prudent. Against this background, the Director of Corporate Services will monitor 
interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing 
circumstances and satisfying the need to borrow, seeking to identify the options that 
are available and provide value for money for the Combined Authority.  

 
 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates, (e.g. 

due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or risks of deflation), 

the borrowing will be postponed. 

 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in borrowing rates 

than that currently forecast, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised.  Most 

likely, fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are 

projected to be in the next few years. 

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next 
available opportunity. 

 
 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 
 
2.5.16 The Authority will not borrow more than or in advance of need purely to profit from 

the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will 
be forward approved within the Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be 
considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and security of 
funds evidenced. Risks associated with borrowing in advance of need will be subject 
to prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism. 

 
 Debt Rescheduling 
 
2.5.17 Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as there is 

still a large difference between premature redemption rates and new borrowing rates.  
If rescheduling is to be undertaken, it will be reported to the Authority, at the earliest 
meeting following its action. 

 
2.6 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and types of borrowing 
 

Page 64



2.6.1 The main source of borrowing for the Authority is PWLB which currently has its 
Certainty Rates set at guilts + 80 basis points. However, consideration will also be 
given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates from the following: 

 
 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities) 

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also 

some banks) 

2.7 Approved Sources of Long and Short term Borrowing 
 
2.7.1 Whilst in practice the Combined Authority will tend to draw its substantive borrowing 

requirement through the PWLB, it also has access to a number of other sources of 
fixed and variable funding as detailed below. 

 
 On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable 
 

PWLB   

Municipal bond agency    

Local authorities   

Banks   

Pension funds   

Insurance companies   

 

Market (long-term)   

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Stock issues   

 

Local temporary   

              Local Bonds   

Local authority bills                                                                      

Overdraft   

Negotiable Bonds   

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

              Commercial Paper                                                             

              Medium Term Notes                                                          

Finance leases   

 
 
2.8 Annual Investment Strategy 
 
2.8.1 In conducting its investment activity, the Combined Authority will have regard to the 

DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments and the 2021 revised CIPFA 
Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes (the CIPFA TM Code). The Combined Authority’s overriding 
investment priorities are the security of capital and liquidity of investments. 

 
2.8.2 Whilst DLUHC and CIFPA have extended the meaning of investments to include both 

financial and non-financial investments, the Annual Investment Strategy as detailed 
below deals solely with the financial (treasury) investments. Non-financial 
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered within 
the Capital Strategy. 

Page 65



 
2.8.3 The Authority will seek to obtain the optimum return on its investments commensurate 

with the desired level of security and liquidity. Risk appetite is low with investment 
decisions giving priority to security of investments. The Authority does not borrow 
purely to invest or on-lend to make a return. 

 
2.8.4 The Authority has a clearly stipulated minimum acceptable level of credit quality of 

Counterparties which feeds into its Counterparty lending list. The creditworthiness 
methodology used to create the Authority’s list takes account of the ratings provided 
by FITCH and/ or Moodys, two of the three main ratings agencies. All investments 
made during 2023/24 will be made in accordance with the Annual Investment 
Strategy detailed in  Annex Two. 

 
Appendices:- 
Annex One – Outlook for Interest Rates 
Annex Two – Annual Investment Strategy 2023/24 
Annex Three – Treasury Management Limits and Prudential Indicators  
Annex Four – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 
Annex Five – The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151/ 73 Officer 

Page 66



ANNEX ONE 
 

OUTLOOK FOR INTEREST RATES 
 
 

 
 
PWLB forecasts are based on PWLB certainty rates. 
  

Page 67



 

ANNEX TWO 
 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2023/24 
 

The purpose of this Strategy is to outline, for approval by the Combined Authority: 
 

 The Combined Authority’s overriding investment objectives; 

 The investments the Combined Authority will use for the prudent management 

of surplus funds during the financial year 2023/24 and the management of risk 

 The procedures for determining the use of each asset class; 

 The maximum periods for which funds may be prudently committed in each 

class; 

 The upper limits to be invested in each class; 

 The extent to which prior professional advice needs to be sought from the 

Combined Authority’s Treasury Advisors prior to use; and 

 The minimum amount to be held in short term investments. 

Investment Objectives 
 

The Combined Authority’s investment decisions are governed by the need to ensure 
that all decisions are prudent and ensure the security of capital and liquidity of 
investments are paramount. 

 
The Combined Authority will seek to ensure an optimum return on the investment of 
all surplus funds commensurate with the required levels of liquidity and security, 
having properly assessed the inherent risk associated with different investment 
options. 
 
The Combined Authority will not engage in treasury borrowing activity solely for the 
purpose of investment or on-lending to make a return. 
 
Investment policy – management of risk 
 
The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC – this was 
formerly the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and 
CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-
financial investments.  This report, Annex Two deals solely with treasury (financial) 
investments, as managed by the treasury management team.  Non-financial 
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the 
Capital Strategy, Appendix Two. 
 
The Combined Authority’s investment policy has regard to the following: 
 

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”)  

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021  

 
The Combined Authority’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity 
second and then yield, (return).  The Combined Authority will aim to achieve the optimum 

Page 68



return (yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity 
and with the Combined Authority’s risk appetite. In the current economic climate, it is 
considered appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash flow needs. 
However, where appropriate (from an internal as well as external perspective), the 
Combined Authority will also consider the value available in periods up to 12 months with 
high credit rated financial institutions. 

 

The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk 
and defines its risk appetite by the following means: - 
 

1. Credit Criteria 

A minimum acceptable credit criteria is applied in order to generate a list of highly 

creditworthy counterparties.  This enables diversification and thus avoidance of 

concentration of risk.  The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short 

term and long term ratings. 

 

2. Other information 

Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution, it is important 

to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro 

basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions 

operate.  The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 

opinion of the markets.  To achieve this consideration the Combined Authority will 

engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as ‘credit default 

swaps’ and overlay that information on top of the ratings. 

 

3. Other information sources 

The Combined Authority will pay consideration to other information sources such as 

the financial press, share price and other such information pertaining to the financial 

sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of 

potential investment counterparties. 

 

4. Types of investment instruments 

The Combined Authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that 

the treasury management team are authorised to use.  There are two lists in Annex 

2.1 under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments. 

- Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject 

to a maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left to run to maturity if 

originally they were classified as being non-specified investments solely due 

to the maturity period exceeding one year. 

- Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be 

for periods in excess of one year and/or are more complex instruments which 

require greater consideration by members and officers before being 

authorised for use. 

 

The table attached as Annex 2.1 provides further guidance on Specified and Non 

Specified Investments. 

 
5. Non-specified and loan investments limits.  The Combined Authority has 

determined that it will set a limit to the maximum exposure of the total treasury 

Page 69



management investment portfolio to non-specified treasury management 

investments of 40%.  

 

6. Lending limits, amounts and maturity, for each counterparty will be set through 

applying the matrix table in Annex 2.2. 

 

7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in Annex 2.2. 

 

8. Sovereign ratings  investments will only be placed with counterparties from the 

UK (sovereign rating not applicable) and countries with a specified minimum 

sovereign rating. 

 

9. The Combined Authority will set a limit for the amount of investments which are 

invested for longer than 365 days. 

 

10. External Consultants The Combined Authority has engaged external  consultants 

to provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, 

liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of the authority in the context of the 

expected level of cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

 

11. All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

 

12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022/23 under IFRS 9 , the 

Combined Authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which 

could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and 

resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. In November 2018, 

the MHCLG (now DLUHC), concluded a consultation for a temporary override to 

allow English authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled investments by 

announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five years 

ending 31st March 2023. At the current juncture it has not been determined whether 

a further extension to the over-ride will be agreed by Government. 

The Combined Authority will pursue value for money in treasury management and 
will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for 
investment performance.  Regular monitoring of investment performance will be 
carried out during the year. 
 
Changes in the risk management policy from last year 
 
The above criteria have changed slightly from last year. 
 
Recently the UK sovereign rating has been placed on Negative Outlook by the three 
major rating agencies in the wake of the Truss/Kwarteng unfunded tax-cuts policy.  
Although the Sunak/Hunt government has calmed markets, the outcome of the rating 
agency reviews is unknown at present, but it is possible the UK sovereign rating will 
be downgraded.  Accordingly, when setting minimum sovereign ratings, this Authority 
will not set a minimum rating for the UK.   
 

 
 
 

Page 70



Creditworthiness Policy and Liquidity 
 

 The Combined Authority relies on credit ratings published by FITCH or Moody’s two 
independent rating agencies to establish the credit quality of Counterparties. Credit 
ratings are reviewed on an ongoing basis to ensure that prompt action can be taken 
to remove institutions whose ratings fall below the minimum threshold applied by the 
Combined Authority. However, more recently the UK sovereign debt rating has been 
placed on Negative Outlook by the three major rating agencies in the wake of the 
Truss/Kwarteng unfunded tax-cuts policy.  Although the Sunak/Hunt government has 
calmed markets, the outcome of the rating agency reviews is unknown at present, 
but it is possible the UK sovereign debt rating will be downgraded.  Accordingly, when 
setting minimum sovereign debt ratings, this Authority will not set a minimum rating 
for the UK. The proposed Counterparty criteria is appended to this report at Annex 
2.2. 

 
 Within the framework detailed in Annex 2, it is proposed that at any one time up to 

20% of investments will be retained in liquid instant access/ call accounts to ensure 
that there is adequate liquidity maintained to deal with unforeseen eventualities. 

 
Investment Strategy  
 
In-house funds.  Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and 
cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for 
investments up to 12 months).  Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing 
for longer periods. While most cash balances are required in order to manage the 
ups and downs of cash flow where cash sums can be identified that could be invested 
for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term investments will be 
carefully assessed.  

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being 
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being 
short term or variable.  

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer 
periods. 

Currently the Combined Authority does not engage any external Fund Managers to 
invest monies on its behalf, however this position will be periodically reviewed to 
establish whether this option provides any opportunities for diversification. Any such 
consideration will be made in conjunction with the Combined Authority’s treasury 
advisors and subject approval by the Director of Corporate Services. 
 
Investment returns expectations 
 
The current forecast shown in paragraph 2.4.8 of the report, includes a forecast for 
Bank Rate to reach 4.5% in June 2023. 
 
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year, are as follows:  
 

Page 71



 
 
For its cash flow generated balances, the Authority will seek to utilise its business 
reserve instant access and notice accounts and short-dated deposits, in order to 
benefit from the compounding of interest.   
 
 
Policy on the use of External Service Providers 
 
The Authority uses Link Group Treasury Services as its external treasury 
management advisors. Whilst the responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the Combined Authority, the value in employing an external treasury 
provider is recognised as means by which it can acquire access to specialist skills 
and resources. Notwithstanding this the Combined Authority will ensure that there is 
no undue reliance on an external service provider. 
 
Reporting Arrangements 
 
The Authority will receive reports on Treasury Management activity: a forward looking 
strategy will be submitted for approval, a mid- year Strategy review, and a year- end 
report which will consider outturn performance in light of the strategy set at the start 
of the year. 
 
From 2023/24, in accordance with the code, in order to improve transparency and 
scrutiny, there is a requirement to report quarterly which will be incorporated into the 
Authority’s reporting arrangements. 
  

Average earnings in each year Now Previously

2022/23 (remainder) 3.75% 0.50%

2023/24 4.40% 0.75%

2024/25 3.30% 1.00%

2025/26 2.60% 1.25%

2026/27 2.50% 2.00%

Years 6 to 10 2.80% 2.00%

Years 10+ 2.80% 2.00%

Page 72



ANNEX 2.1 
 
SPECIFIED AND NON SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS 
 
Table 1 Specified Investments 
 

Investments Minimum Credit 
Rating 

Use 

Term deposits  UK banks and 
building societies 

See Annex 2.2 In house 

Term deposits – UK Government or 
Local Authorities 

High security although 
few local authorities are 
credit rated 

In house 

Call Account Facilities See Annex 2.2 In house 

Notice Account Facilities See Annex 2.2 In house 

Term Deposits – non UK banks and 
building societies 

See Annex 2.2 In house 

Debt Management Agency Deposit 
Facility 

UK Government 
backed 

In house 

Certificates of Deposit See Annex 2.2 In house 

Treasury Bills UK Government 
backed 

In house 

Money Market Funds AAA In house 

 
All Specified Investments must be sterling denominated and have maturities of up to 1 year. 
  

Page 73



Table 2 Non Specified Investments 
 

Investments Minimum Credit 
Rating 

Use Maximum 
Duration 

Term deposits - UK banks and 
building societies (exceeding 365 
days) 

See Annex 2.2 In house 2 years 

Term deposits – UK Government 
or Local Authorities (exceeding 
365 days) 

High security 
although few 
local authorities 
are credit rated 

In house 2 years 

Term Deposits – non UK banks 
and building societies (exceeding 
365 days) 

See Annex 2.2 In house 2 years 

Certificates of Deposits  See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years 

Callable Deposits See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years 

Structured Deposits See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years 

Forward Deposits See Annex 2.2 In house – after 
consultation 
with Treasury 
Advisors 

2 years in 
total 

 
  

Page 74



 
ANNEX 2.2 
 
COUNTERPARTY CRITERIA 
 

Counterparty Category Minimum Credit Rating Maximum Investment (£m) 
Maximum 
Duration 

  Sovereign Long Term Short Term     

United Kingdom N/A         

Treasury Bills AAA rated and Government backed 
£10m per investment (£80m in 
total) 

2 years 

Local Authorities, other 
Public Sector Bodies 
incl DMO 

AAA rated and Government backed 
£10m per LA, £50m per LA 
within the LCRCA (£150m 
total) 

2 years 

Part Nationalised 
Banks** 

Government backed £70m 2 years 

Money Market Funds AAA Rated £10m per fund (£40m in total) On call 

Combined Authority 
Main Banker 

  A F1/P1 Up to a maximum of £200m On call 

Banks 

  A+ F1/P1 
£20m* per investment (£80m 
total per institution or up to 
£100m for CA Main Banker) 

2 years 

  A F1/P1 
£10m* per investment (£40m 
total per institution) 

12 months 

Building Societies 

  A F1/P1 
£10m per investment (£40m in 
total) 

12 months 

  A - F1/P1 
£5m per investment (£20m in 
total) 

12 months 

Non-UK Sovereign AA- and above         

Banks 

  A+ F1/P1 
£20m* per investment (£80m 
total per institution or up to 
£100m for CA Main Banker) 

2 years 

  A F1/P1 
£10m* per investment (£40m 
total per institution) 

12 months 

 
* in the case of CD purchases, the maximum limit per investment is applied to the nominal 
value - an additional coupon will be added not exceeding the value of £10,000 per deal. 
 
** Although the individual rating for the part nationalised banks fall below the criteria outlined 
above, due to the fact that they are part nationalised, as such these institutions take on the 
credit rating of the UK Government itself as deposits are essentially being made with the UK 
Government itself. 
  

Page 75



ANNEX THREE 
 
THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2022/23 – 2026/27 
 
 

 
  

Indicator Description

22/23  Estimated 

Outturn

23/24 Forward 

Estimate 

24/25 Forward 

Estimate

25/26 Forward 

Estimate

26/27 Forward 

Estimate

Capital Spend (£m)

Proposed capital spend to 

which the Authority plans to 

commit 416.31 298.29 289.18 220.94 105.76

In year Requirement

Additional borrowing 

requirement for capital 

expenditure 67.87 28.32 2.48 100.00 75.00

Capital Financing 

Requirement (£m)

This is the aggregation of 

historic and cumulative 

capital expenditure which has 

yet to be paid for through 

either capital or revenue 

resources 591.00 608.86 600.70 689.88 753.88

Ratio Financing 

Cost to Income 

Stream

Identified the impact and 

trend of revenue costs of 

capital financing decisions on 

the revenue budget 9.03% 17.68% 17.66% 23.14% 22.12%

Net Borrowing 

Requirement (£m)

Represents the net 

investments or borrowing 

requirement based on the 

debt and investments held 124.95 192.57 177.26 161.95 148.94

Authorised Limit for 

Borrowing (£m)

Represents the absolute limit 

of borrowing that could be 

raised and afforded in the 

short term however this is 

likely to be unsustainable in 

the long term 596.70 642.57 649.61 851.51 1,003.23

Operational Limit for 

Borrowing (£m)

Represents the level beyond 

which debt is not normally 

expected to exceed 511.76 547.69 552.58 723.14 851.75

Upper Limit for 

Fixed Interest Rate 

Exposure 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Upper Limit for 

Variable Interest 

Rate Exposure 30.00% 30.00% 30.00% 30.00% 30.00%

Gross Debt and the 

CFR (£m)

This indicator can highlight 

where an authority may be 

borrowing in advance of 

need 283.13 316.29 323.44 427.93 504.94

Liability Benchmark

This equals net loans 

requirement plis short-term 

liquidity allowance 70.17 88.02 79.86 169.05 233.05

These limits seek to ensure 

that the Authority does not 

expose itself to an 

inappropriate level of interest 

rate risk

Page 76



ANNEX FOUR 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 
 

The Combined Authority 

 

 Approves the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement; 

 Receives a mid year report and an outturn report on Treasury Management activity; 

 
The Executive Director of Corporate Services 
 

 Draft and submit to the Authority the Treasury Management Strategy Statement prior 

to the start of the financial year; 

 Implement and monitor these documents, 

 Draft and submit mid year and outturn reports to the Authority for approval; 

 Maintain suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMP’s) setting out the manner in 

which the Authority will seek to achieve its objectives. The TMP’s will prescribe how 

the treasury activities will be managed and controlled; 

 Be responsible for the execution and administration of treasury management 

decisions; and 

 Act in accordance with the Authority’s Policy Statement and Treasury Management 

Practices, and also in accordance with CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on 

Treasury Management 

 
 
 
  

Page 77



ANNEX FIVE 
 
THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151/ 73 OFFICER 
 

The S151/73 (responsible) officer  

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 

 submitting budgets and budget variations; 

 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

 recommending the appointment of external service providers;  

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe;  

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in 
the long term and provides value for money; 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority; 

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on 
non-financial assets and their financing; 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake 
a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared 
to its financial resources; 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long 
term liabilities; 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees;  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures 
taken on by an authority; 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above; 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non-
treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the 

 following: - 

o Risk management, including investment and risk management criteria for any 
material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

o Performance measurement and management, including methodology and criteria for 

assessing the performance and success of non-treasury investments  

o Decision making, governance and organisation, including a statement of the 

governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury investments; 

Page 78



and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out 

to support decision making. 

o Reporting and management information including where and how often monitoring 

reports are taken 

o Training and qualifications, including how the relevant knowledge and skills in relation 

to non-treasury investments will be arranged. 

  

Page 79



 

Page 80



 APPENDIX FIVE 
 

CAPITAL STRATEGY 2023/24 

1.0 Purpose 

1.0.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) requires all 
organisations operating under the Prudential Code for Capital Finance (the Prudential 
Code) to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are taken in line with organisational objectives, are affordable, 
take proper account of stewardship, sustainability, value for money and prudence. As 
an organisation that operates under the aegis of the Prudential Code, the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority (the Authority) is required to produce a capital 
strategy. 

1.0.2 The capital strategy provides a high level overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the achievement of the 
Authority’s priorities and service provision. It also provides an overview of how the 
associated risks are managed and the implications for future financial stability. The 
document provides an overview of the governance processes for approving and 
monitoring capital activity. 

1.1 Scope 

1.1.1 This capital strategy covers all capital expenditure and capital investment decisions 
for not only the Authority but also those entered into under group arrangements. As 
such this capital strategy applies to Merseytravel and its subsidiary companies. 

1.1.2 For expenditure to qualify as capital expenditure and therefore be under the scope of 
this document it must be: 

 Expenditure that is incurred on the acquisition or creation of a new asset or expenditure that 
enhances the life or value of an existing asset in accordance with relevant account standards; 

 Expenditure that meets one of the definitions specified in regulation made under the 2003 
Local Government Act; or 

 Expenditure for which a direction has been made by the Secretary of State that allows the 
expenditure to be treated as capital. 

1.2 Liverpool City Region Context 

1.2.1 The Combined Authority approved a corporate plan for the period 2021-2024 on 23 
July 2021. The plan sets out the purpose of the Combined Authority and vision for 
the City region.  This builds on previous consultation and engagement as part of both 
the Local Industrial Strategy and Economic Recovery plan and aligns it with the Metro 
Mayor’s manifesto.  The plan links the vision for the city region with five priority areas: 

 A fairer city region; 

 A stronger city region; 

 A cleaner city region; 

 A connected city region; and 

 A vibrant city region. 

Page 81



1.2.2 Key priorities are underpinned by a vision statement and a series of key deliverables 
central to the achievement of the overarching priorities. To help the Combined 
Authority deliver it is vital that there is a clear and coherent framework through which 
to make capital investment. At the CA level strategic investments will be driven by the 
Single Investment Strategy and associated assurance framework and the Key Route 
Network asset management plans. At the Merseytravel level, key strategies including 
the Tunnels, Bus Infrastructure, Ferries and Long Term Rail Strategies will help 
inform and shape capital requirements. 

1.3 Capital Expenditure 

1.3.1 Whilst at the Authority level, most investment interventions are focussed on 
supporting its growth strategy and devolution aims, below this level, Merseytravel 
which is the strategic transport advisory body and delivery arm, is responsible for the 
operation and maintenance of its and the Authority’s major transport assets. Whilst 
Merseytravel has recourse to some of its own resources to support investment, this 
ability is limited and most requests for funding are channelled up through the 
Authority. 

1.3.2 The size of the capital programme is influenced by the availability of funding sources 
and capital financing costs, including the availability of revenue resources to support 
the full implications of capital expenditure; both borrowing costs and running costs 
after any grant funding is applied. 

1.4 Funding Streams  

1.4.1 The Authority’s capital investment decisions can be funded from a number of sources, 
the key components of which are detailed below; 

 Government grants – this is the single largest source of capital funding received by the 
Authority. The key government grants received directly by the Authority include the City 
Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS),Gain Share and Investment Fund monies 
received in support of the Authority’s devolution agreement.   

 Prudential borrowing – under the Prudential Code the Authority is permitted to determine 
its own borrowing requirement (which includes the need for borrowing that may exist within 
Merseytravel), provided the borrowing proposed is affordable, prudent and cost effective. 
Whilst the Authority is governed by the Prudential Framework, in common with all other 
Mayoral Combined Authorities, the Authority has agreed a debt cap with HM Treasury which 
limits the absolute level of borrowing that can be incurred. Where this type of funding is 
applied there are revenue implications in the form of financing cost. 

 Reserves – both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel have recourse to specific 
reserves to support capital investment. Whilst the Authority has significant reserves that are 
earmarked for inclusion within the SIF, the current level of resources is not forecast to 
increase, rather they are on a downward trajectory as there has been a significant reliance 
on reserves to support the Merseytravel capital programme over the last couple of years and 
therefore these should be applied judiciously. 

 Revenue funding – the Authority is permitted to utilise revenue resources to fund capital 
schemes however given the limited availability of revenue funding more generally for the 
Authority it is not a significant source of capital funding and would normally be used to support 
specific smaller scale initiatives. The only area in which a significant and sustained use is 
made of revenue to support capital investment is in respect of the Mersey Tunnels whereby 
use of tolls is directed by statute. 

 Capital receipts – the Authority and Merseytravel are able to generate capital receipts 
through the sale of surplus assets, such as land and buildings. The use of such receipts is 

Page 82



governed by statute and therefore must be used for capital investment, unless capitalisation 
directives are permitted. Both organisations hold limited levels of capital receipts and by 
virtue of the fact that both organisations hold significant infrastructure asset bases, their 
capacity to generate new receipts is constrained. To this end the first call on any capital 
receipts to support capital investment are for invest to save initiatives. 

1.5 Governance Arrangements 

1.5.1 The Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) manages the public funding that the Combined 
Authority receives following the devolution agreement agreed with government in 
2015 and the Growth Deal Funds for which agreement has been reached with the 
Liverpool City Region Growth Platform for the Authority to manage these funds. 

1.5.2 The Combined Authority’s Strategic Investment Fund Strategy defines and outlines 
the Authority’s investment strategy for the SIF, including its principles and priorities, 
approval process and fund-recycling model. 

1.5.3 The core objective of the Investment Strategy is to ensure that investment made by 
the Combined Authority is most effectively targeted at interventions and opportunities 
that help deliver its strategic aims and help drive inclusive growth, social value, tackle 
market failure, maximise value for money and make a financial return into the SIF.  

1.5.4 The Investment Strategy clearly details the principles against which the SIF will 
operate and the economic sectors in which the region has a competitive advantage 
and which will drive future regional success. 

1.5.5 Overlaying the Investment Strategy is the SIF Assurance Framework, which has been 
designed to meet the requirements of the Single Pot Assurance Guidance published 
by MHCLG and managed by HM Government’s Cities & Local Growth Unit. This 
document covers; 

 the context, scope and purpose of the assurance framework; 

 the governance structures of the Combined Authority, investment approach and 
transparency mechanisms that will apply to decision making; 

 the decision making procedures for funding; and 

 the approach to monitoring and evaluation. 

1.5.6 The process for making investment decisions through the SIF is as follows: 

 All projects are developed in conjunction with the Investment Team to ensure they have a 
mesh with the Authority’s Investment Strategy; 

 Projects are subject to development of business case in accordance with HM Treasury Green 
Book principles; 

 An internal panel of senior officers considers projects at outline stage. This group has a right 
of veto and may use this to refuse a project should they believe it would breach SIF 
governance and/ or run counter to good economic development policy; 

 Detail diligence will be undertaken on all projects and an external appraisal report will be 
completed; 

 The Investment Panel will conduct interim and final reviews of projects and provide advice  
and commentary on the merits of a project to the Combined Authority and if necessary make 
recommendations for modifications; 

 Based on the recommendations of the Investment Panel, projects will be submitted to the 
Combined Authority for approval. 

Page 83



1.5.7 Monitoring of delivery and outcomes is reported through to Programme Delivery 
Boards, which comprises of managed by the Corporate Programme Management 
Office who reports performance through to the Programme Delivery Board, which is 
comprised of senior officers within the Combined Authority.  Dedicated finance 
resource exists to monitor SIF programme on an ongoing basis and feeds into the 
reporting rhythm. 

1.5.8 Monthly capital monitoring of spend is undertaken and reported through to 
Merseytravel and the CA respectively.  

1.5.9 Whilst all significant and major capital expenditure plans for the Authority are 
channelled through the SIF and delivery boards, Merseytravel separately has a 
requirement to invest in and maintain its asset base and the Mersey Tunnels, which 
it manages and operates on behalf of the Combined Authority. Maintenance 
programmes and investment requirements for Merseytravel assets are determined in 
parallel with the service and revenue budget planning process within the framework 
of the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

1.6 Long Term Capital Plans 

1.6.1 The table below shows the capital plans for both the Combined Authority and 
Merseytravel for the period through to 2027/28. 

  Authority Investment Plans 

  

  

 

1.6.2 The table above reflects the Authority’s investment decisions that have been ratified 
to December 2022 however there are a number of schemes within the pipeline at 
various stages of development. As these pipeline projects progress through to 
approval and funding agreement, the programme will be updated.  

1.6.3 The main schemes are detailed in the Combined Authority and Merseytravel budget 
reports. 

1.7 Investments 

1.7.1 The Authority may undertake two distinct types of investment; treasury management 
investments and service/ commercial investments. 

1.7.2 Treasury management investment activity arises as a consequence of managing the 
organisation’s cashflows. For these investments, security and liquidity of investments 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authority Group Capital Spend 416,311 298,293 289,182 220,941

Funded by:

Capital grants 331,313 260,149 278,762 112,826

Capital Reserves 8,448 2,325 440 615

Revenue 8,677 7,500 7,500 7,500

Borrowing 67,873 28,319 2,480 100,000

Page 84



are the primary considerations when making such decisions, ahead of any 
consideration of investment yield generated. Treasury management investments are 
governed by the Authority’s Treasury Management Policy and its Annual Investment 
Strategy. The Authority’s counterparty criteria provides a framework against which 
treasury investments are made. The approach is informed by the creditworthiness 
work undertaken by the Authority’s treasury advisors, Link Asset Services. 

1.7.3 Service or commercial investments by contrast are those investments made by an 
organisation outside of the day to day treasury management activity which could be 
either made in support of service provision, for example economic regeneration or 
commercial whereby the investments have been undertaken purely for the purpose 
of generating financial returns. 

1.7.4 There is a regulatory and statutory recognition that organisations may make 
investments for policy reasons outside their treasury management activity. To ensure 
that all investment decisions are made in a structured an informed manner with due 
consideration to both the risks and rewards stemming from that decision, the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code covers both types of investment. 

1.7.5 The Authority’s non-treasury investments are primarily aimed at supporting the 
organisation’s service objectives and the achievement of its devolution aims and such 
investments will naturally flow out of the SIF generated schemes. As stated above, 
the core objective of the Investment Strategy is to ensure that investment made by 
the Combined Authority is most effectively targeted at interventions and opportunities 
that help deliver its strategic aims and help drive inclusive growth, social value, tackle 
market failure, maximise value for money and make a financial return into the SIF.  

1.7.6 Whilst investments through the SIF will aim to ensure that there is a positive reflow, 
the key driver in these investments is not to generate a financial return to support the 
ongoing revenue budget for the Combined Authority but to ensure the continued 
viability of the investment fund. As the SIF is funded primarily through grant, it is 
pertinent to seek to maximise the benefits arising from investments flowing back to 
the Combined Authority thus allowing the fund to be more sustainable over the longer 
term. 

1.7.7 The Authority’s non-treasury investments will vary in shape, size and structure and 
will be tailored for each individual deal. In accordance with the governance framework 
outlined above, a significant level of work will be undertaken by the Investment Team 
to develop and shape deals and undertake necessary due diligence which will inform 
the commercial negotiation and inform the final deal. 

1.7.8 As all non-treasury investments will flow through the SIF process, the review, and 
scrutiny and ultimately approval process will be in accordance with the SIF 
Investment Strategy and SIF Assurance Framework. The governance arrangements 
around interventions funded through the SIF are detailed above. 

1.8 Treasury Management 

 Governance 

1.8.1 The Authority has adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Sector Code 
of Practice and formally adopted a treasury management policy statement as part of 

Page 85



its annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement, which was approved by the 
Authority. 

1.8.2 Under the Local Government Act 2003 local authorities are permitted to determine 
their own programmes for capital investment and associated borrowing requirements, 
provided they have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Financing in Local 
Authorities.  

1.8.3 The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure that there is a clear framework 
for ensuring capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable and that treasury 
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. In 
support of the decision making process the Prudential Code sets out a number of 
prudential indicators that should support local decision making with regards to the 
Authority’s capital expenditure plans and it is the duty of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Services (the Section 73 Officer) to ensure that this information is made 
available to support decision making by the Authority. Key issues that should be 
considered are: 

 Strategic context; 

 Corporate priorities 

 Capital investment ambition 

 Available resources 

 Affordability; 

 Capacity to deliver; 

 Risk appetite 

 Risk management 

 And determining an appropriate split between non-financial and treasury management 
investments, in the context of ensuring the long-term financial sustainability of the authority. 

1.8.4 The requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 and the Prudential Code apply 
equally to the Authority, however; there is an additional requirement for Mayoral 
Combined Authorities to agree overall debt caps with HM Treasury. As such there is 
an additional dynamic for the Authority in considering prudence as any increases in 
the absolute need to borrow above the agreed cap, even if still affordable within the 
confines of the Prudential Code would, require approval of HM Treasury. 

1.8.5 The Authority retains overall responsibility for review and approval of the annual 
Treasury Management Strategy, the midyear report and the outturn report. Day to 
day management of the Treasury Management function is delegated to the Director 
of Corporate Services. Details of the scheme of delegation are contained within the 
Authority’s Treasury Management Practices. 

 Affordability 

1.8.6 Fundamental to any assessment of the affordability of the Authority’s capital plans is 
the extent to which the revenue costs associated with servicing new and existing debt 
can be sustained within the available budget. A significant proportion of the 
Authority’s capital plans relate to strategic investments through the Strategic 
Investment Fund which is essentially funded by grant. Whilst the Authority’s 
Investment Strategy does not preclude borrowing in support of this activity, this has 
not been factored into medium term plans and as such the requirement to borrow, 
within the debt cap agreed with HM Treasury focuses on the servicing of historic 

Page 86



transport debt and other strategic investments in support of transport arising from its 
role as the Strategic Transport Authority. 

 Prudence  

1.8.7 The Authority is required to make reasonable estimates of total capital expenditure 
that it plans to incur for the next and at least the following two years. The Prudential 
Code requires the Authority to ensure that all capital expenditure, investment and 
borrowing decisions are prudent and affordable and take account of the resources 
available to fund such schemes or the implications of borrowing to fund them. The 
aim is to ensure that requirement to repay borrowing is factored into the overall 
consideration of the organisation’s fiscal sustainability. 

1.8.8 In respect of the Authority’s external debt, there are two key indicators, which the 
Authority is required to complete for the forthcoming and two successive years; the 
Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary. The Authorised Limit represents the 
absolute maximum the Authority could borrow and therefore should not be varied 
during the year whereas the Operational Boundary should encompass all anticipated 
borrowing and in year use and should incorporate sufficient headroom for the 
Authority to satisfy in year requirements.  

1.8.9 The Authority’s Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary are detailed below. 

  

 

1.8.10 The Authority’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement, which also forms part of 
the overall budget report, details the Authority’s borrowing and financing plans for its 
capital programme over the period through to 2025/26, its borrowing limits and debt 
repayment strategy. To avoid duplication of content the reader is referred to Appendix 
1 for more detail. 

 Value for Money 

1.8.11 As detailed above a significant proportion of the Authority’s capital programme relates 
to the delivery of the strategic investment priorities detailed in the Authority’s 
Investment Strategy. All such capital expenditure is incurred on the back of a rigorous 
application, assessment and evaluation process as detailed in the Single Investment 
Framework. Funding provided through the SIF is essentially gap funding aimed at 
supporting strategic interventions. As the assessment and evaluation of all schemes 
through the SIF follow the principles of the HM Treasury Green Book, value for money 
is integral to the decision making process. 

1.9 Skills and Knowledge 

1.9.1 The Executive Director of Corporate Services (Section 73 Officer) who is a Qualified 
Accountant has overall responsibility for the Authority’s Treasury Management 
activity and overall capital programme. The capital programme and treasury 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authorised Limit 596,700 642,575 649,614 851,515

Operational Boundary 511,762 547,688 552,583 723,136

Page 87



management strategy are managed by Qualified Accountants with specific day to day 
delegations to individual members within the Finance Team with extensive 
experience within these designated areas. Emphasis is placed on continuing 
professional development and staff are encouraged to attend events which help 
maintain current knowledge and understanding of sectoral developments. 

1.9.2 Commercial investment decisions are led by the Authority’s Investment Team. This 
is a multi-disciplinary team with significant experience in financial services and the 
structuring of corporate finance. This team also has access to a range of specialist 
advisory support from a specifically procured framework contract to access specialist 
advice as necessary. The team will work closely with the Finance and Legal teams 
to ensure that specific regulatory or legislative requirements are understood and 
adhere to prior to deals being closed. 

1.9.3 The Combined Authority has access to a range of advisors to assist in the operation 
of its treasury and investment activity. The Authority uses Link Asset Services as its 
external treasury management advisors.  The Authority recognises that responsibility 
for treasury management decisions remain with the organisation and seeks to ensure 
that undue reliance is not placed upon external service providers.  Notwithstanding 
this, the Authority recognises that there is value in employing external providers of 
treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Investment Team has access to a range of specialist advisors through 
its framework, including Legal, Financial, sectoral specific advisors and economic 
appraisers who will be utilised as necessary for the purpose of supporting investment 
opportunities brought forward. 

 
 

 

Page 88



Report Title Liverpool City Region Combined Authority; 
Corporate Plan 2021-24; Quarter 2 (July to 
September) 2022-23 Performance Update 
Report  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram - Policy, Reform 
and Resources 

 
Summary of report 

 
To present an overview of performance of 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Corporate Plan 2021-24 for Quarter 2 (July to 
September) 2022 and provide an indicator to 
any key risks to future performance during the 
year. 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All Local Constituent Authorities 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.1 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None  
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan A Fairer City Region  √ 

A Stronger City Region  √ 

A Cleaner City Region  √ 

A Connected City Region  √ 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√ 

Climate Change Implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.3 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.4 

Social Value implications  
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.5 

Human Resources implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.6 

Physical Assets implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.7 

Information Technology implications Yes, see paragraph 5.8 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.9 

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 5.10 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.11 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



Contact Officer(s) Kate Downes, Assistant Director - Evidence, 
Research & Intelligence 
kate.downes@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Stephen Littler, Corporate Performance 
Manager, 
Stephen.littler@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
  

Appendices Yes – Appendix One: LCRCA Plan 2021-24: 
Quarter 2 2022-23: CA Plan Performance 
 

Background Documents No  
 

 

  

Page 90

mailto:kate.downes@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.littler@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 19 January 2023 
 
REPORT OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY; CORPORATE 

PLAN 2021-24; QUARTER 2 (JULY TO SEPTEMBER) 2022-23 PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE REPORT  

 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

Presentation of Quarter 2 (July to September) 2022 performance against the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 for Quarter 2 for 
noting and comments on delivery concerns, or future plans. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

a) note the contents of this report and 
b) request further information as appropriate. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 The Combined Authority Corporate Plan was agreed in July 2021 to cover the 

period 2021-2024 and sets out the strategic ambitions of the Combined Authority for 
those years. 

 
3.2 The Corporate Performance Team support and facilitate a process of identifying 

and agreeing specific actions and commitments across the LCRCA to deliver the 
CA Plan priorities. Each quarter progress is reported to the senior management 
team, and bi-annually to the CA Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
3.3 The LCRCA follows a Performance Management Framework (PMF), which 

allocates tasks and responsibilities through the CA structures (as illustrated in 
Figure 1) and quarterly reports keep track of, and inform, progress through each 
year. 

  

Page 91



Figure 1: The Performance Management Framework 2022/23 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
3.4 Updates are sought against 415 information points that relate to the stated Corporate 

Plan Priorities, Actions and Activities. The Corporate Performance Team summarises this 
and allocates an ‘overall RAG’ for each Priority as a whole using the following key: 

 
 

RAG 
Rating 

Description 

Red Highly Problematic – Delivery at significant risk 

Amber Problematic – Delivery at risk but not significant 

Green 
Well Managed – No risk to delivery OR nearing 
completion/ delivery 

Blue Delivered/Completed  

Purple Abandoned or not being progressed 

 
 

 
  

Page 92



4. PERFORMANCE AGAINST 2021/22 PRIORITY ACTIVITY AND MEASURES  
 

4.1 An overview of current performance against the delivery of the Corporate Plan Priorities 
is set out in table 1 below.  

 
Table 1 – CA Plan 2021-23 Priority overall progress 
 

Priority in 
CA Plan Performance Updates 

Overall 
Q4 RAG 

Priority 1 
Fairer 

 13 activities RAG summary – 5 Green / 8 Amber 
 13 Output Measures summary – 8 Green / 5 Amber A ↓ 

Priority 2 
Stronger 

 11 activities RAG Summary – 6 Green / 5 Amber 
 18 Output Measures summary – 10 Green / 3 Amber 

/ 2 Blue / 3 Purple 
G ↑ 

Priority 3 
Cleaner 

 12 activities RAG Summary - 2 Green / 9 Amber / 1 
Red 

 7 Output Measures summary – 3 Green / 2 Amber / 2 
No Available Data 

A ↔ 

Priority 4 
Connected 

 15 activities RAG Summary – 3 Green / 9 Amber / 3 
Red 

 8 Output Measures summary – 5 Green / 3 Amber 
A ↔ 

Priority 5 
Vibrant 

 8 activities RAG Summary – 4 Green / 3 Amber / 1 
Blue 

 12 Output Measures summary – 4 Green / 3 Amber / 
5 Blue 

G ↑ 

Developing 
our 

Organisation 

 7 activities RAG Summary – 7 Green 
 25 actions RAG Summary – 8 Green / 4 Amber / 11 

Blue / 2 Purple 
G ↔ 

 
 
4.2 A summary narrative for each Priority is presented below with headline details on 

Activities contributing to their delivery. Further detail on the contributing Activities is 
included in Appendix 1 of this report. A ‘direction of travel’ indicator is used to 
quickly demonstrate performance progress from the previous performance report. 

 

 
 

Page 93



FAIRER Summary Progress Update AMBER ↓ 

 

 Provision has been secured for AEB (Adult Education 
Budget) through re-contracting process and is now in 
place. 

 Delivery of stage 1 digital skills training successful 

 New Be More portal successfully launched Oct 22 

 1,374 individuals have registered for support from 
HiW (Households into Work) as of close Sept 22. 

 22, 946 individuals have achieved at least 1 progress 
measure during their time on HiW 

 Projects have taken advantage of the Gov approved 
extension for delivery of CRF programme; completion 
now expected Dec 22. 

 Draft Ambition Statement for Homelessness has been 
completed and aligned with Rough Sleeping Strategy 
produced by DLUHC in Sept 22. 

 185 have been housed through the Housing First 
programme to date. 

 The Full Business Case for Race Equality Hub to be 
presented to Jan 22 CA. 

 
 

STRONGER Summary Progress Updates GREEN ↑ 

 

 COVID Recovery Fund is an ongoing prioritisation 
activity and projects taken forward include MLEC 
(£20m), LYVA Labs phase 2 (£3m), Tech Accelerator 
(£5m), Hind St Acquisition (£2m), Growing Business 
(£1.5m), Eurovision (£2m).  

 Business Case to be strengthened for scoping exercise 
for a Community Bank. 

 A number of employers have been approved at 
aspiring level to be announced in Nov 22. 

 CA signed off Social Value framework and delivery 
plan for 21/22. 

 Love Your Earth Workshops and Youth Summit 
delivered to more than 1,200 school children. 

 LEP Integration Plan completed and submitted to 
central government. 

 FBC for LCR Freeport submitted with critical actions 
received and being addressed. 

 Inward Investment Strategy currently being 
considered by the Growth Platform. 

 
  

G
re

e
n

5 A
m

b
e
r

8

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0

Activities

13

Total

38%

62%

0%

0%

G
re

e
n

6 A
m

b
e
r

5

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0

Activities

11

Total 54.5%

45.5%

0.0%

0.0%

Page 94



CLEANER Summary Progress Updates AMBER ↔ 

 

 Carbon Reduction Pathway developed and Working 
with LAs to tackle Air Quality issues. 

 LCR Net Zero Plan is being drafted with expected 
publication in Q4 22/23. 

 Successful trial in Wirral of Heat Innovation Pilot 
with other proposals being developed. 

 Publication of Low Carbon Skills for Growth Action 
Plan due Q3 22/23. 

 Support growing for renewable schemes to meet 
Net Zero Electricity by 2030/32 incl. Mersey Tidal. 

 External Green Hydrogen studies to report Jan 23. 

 Housing Retrofit Scheme extended to Sept 22 with 
£10m capital spent and another £4m capital 
attracted to deliver 1,356 home improvements. 

 Green Bus Route project currently on programme. 

 First Hydrogen bus has begun manufacture with 
delivery of first bus in Oct 22. 

 
 

CONNECTED Summary Progress Updates AMBER ↔ 

 

 Full fibre network build continues with 75km of PIA 
installations completed and over 53km of the 
ducting and chambers built. 

 London Style Transport Plan framework drafted. 

 Upgrade of SMART Ticketing System has delivered in 
some areas but experienced delays in others 

 Bus network review timescales set for 2023-26. 

 £2 capped fare scheme launched in Sept 22. 

 Business cases developed for Liverpool Central, and 
Baltic and 10 stations developed and submitted for 
Access for All funding. 

 Initial evidence base produced for LTP4 with Vision 
and Goals document developed; public engagement 
undertaken over the spring and summer. 

 Agreement reached for testing for 1 new Rolling 
Stock unit to take place in Dec 22. 

 Delivery of Transforming Cities Fund going well, and 
planning work for City Region Transport Settlements 
(CRSTS) completed. 

 Most LAs delivered Active Travel Fund schemes but 
few schemes delayed. 

 Replacement Ferry vessel procurement now 
progressing . 

G
re

e
n

3 A
m

b
e
r

9

R
e
d

3

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0

Activities

15

Total

20.0%

60.0%

20.0%

0.0%0.0%

0.0%

Page 95



VIBRANT Summary Progress Updates GREEN ↑ 

 

 Strong pipeline of Brownfield sites with three on 
site; 42% of housing outputs required already in 
GFAs. 

 Southport Events Centre approved by CA in Oct 22. 
GFA to be signed by Dec 22. 

 All Towns Fund business plans completed. All spend 
to be completed within 22/23 financial year. 

 Works completed to support Eureka. Landing Stage 
works completed and opened in Oct 22. 

 Cultural Compact Plan being revised following 
completion of original 18-month action plan. 

 Echo Region Live page complete with the last page 
published 30 Sept. 

 Our Places 3 delayed establish a better 
understanding of the Government's new planning 
agenda. 

 Agreement and adoption of Internationalisation 
Strategy completed, and discussions started with 
Growth Platform to agree scope of review. 

 
 

Developing our 
Organisation 

Summary Progress Updates GREEN ↔ 

 

 Report Writing course developed. Mentoring scheme 
successfully completed. Subsequent scheme going live 
Jan 23. Coaching available. Senior leadership 
development programme being evaluated and phase 2 
in discussion. Team leader development programme in 
development. 

 Space booking system is live with improved video 
conferencing facilities. 

 Job Evaluation scheme is operational. HR 
transformation scope is complete and is progressing. 

 Leadership and Listening events are planned for rest of 
year. Planning is underway for the next employee 
survey. Employee Celebration Event delivered 

 Some challenges have arisen relating to stakeholder 
mapping. 

 Digital Transformation implementation roadmap and 
plan now delivering market engagement for new back-
office systems and procurement of a partner for cloud 
transformation 

 

G
re

e
n

7 A
m

b
e
r

0

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0

Activities

7

Total

100%

0%

0%

Page 96



5. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1. Financial 
 

Whilst there may be financial issues arising because of the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct financial implications as a consequence of 
the delivery of this performance report. 
 
The performance of corporate and programme / project finance and budgeting are 
reported separately. 

 
5.2 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

This report demonstrates performance of, and progress against, all Priorities 
contained within the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan – 

 A Fairer City Region 

 A Stronger City Region 

 A Cleaner City Region 

 A Connected City Region 

 A Vibrant City Region 
 

5.3 Climate Change 
 

Whilst there may be Climate Change issues arising because of the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Climate Change implications 
because of the delivery of this performance report. 
 
The Net Zero by 2040 programme addresses climate change issues and is reported 
in detail separately. 

 
5.4 Equality and Diversity 
 

There are no adverse implications arising directly from this report.  Any decisions 
and policies adopted or changed in the discharge of these priorities or activities will 
each be subject to an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA). 
 
There is a comprehensive Race Equality Programme and Scheme that has been 
developed and is in delivery that will address equality and diversity issues within the 
LCRCA and beyond and has been reported on separately. 

 
5.5 Social Value 
 

Whilst there may be Social Value issues arising because of the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Social Value implications 
because of the delivery of this performance report. 
 
LCR Combined Authority has approved the Social Value Policy and Framework in 
March 2022 and the programme is progressing. 

  

Page 97



 
5.6 Human Resources 
 

Whilst there may be HR issues arising because of the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct HR implications because of the delivery of 
this performance report. However, depending on the feedback received, there may 
be HR issues that may need to be resolved to improve performance. 

 
5.7 Physical Assets 
 

Whilst there may be Physical Asset issues arising because of the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Physical Asset implications 
because of the delivery of this performance report. 
 

5.8 Information Technology 
 

Whilst there may be IT issues arising because of the delivery of the Corporate Plan 
and its Priorities, there are no direct IT implications because of the delivery of this 
performance report. A new IT system being investigated to assist in data and 
information collection and its subsequent reporting, but this will not be introduced in 
the short term as the investigation process is progressing. 
 

5.9 Legal 
 

Whilst there may be Legal implications arising because of the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Legal implications because of 
the delivery of this performance report. 

 
5.10 Risks and Mitigation 
 

While the report identifies several emerging risks to corporate performance, these 
are being managed within the 2022/23 budget, service planning process and risk 
management process. 

 
There were no identified emerging risks that would require changes to overall 
budgets for 2022/23 or needed further consideration. Any risk related issues would 
be taken through the correct reporting and monitoring processes. 

  
5.11 Communication and Consultation 
 

Communications and Stakeholder issues will be considered as part of the delivery 
of each of the Corporate Priorities. 
 

  

Page 98



 
6. CONCLUSION 
 

Overall, progress can be considered on-track or has already been completed during 
the year and where there have been areas of underperformance against key 
strategic activities, actions have been put in place to address this and are 
summarised in the appendix. This application of effective evidence-based 
management of resources and increased focus on the delivery of corporate 
priorities. 

 
 

KIRSTY MCLEAN 
Executive Director Policy, Strategy 

And Government Relations 

METRO MAYOR STEVE ROTHERAM 
Policy, Reform and Resources 

 
 

Appendices: 
 
1 Appendix One – LCRCA Plan 2021-24: Quarter 2 2022-23: CA Plan Performance 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None  
 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



LCRCA Plan 2021-24

Quarter 2 (July – Sept) 2022-23
Performance Report

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
January 2023

P
age 101



Fairer
Stronger
Cleaner
Connected
Vibrant

Liverpool City 
Region 
Combined 
Authority
Corporate Plan 
2021-2024

P
age 102



CA Plan Priorities Summary - Quarter 2 2022-23

Priority in 
CA Plan Performance Updates Overall 

Q1 RAG

Priority 1
Fairer

• 13 activities RAG summary – 5 Green / 8 Amber;
• 13 Output Measures summary – 8 Green / 5 Amber A ↓

Priority 2
Stronger

• 11 activities RAG Summary – 6 Green / 5 Amber;
• 18 Output Measures summary – 10 Green / 3 Amber / 2 
Blue / 3 Purple

G ↑

Priority 3
Cleaner

• 12 activities RAG Summary - 2 Green / 9 Amber / 1 Red;
• 7 Output Measures summary – 3 Green / 2 Amber / 2 No 
Available Data

A ↔

Priority 4
Connected

• 15 activities RAG Summary – 3 Green / 9 Amber / 3 Red;
• 8 Output Measures summary – 5 Green / 3 Amber A ↔

Priority 5
Vibrant

• 8 activities RAG Summary – 4 Green / 3 Amber / 1 Blue;
• 12 Output Measures summary – 4 Green / 3 Amber / 5 
Blue

G ↑

Developing 
our 

Organisation

• 7 activities RAG Summary – 7 Green
• 25 actions RAG Summary – 8 Green / 4 Amber / 11 Blue / 
2 Purple

G ↔

RAG
Rating Description 

RED Highly Problematic – Delivery of activity / Priority at 
significant risk

AMBER Problematic – Delivery of activity / Priority at risk but not 
significant

GREEN Well Managed – No risk to the delivery of the activity / 
Priority, OR, nearing completion / delivery

BLUE Activity / Priority delivered / completed


PURPLE Abandoned or Not Being Progressed – Project / activity / 
Priority no longer part of workplans

RAG Criteria for Non-project workstreams 

P
age 103



A FAIRER City Region – Quarter 2 2022/23 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this 
Priority is represented by 4 

Objectives, 13 Activities with 13 
Output Measures and 8 
Outcome Measures

P
age 104



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

A Young Person’s Guarantee G ↔
• Apprenticeship graduation ceremony took place in Sept 22
• Provision has been secured for AEB through re-contracting process and is now in place.
• Business case for funding and additional support for a publicity campaign and launch of YPG is in development.

Skills and apprenticeship hub G ↔

• Delivery of stage 1 digital skills training successful
• New Be More portal successfully launched in Oct 22
• Procurement for post-pandemic is complete and training provider delivery in progress
• GMLPF are not be able to allocate the entire budget available for Provider Improvement Programme. Remaining 

funds we be reallocated to support external employer training requirements.

Adult Education Budget G ↔

• Contracts in place for 22/23 academic year.  Ongoing delivery managed through the published Performance 
Management Points in year, including growth opportunities.

• Contracts in place alongside mainstream AEB for 2022/23 academic year.  Additional sub contract arrangements for 
delivery have been agreed for grant funded providers.  Additional 42 local qualifications agreed using local flex 
arrangements.

Households into work G ↔

• 1,374 individuals have registered for support from HiW as of close Sept 22.
• 146 unemployed individuals have secured employment during or upon completion of their time on HiW.
• 22, 946 individuals have achieved at least 1 progress measure during their time on HiW.
• 179  individuals have progressed on to education or training during or upon completion of their time on HiW.

Employment and skills 
projects pipeline A ↔

• Portfolio objectives have been determined and due to be reviewed given national changes.
• All People projects are now being considered via the pipeline process by the recently established People delivery 

board.
• Projects have taken advantage of the Gov approved extension for delivery of Community Renewal Fund 

programme; completion now expected Dec 22.

FAIRER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 105



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Homelessness framework A ↔

• Draft Ambition Statement has been completed. Reviewed and refined following feedback from lived experience 
groups and to align with a Rough Sleeping Strategy produced by DLUHC in September 2022.

• New timeline is to have the Ambition Statement approved by CA in Jan 23. Activities around specification production 
and procurement processes for commissioned services are all on-track.

City region approach to 
mental health A ↓

• Metro Mayor’s mental health summit and develop an LCR Mental Health Pledge progressing.
• Ongoing discussions as part of Economies for Healthier Lives Programme regarding subsidies to SMEs to access 

mental health awareness/first aid training.

A food poverty reduction 
strategy A ↔

• Data and analysis is being delivered through the VS6 commission and is in the final stages of drafting.
• Foundational work to develop a network has been undertaken as part of the commission.
• Food Assembly held in June 22. Establishment a Food Policy Council for LCR is not to be progressed.

Housing First A ↓

• Service very close to maximum capacity across the programme with 207 individuals being supported at end of Q2.
• Staff vacancies in Wirral and St Helens have impacted the ability to take on referrals.
• 185 have been housed through the programme to date.
• Recruitment to most posts has been completed with the exception of Dual Diagnosis. The absence of an Operational 

Lead for Housing First since end of July 22 has affected the ability to complete Job descriptions, specifications and 
recruitment. Activity to recommence on this role during November with officer in place by Jan 2023.

Funding opportunities for 
VCFSEs G ↔

• Funding agreement in place and delivery is under way. First set of monitoring information due to be reported in Q3 
22/23.

• Impact assessments expected to be delayed due to postponement of digital inclusion funding round to reflect the 
outcome of the digital mapping work currently under way.

FAIRER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 106



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Digital inclusion A ↓

• AEB is funding a range of new digital qualifications for this current academic year which started Aug 22 primarily at 
Level 3.

• A Digital lead has been appointed in the Mayoral Priorities team and is working collaboratively across the CA to pull 
together all digital related activities.

• Findings from VOLA and UoL have been received and further research and analysis is being completed to identify 
priorities and gaps with a number of workstreams are currently being scoped.

• Commissioning of hyper-local projects via Chrysalis funding has been postponed until the results of the mapping 
exercise being undertaken by VOLA and University of Liverpool to be completed.  This is expected in Q3 22/23 with 
the grants programme opened in Q4 22/23.

A Race Equality programme A ↔

• The national launch of The World Reimagined went live on schedule in Aug 22 & is due to conclude at the end of 
October.

• M&E activities being undertaken before closure in Q4.
• Training course being piloted with first tranche of training sessions due to commence on schedule in 11/2022.
• The Full Business Case for Race Equality Hub has been endorsed by External Panel and is to be presented to Jan 22 CA. 

A new Equality Scheme A ↔

• Positive action programme being developed and will be launched in March 2023.
• The reverse mentoring scheme has secured a budget and a delivery partner has been procured.
• Work completed to develop workforce adjustment passports which will be launched by Nov 22.
• Working with training provider to develop race equality training for the LCR LAs and CA. 

FAIRER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 107



FAIRER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outputs Summary

Amber ↔ Amber ↓ Green ↔ Green ↑ Green ↔ Green ↔

185 = Q2
359 = year to 
date (YTD)

80%
Higher than usual 
number of exits in 
September including 

first two evictions, both 
in the private rented 

sector

Monitoring information on the 
delivery from the first round of 
grants is to be reported in Nov 
22. Digital inclusion grants is 

awaiting the conclusion of digital 
inclusion mapping work which is due 

Q3 22/23.

13 = Q2
29 = YTD

Race Equality Hub FBC is 
being presented at Nov 22 
CA. Activity will then move 
forward to setup the Hub 
delivery team and to 
commission delivery 
contracts, which are 

expected to be mobilised Q2 
and Q3 23/24.

7 = Q2
118 = YTD

Race Equality Hub FBC 
is being presented at 
Nov 22 CA. Activity will 
then move forward to 
setup the Hub delivery 

team and to 
commission delivery 
contracts, which are 

expected to be 
mobilised Q2 and Q3 

23/24

0 = Q2
31 = YTD

Race Equality Hub FBC is 
being presented at Nov 
22 CA. Activity will then 
move forward to setup 
the Hub delivery team 
and to commission 

delivery contracts, which 
are expected to be 
mobilised Q2 and Q3 

23/24

Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔

674 932 202 1,374 376 = Q2
647 = YTD

841 = Q2
1,702 = YTD

NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

Green ↔

Enrolments on AEB funded provision for 22/23 
academic year to date are at 19,800 – this is slightly 
down compared to last year. A new ‘Pathways to 

Teaching’ initiative has been launched with all Local 
Authorities which aims to train up to 70 learners to 

consider a role in community learning. Halton MBC are 
leading – an additional £290k has been agreed for this 
initiative.  Level 3 delivery is higher than this point last 
year, with 521 enrolments so far compared to 460 in 
21/22.  Agreed an additional 42 qualifications with DfE 
that will be funded locally using 20% funding flex.  Some 

sub-contract arrangements with our grant funded 
providers to deliver level 3 this year is agreed. Multiply 
is the new national numeracy campaign for adults aged 
19+ which has been funded through the top-slicing of 
UKSPF. In the process of agreeing contracts for its 

delivery for the first financial year with delivery planned 
for Oct – March 2023.

P
age 108



NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value Direction of Travel 
(from Q4 2021/22)

i. More young people accessing 
education or training Proportion aged 16-17 NEET or not known: 5.9% ↔

ii. More young people in 
employment

Unemployment rate (16-24): 11.2%
Employment rate (16-24): 55.5%

↓
↑

iii. More people with access to 
housing who have experienced 
homelessness or rough sleeping

Number of rough sleepers (2021): 26
Number of households owed a statutory homelessness prevention or relief duty (over the 

quarter): 1,458

↑

↑

iv. Increased household incomes Gross disposable household income per head: £17,517 ↔

v. Improved levels of health and 
wellbeing

Healthy life expectancy at birth (female): 60.9 years
Healthy life expectancy at birth (male): 60.2 years

Mean average personal wellbeing estimate score on happiness measure (out of 10):
Halton: 7.31

Knowsley: 7.20
Liverpool: 7.13
Sefton: 7.21

St. Helens: 7.05
Wirral: 6.96

LCR (average of 6 LAs): 7.14

↔
↔

↔
↔
↔
↔
↔
↔
↔

FAIRER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 109



FAIRER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

Outcome Objectives 
by 2024 Latest Value Direction of Travel 

(from Q4 2021/22)

vi. Higher levels of 
employment and earnings 
for people with protected 
characteristics

Employment rate (male): 76.2%
Employment rate (female): 72.2%
Employment rate (Equality act or work limiting disability): 51.6%
Employment rate (no disability): 82.9%
Employment rate (Ethnic minority): 65.9%
Employment rate (White): 75.5% (confidence intervals overlap here so no gap can be said to be present)

Median hourly gross wage full-time (male): £15.55
Median hourly gross wage full-time (female): £14.28

↔
↑
↔
↑
↓
↑

↔
↔

vii. More people able to 
seek and sustain 
employment

Economic activity rate (16-64): 77.9%
Employment rate (16-64): 74.9%

↑
↑

viii. More people with 
qualifications

Level 4 (16-64): 39.4%
No Qualifications (16-64): 7.9%

↑
↑

ix. More people taking up 
apprenticeships Apprenticeship starts by LCR residents: 9,450 ↔

P
age 110



A STRONGER City Region – Quarter 2 2022/23 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this 
Priority is represented by 4 

Objectives, 11 Activities and 11 
Output Measures and 12 Outcome 

Measures

P
age 111



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

£150m COVID Recovery 
Fund G ↑

• An ongoing prioritisation activity and projects taken forward include MLEC (£20m), LYVA Labs phase 2 (£3m), Tech 
Accelerator (£5m), Hind St Acquisition (£2m), Growing Business (£1.5m), Eurovision £2m. Seed Fund £10m expected in 
Nov 22. £50m already committed. 

• Current CA approved budget shows £86m of disbursements including housing (excl. transport projects). A review of 
budgeted disbursements is underway.

• UKSPF Implementation Plan submitted in July 22. Chrysalis plan approved by the Oct 22 CA.

Community Wealth 
Building A ↔

• Scoping exercise undertaken. Potentially expanding community suppliers is part of an emerging Community Wealth 
Building Action Plan. Time is not right for a summit with anchor institutions.

• ‘Foundational' activities are part of the emerging Action Plan. Business Case to be strengthened for scoping exercise for 
a Community Bank.

Fair Employment Charter A ↔
• A number of employers have been approved at aspiring level to be announced in Nov 22.
• Accreditation process to be opened following announcement of aspiring employers with first applications to be 

considered Q4 22/23.

Social Value Framework A ↔

• CA signed off framework and delivery plan for 21/22.
• Social Value Delivery Panel launched in Apr 22. 
• All procured providers include a tender response regarding the social value impacts of delivering AEB for the current 

year. Social value to become a bigger part of reporting as the framework develops.
• Use of consultancy Framework is proving very difficult to collate and quantify. First annual review of social value to be 

completed mid-23.

Good Business Festival G ↔

• The Love Your Earth Workshops and Youth Summit helped more than 1,200 school children from across the LCR learn 
about sustainability from experts in the field. The final evaluation report has been submitted with project achieving 75% 
of the objectives set.

• Global pandemic impacted the planned delivery and overall performance against KPIs. Delivered 3 events across an 
extended project period; a digital event, a small physical event [DCMS covid pilot], and a physical 3 day event.

260k sqft of commercial 
space G ↔

• Target exceeded. New projects coming forward include Pall Mall Development (c. 110,000 sq ft) and flexible office space 
in Runcorn Station Quarter.

STRONGER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 112



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Develop business ecosystem G ↔

• Recovery plan projects to be delivered by 2024.
• 8 investments supported totalling £4.135m of £20m.
• Fund discussed at the Sept 22 Business & Innovation Delivery Board where it was agreed to extend River Capital's 

delivery contract until Dec 23.
• HGIF completed in Oct 22 having awarded 41 businesses funding support growth across six strategic priority areas.

Pipeline of innovation 
projects G ↔

• Innovation comms programme continues.
• Outputs include LaunchPad and UKRI summit. An "Inspiration" campaign to engage young people and to advocate on 

their behalf is  in train, plus links with S Korea via the prospectus translation.
• LYVA Labs Phase 2 signed off and in delivery. Successful in securing Innovate UK Launchpad pilot for advanced 

manufacturing which includes a share of £15m between LCR and Tees Valley.
• In dialogue with BEIS following exceptionally positive LCR place-based innovation visit.

Existing business support 
ecosystem G ↑

• LEP Integration Plan completed and submitted to central government. Work has commenced on Phase 2 of this plan 
in respect of Growth Platform and reviewing LEP boards.

• Working on portfolio priorities and objectives stalled due to Business Support work.

LCR Freeport Business Case A ↓

• FBC submitted, critical actions received and addressed.
• Critical action review ongoing.
• Final response from Government expected Oct 22. 
• Freeport Board meetings are operational. Freeport Team have been nominated for an award (Best New Comer) in 

the Mersey Maritime awards. 

Inward investment offer A ↔ • Inward Investment Strategy currently being considered by the Growth Platform.
• Approach to Inward Investment may need to take account of outcome of Investment Zones.

STRONGER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 113



NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

Amber ↓ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Purple ↔
SIF Gather project in delivery – BDO 
Resilience Fund closed Q4 21/22 - 
£20m Flexible Growth Fund - 8 
investments have been supported 
with £4.135m of funding – Peepl 
now in each borough – Kindred in 
delivery with 200 STOs supported – 
ERDF High Growth Programme 
supporting 40 businesses.

418k funded 101k funded 610k funded The announcement of the first 
successfully assessed employers at 
aspiring level is expected in Nov 22.  
Following this, applications for 
accredited level will be opened.

Discussions ongoing with other 
local authorities about possible 
models for a North West 
Community bank

Green ↑ Purple ↔ Green ↑ Amber ↔ Purple ↔

£305,000 will be made by DLUCH to 
CA to cover Freeport funding / set up 
costs.

Measure being reviewed The LCR Seed Fund project to be 
considered at Nov 22 CA asking to 
commit £10m to Fund in a Joint 
Partnership model with MSIF

30 conferences approved for funding 
against a target of 24, with 17 having 

already been delivered. Inward 
Investment Facilitation Fund is in 
delivery with 6 projects funded.

Inward Investment Facilitation Fund expanded to 
include large companies with strategically 
important inward investment opportunities. 
Freeports also part.

STRONGER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outputs Summary

P
age 114



NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

Outcome Objectives 
by 2024

Latest Value Direction of Travel 
(from Q4 2021/22)

i. A larger, more diverse 
business base

Count of local business units: 43,615
Proportion of total local business units with fewer than 50 employees: 97%

↓
↑

ii. More new businesses 
being created Business start-up rate: 14.4% ↔

iii. More businesses 
surviving

Five-year survival rate of enterprises born in 2017: 36.2%
One-year survival rate of enterprises born 2019: 89.3%

↔
↔

iv. A greater proportion of 
high growth firms

Proportion of active enterprises that are high growth businesses: 0.4%
Number of high growth businesses: 210

↔
↔

v. More good jobs created by 
our businesses

PAYE jobs (September 2022): 669,750
PAYE jobs (June 2022): 666,303

Median gross annual wage full-time: £30,000

↑

↔
vi. More jobs paying the 
Real Living Wage

Proportion of jobs earning below the real living wage, as defined by the Living Wage Foundation: 
17% ↔

STRONGER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 115



NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

Outcome Objectives 
by 2024

Latest Value Direction of Travel 
(from Q4 2021/22)

vii. A growing social 
economy To be developed as part of social value framework ↔

viii. Anchor institutions 
spending more money 
locally

To be developed as part of social value framework ↔

ix. Public and Private sector 
organisations spending more 
money on research and 
development

For businesses, in LCR it was 1.1% of GVA.
For non-business (government and HE), it was 0.7% of GVA.

↓
↑

x. Projected itself on an 
international stage as the 
most values-led economy

To be developed as part of social value framework ↔

xi. Contribute to increasing 
the Liverpool City Region’s 
share of UK FDI projects 
from 1.5% to 2%

18 new FDI projects in LCR
2% of all UK projects.

↑
↑

xii. Increased the share of 
R&D investment towards the 
target of 5% of GVA by 2027

Gross expenditure on research and development as a proportion of Gross Value Added: 1.8% ↔

STRONGER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 116



A CLEANER City Region – Quarter 2 2022/23 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority 
is represented by 4 Objectives, 12 

Activities and 7 Output Measures and 
8 Outcome Measures

P
age 117



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

An evidence-based plan to 
meet the city region’s Net 
Zero Carbon 2040 target 
(includes Air Quality Action 
Plan)

A ↔

• Developed Carbon Reduction Pathway.
• NZDB & CX have recommended an extended socialisation period with LAs and submission to March 23 CA has been 

proposed.
• Work with LAs to understand how we can support tackling Air Quality issues continues.
• Elements of AQAP will be incorporated into CAP where feasible. Review of Climate Action Plan was completed in 

June 2022 with an independent review carries out by Monitoring and Evaluation team.
• LCR Net Zero Plan being drafted with publication in Q4.

More heat networks, to 
provide energy efficient heat 
and hot water A ↔

• Several studies are underway but the concept of heat networks is difficult to co-ordinate so at present so limited 
success in establishing new ones.

• Working on Heat Innovation Pilot to support new legislation to mandate heat networks. Successful trial in Wirral. 
Other proposals being worked up but industry resistance until legislation passed. Strong pipeline of projects 
developed.

A pipeline of strategic, and 
community focussed green 
infrastructure projects across 
all local authorities

R ↓

• Work has been stalled whilst policy framework is being developed to support production of a robust pipeline 
process.

New interventions to create 
more green jobs - working 
with the Built Environment 
and Clean Growth sector 
boards

A ↓

• Publication of Low Carbon Skills for Growth Action Plan in Q3.
• Continue to support Green Construction Skills and promoted recent funding announcement with skills team.
• All local companies contacted to encourage sign up to deliver Solar Together delivery. 

CLEANER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 118



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

The full business case for the 
Mersey Tidal Project

A ↔

• The ability to fund and authorise the Development Expenditure in the region of £70m for Consenting, engineering 
and procurement of Construction bids (but not Award) is still unproven. Discussed with ELT on 5 Oct 22.

• Energy Security and political support are growing for more renewable schemes in UK to meet Net Zero Electricity 
by 2030/32.

• Wintering, Migrating and Breeding Birds surveys commenced Oct 2021. Consenting Plan and Desktop studies for 
priority ecology procurement completed and Awarded.

• Conversations with Statutory Consultees commenced - Necessity to commence procurement for EIA lead to avoid 
schedule slippage. NOTE - Phase 4 has not commenced and all work is preparatory.  

The business case for the City 
Region’s production, storage 
and utilisation of hydrogen

A ↔

• Green Hydrogen vision discussed at Net Zero Board and Climate & Renewable Energy Portfolio Board and approval 
to proceed.

• Procurement for Consultant commenced. LAs approached for their lead officers. External Green Hydrogen studies 
will not report until Jan 2023 earliest.

A Liverpool City Region 
housing retrofit programme

A ↔

• Final extension to September 22, LAD2 programme is now closed. Spent all £10m capital and attracted another 
almost £4m capital to deliver 1,356 home improvements.

• Sustainable Warmth Fund being re-worked and almost back on track.
• Successfully applied for additional £1m capital for Sefton Council. CA contractor (Everwarm) not performing to 

target but have additional staff on project now and appointed second contractor to support retrofit assessments 
and co-ordination. Further additional funding likely to be sought from national underspend. 

A city region wide public 
buildings decarbonisation 
pipeline and bid for funding 
to deliver.

A ↔

• Very few projects ready in city region but support through NW Net Zero Hub to several projects which did submit in 
September.

• With success of Low Carbon Skills Fund bid, there will be around 52 LA/CA owned buildings in next round.
• Internal working group established for CA estate and first building underway for completion in January 23. 

Consultants appointed for next tranche of buildings to develop individual strategies. CA estates utilities have been 
baselined. Sub-metering is being installed and automated reporting is configured.

CLEANER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 119



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

The Green Bus Routes 
Programme to improve bus 
journeys on key corridors  G ↔

• Concerns remain with engagement and support on 10/10A Bus route.  However, the project currently remains on 
programme.

• Prescot bus station is completed (the first GBR measure).
• KPMG appointed as auditors for 10A route measures. Consultation completed for options appraisal on 86 route and 

consultation ongoing for 53 route. Commenced public consultation exercise for 86 & 53 Green Bus Routes.

The Hydrogen Bus project 
deploying the first fleet of 20 
hydrogen buses

G ↔
• First Hydrogen bus has begun manufacture with delivery of first bus in October.

A plan to increase the 
number of electric vehicle 
charging points in the city 
region

A ↔

• Elements of strategy now overtaken by development of Green Hydrogen Strategy and Zero Emission Bus Strategy in 
respect of future ZEBRA funding.

• Guidance awaited from DfT on possible need to include EV strategy in LTP4. Evidence base compiled on state of the 
EV market in the Liverpool City Region.

• LCRCA bid for pilot funding from LEVI in June 2022 was not successful.  Feedback received and has accelerated 
informal engagement with EV delivery partners.

Options for a local vehicle 
scrappage scheme aligned to 
our air quality action plan 

A ↔
• Baseline data and evidence assembled and paper developed on pros and cons of a local scrappage scheme.  

Recommendation is that a local scheme would come at high cost and deliver only limited carbon benefits.

CLEANER – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 120



Green ↑ No data available Green ↑ Amber ↔ Amber ↔ No data 
available Green ↔

1546

Updated figures on 
emissions from BEIS 
annually in June each 
year split by local 
authority and by 

Combined Authority 
for each of the main 
areas of carbon 

emissions. Due to the 
complexity of 

gathering emission 
information, this is 

provided two years in 
lag (so in June 2022, 
we received 2019 
emissions data)

None operating  but 
procurement process 
completed. Contract 
to build LCR's first 20 
hydrogen fuel cell 
buses awarded to 
ADL in June 2021. 

Delivery commences 
Q4 2022/23

The first Hydrogen 
refuelling facility in LCR 

became operational at the 
end of September 

supporting St Helens’ 
Hydrogen Refuse 

Collection Vehicle. Second 
Hydrogen facility, also in St 

Helens, will become 
operational in Q3 to 

support the LCR Hydrogen 
Bus project. Technical 
evaluation on Hydrogen 
and Electric Vehicle 

infrastructure options to 
support the principle LCR 
Freeport sites undertaken 
as part of a UKRI Net Zero 

bid. 

Several studies 
underway but the 
concept of heat 
networks is very 
difficult to co-

ordinate. Working 
on Heat 

Innovation Pilot in 
LCC to support 

new legislation to  
mandate heat 

networks. Success 
in Wirral re. Heat 

Network.

Updated figures on 
emissions from BEIS 
annually in June 
each year split by 
local authority and 

by Combined 
Authority for each 
of the main areas of 
carbon emissions. 

Due to the 
complexity of 

gathering emission 
information, this is 
provided two years 
in lag (so in June 
2022, we received 
2019 emissions 

data)

Two schemes to this standard in 
new BFL pipeline for 

consideration at November CA

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

CLEANER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outputs Summary

P
age 121



Outcome Objectives by 
2024 Latest Value Direction of Travel 

(from Q4 2021/22)

i. Increased the number of green jobs 
by 15%  Figures will become available as the Net Zero project progresses ↔

ii. Attracted a further £500m 
investment in zero carbon 
infrastructure

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement awarded us £750 million already, as well as 
funds for housing through LAD.  Further data will become available as Net Zero delivery 

progresses
↔

iii. Reduced Carbon emissions by 35% 
in line with the Net Zero 2040 Plan Local land based carbon emission estimate: 6,869 kt CO2 ↔

iv. Increased levels of regular cycling

Proportion of adults cycling at least once a week –
Halton: 7.3%

Knowsley: 3.9%
Liverpool: 7.0%
Sefton: 10.9%
St. Helens: 5.8%
Wirral: 5.2%

Merseyside (LCR excl. Halton): 6.9%

↑
↓
↓
↓
↓
↓
↓

v. Increased levels of regular walking

Proportion of adults walking at least once a week -
Halton: 66.4%

Knowsley: 52.9%
Liverpool: 67.8%
Sefton: 70.0%

St. Helens: 69.5%
Wirral: 71.1%

Merseyside (LCR excl. Halton): 67.6%

↑
↓
↑
↑
↑
↓
↔

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

CLEANER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 122



Outcome Objectives by 
2024 Latest Value Direction of Travel 

(from Q4 2021/22)

vi. Increased the number of accessible 
cycling and walking routes 

April to September 2022 - 2km additional cycle way delivered 
and 6.42ha improved habitat delivered

Cycle routes in LCR – 344km
↑

vii. Improved the efficiency of public 
buildings by 25%

Baseline of 624 public operational buildings in the LCR offering 76,899 TCO2
Project bid to improve public buildings efficiency to be submitted by Sept/Oct 23  ↔

viii. Improved air quality

Micrograms of fine particulate matter per meter cubed of air:

Halton: 5.2
Knowsley: 5.7
Liverpool: 5.9
Sefton: 5.0
St. Helens: 5.3
Wirral: 4.9

↓
↓
↓
↓
↓
↓

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

CLEANER - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 123



A CONNECTED City Region – Quarter 2 2022/23 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority is 
represented by 3 Objectives, 15 Activities 
and 6 Output Measures and 7 Outcome 

MeasuresP
age 124



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

212km full-fibre network A ↓

• Network build continues in all six boroughs with circa 75km of PIA installations completed and over 53km of the new ducting 
and chambers built. Around 14.5km of fibre cable deployed.

• All dig-once schemes been completed as part of the original contract commitments for the JV. Revisions to the business plan 
ongoing to recognise build delays and slower sales performance. The original business plan being re-profiled to accommodate 
lower value L1 sales. Customers activity grows across the network, with various connectivity contracts being fulfilled. 

City Region Digital Strategy G ↔ • The fibre-optic cables have been installed in both tunnels. Bus requirements of the LCRCA's digital transformation project is on 
track.

London Style Transport 
Plan A ↔

• Draft structure developed by Policy Team and awaiting design and issue via Comms team.

Upgrade Smart Ticketing 
System R ↓

• App has not been delivered and revised schedule set for early Oct 22, but again not met due to delays with sub contractor. 
Work on-going to mitigate delay.

• Work to migrate Trio to Smart has been delayed due to a delay in the zonal review. This has been mitigated via a funding 
agreement with MEL to progress.

• Tap and Go Arriva live in Oct 22 and MEL procurement on-going.

Digitalising concessionary 
travel G ↔

• Web-based application and renewal process for Mersey Tunnels Fast Tag Concessions established.
• Delivery of Bus elements of the LCR's fares and ticketing programme completed. Rail element ongoing. 

Bus Reform and Bus Service 
Improvement Plan A ↔

• Initial meeting with LCRCA Procurement team held and programme produced for procurement element of Bus Reform 
Independent Audit.

• Approach for Wirral Network Review agreed and tender for consultation partner out.
• Network review timescales for 2023-26 set.
• £2 capped fare scheme launched in Sept 22.
• Provision of Supported Bus Services Policy being reviewed in line with the BSIP network design principles.
• Passenger Charter development ongoing. 

CONNECTED – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 125



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Merseyrail for All programme A ↔

• A combination of resource challenges and delayed publication of LTP4 has delayed the start of work on the LTRS review. 
Timescales to be revised.

• Motts appointed to complete the review of the Station Assessment tool and deliverables.
• Paper to be produced outlining outcomes of recent TramTrain solution studies and options for next steps.
• Business cases have been developed for Liverpool Central and Baltic are underway.
• Potential schemes being developed such as IPEMU extensions and possible new stations for Q4 23.
• Assessment of current status of accessibility at all Merseyrail stations underway.
• 10 stations are being developed and have been submitted for Access for All funding.

Local Transport Plan A ↔

• Initial evidence base produced and Vision and Goals document developed.
• Public engagement undertaken over the spring and summer.
• Preferred strategy to be developed following delays and calibrating transport model to run "do minimum" scenarios.
• Slippage expected on final strategy due to delays in calibrating model and delay in publication of guidance by DfT.

Devolution of transport 
Infrastructure R ↓

• MoU drafted but held up by change in Secretary of State for Transport.
• Recent legislation for formation of GBR been significantly delayed.
• Merseytravel working to develop Investment Plan covering 2024-29. Liaison with TfN, DfT and others continues.
• LCR involvement in NPR programme much reduced following Integrated Rail Plan.
• Freight stakeholder engagement continues. Paper outlining the asset renewal plan developed.

Rolling Stock programme A ↔

• Agreement reached to enable testing for 1 unit in early Dec 22.
• Due to long lead times on key items and the challenge of securing access to the railway for construction,  completion of 

first route of late Dec and will not meet the date for this route. Fallback plans have been developed to ensure that 
passengers are unaware of any delay.

• Construction work is on-going with 10 of the 31 sites complete.
• Works to Liverpool Central (Northern Line) is planned to take place in Nov 22.
• Independently Powered Electric Multiple-Unit being tested. 

CONNECTED – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 126



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

£172.5m Transforming Cities Fund A ↔

• Green Bus Routes, St Helens Southern Gateway, Headbolt Lane Gateway, Access for All and Birkenhead Central Gateway  
and Hybus progressing.

• Halton Cycle Network scheme is due to start Nov 22.
• Phase 2 LCR Cycle Network design scheme continues to be developed. Phase 1 delivery progressing.
• KRN non-highway programme works approved and works to commence by April 23.
• DfT decided not to fund new rail station for Skelmersdale.
• Liverpool Central GRIP 3 work close to completion.
• Liverpool Baltic progressing.
• Prescot Station work delivered.
• Sandhills Station progressing well.

£350m capital transport pipeline G ↔

• Development funding allocated to project sponsors.
• Work for City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements (CRSTS) completed.
• Supported development of business case for Key Route Network Programme and Baltic Station Full Business Case brief.
• Work underway to develop one integrated LCRCA pipeline that includes all areas and projects.
• The capital programme is being finalised. New projects are being developed so ready to go when funding available.
• Birkenhead Bus Station project "paused" at the request of Wirral MBC.
• Designs for St Helens Bus Station progressing well.

Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan A ↔

• Member Engagement for Phase 3 LCWIP route selection delayed due to delay in consultation tender.
• Most LA's delivered Active Travel Fund 2 schemes but few schemes delayed.
• Some schemes are now costing much more than originally anticipated due to the increase in material costs.
• LAs Phase 3 LCWIP development of design and feasibility progressing.

Mersey Ferry Strategy A ↔ • Replacement vessel procurement delayed but now progressing.
• Plans for Woodside progressing and work in preparation for Eureka opening completed.

Tunnels strategy A ↓

• A range of major schemes are being developed to improve the safety and operation of the Kingsway tunnel.
• Byelaws amended, and awaiting formal reporting.
• New office accommodation  at Plazas completed.
• Pilot for AVC complete with automated trial in place and performing well.

CONNECTED – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 127



Green ↔ Amber ↔ Amber ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔

50km of civils build completed
75km PIA installed incl. Silver 

Jubilee Bridge

Merseytravel Provisionally 
Accepted all 17 units 
currently in the U.K. 

Delivery of the remaining 
units to the U.K. and 

Acceptance will be taking 
place between late 2022 

and early 2024.  
Manufacturing of the  7 

No Independently 
Powered Electric Multiple-
Units (IPEMU’s) is ongoing.

• Liverpool Central Station at 
GRIP Stage 3 – AMBER

• Liverpool St James at GRIP 
Stage 4 – AMBER

• Headbolt Lane – GREEN

2 projects approved this 
quarter:

KRN strategic maintenance
LCWIP phase 2: (Runcorn-

Daresbury)

5 projects incl. -
Headbolt Lane Rail Station 
IPEMU Battery train trials 

Hydrogen Buses  
LCR Walking Cycling network 

– Phase 2 
LCR Smart Ticketing

24 projects incl. - 
LCWIP Ph 2&3,Liverpool Baltic 

Rail Station (St James), 
Birkenhead Central Gateway, St 
Georges Gateway, Cross River 
Connectivity, Ropewalks Ph 2, 
Runcorn Station Quarter, 

Runcorn Busway Active Travel 
Corridor, Green Bus Corridors 
(86, 10A & 53), St Helens Town 
Centre Multimodal Interchange, 

M57 J4 Active Travel 
Improvements, Stanley Dock Rail 

Access (Sandhills).

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

CONNECTED - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outputs Summary

P
age 128



Outcome Objectives by 
2024 Latest Value Direction of Travel 

(from Q4 2021/22)

i. Increased the number of 
premises with access to gigabit-
capable broadband

Proportion of residential premises with gigabit broadband capability: 70% ↔

ii. Improved business density and 
productivity

Number of businesses (local units) per 10k working age residents: 549
Nominal GVA per hour worked (unsmoothed): £32.60

↔
↑

iii. Increased patronage on public 
transport to pre-COVID levels

Merseyrail patronage – 86.83% of Pre-Covid levels (Apr 22 to Sept 22)
Tunnel Throughput – 2.14m per month (Pre-Covid 2.3m)

↑
↑

iv. Improved satisfaction with 
public transport

Overall journey satisfaction on bus (LCR area): 92% (2019)
Overall journey satisfaction on rail (Merseyrail): 91%

↔
↑

v. Improved affordability of public 
transport

Data only available from 2019 with a baseline of 2012.
Motoring Costs – 88; Tunnel Tolls – 129; RPI – 119, Merseyrail – 123; Northern (City Line) – 126; 
Ferries Commuter – 175; Commercial Bus – 110; 2012 Baseline – 100; Benchmark (RPI +1%) – 

120,  Fast Tag – 77; Tunnels Average – 104

↔

vi. Improved punctuality and 
reliability of public transport

Bus Punctuality – 85.89% (Target 88% - Apr 21 to Sep 22)
Merseyrail Punctuality – 96.74 PMM% (Target 91% - Apr 21 to Sep 22)

Ferries Availability – 96.73% (197 cancellations)

↓
↔
↑

vii. More people with access to 
faster and more reliable digital 

connectivity
Superfast broadband take-up (all premises): 62% ↔

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

CONNECTED - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 129



A VIBRANT City Region – Quarter 2 2022/23 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority is 
represented by 3 Objectives, 8 Activities 
and 5 Output Measures and 7 Outcome 

MeasuresP
age 130



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Brownfield Land Fund A ↔

• Strong pipeline of sites with three already started on site; 42% of housing outputs required already in GFAs.
• Slow progress on a number of mainly LA led projects so refreshed pipeline going to CA for consideration in Nov 22.
• Spend behind profile but DLUHC aware and focussed on commitment.
• Three sites have draft SOBC in progress.
• Brownfield Land funding in to Investment Zones is a concern as IZs could use up all funding and none of three sites 

named are in Investment Zones.
• Partnership working with the LCR Design Champion includes a competition regarding the design of vacant terraces in 

the LCC. All Design funding has now been spent.

Town Centre Place-Making G ↔
• CA approval for Southport Events Centre received Oct 22. GFA to be signed by Dec 22.
• All Towns Fund business plans completed. Some spend profile delayed but all complete within 22/23 financial year.
• Bootle Area Plan production behind programme but regeneration action plans progressing and Levelling Up fund bid 

submitted. 

Visitor attractions in our 
ownership B ↑

• Works completed to support Eureka. Landing Stage works completed expected opening of the terminal is Oct 22 
(delivered).

• Developing the Woodside Ferry Terminal offer to promote cross river ferry services by March 23.

Cultural Compact Plan A ↔

• Plan being revised to reflect new priorities and actions following the completion of the original 18 month short term 
action plan. Completed Q3.

• Cultural Partnership membership is to be refreshed and re-launched to inform the new plan. Expect to complete Q3.
• Echo Region Live page complete with the last page published on 30 Sept.
• LA Culture leads to review the impact of the initiative and to explore alternatives including within an existing online 

platform with an established provider. This could provide a consistent platform for 1% for Culture programmes.
• Formal letter issued by CA to LCC to approve the  second tranche of funding (£1.6m) to deliver phase 2 of LCR Music 

Industry Development Pilot. Some concerns over the time to gain legal / procurement sign off so that activities can 
commence. 

VIBRANT – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 131



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Visitor Economy Recovery Strategy G ↔
• Established phased return targets for The Beatles Story and Mersey Ferries attractions.
• Opening of Eureka supported.
• Integration of functions of the LEP into the CA has to be confirmed.

Spatial Development Strategy G ↔ • Our Places 3 to be delayed until next summer to establish a better understanding of the Government's 
new planning agenda. Programme dependent on outcome of this.

LCR brand strategy G ↔

• Agreement and adoption of Internationalisation Strategy completed and discussions started with the 
Growth Platform to agree scope of review.

• Discussions underway with the Irish Consul General and GMCA for 2023. Likely to see a number of other 
visits (starting with Minister Brophy in October).

• Joint LCR/GM Mayors invite to Michael Martin and Leo Varadkar sent for Nov 22.
• Discussions with German Embassy re. visit by the new Ambassador, likely in Nov 22.
• Accompanying Programme delivered for the MM in Berlin in September, covering levelling up and 

vocational training.

Public land assets and Land 
Commission A ↔

• Land Commission has regular reports to H&SPB. Original pilot sites not progressed and now looking for a 
new pilot site working with the Merseytravel Asset Management team

VIBRANT – Quarter 2 2022-23 CA Plan Activity Updates

P
age 132



Amber ↔ Green ↑ Green ↑ Green ↔

Six GFAs were awaiting 
signing by end of 
September with 
cumulative total £29m.

New pipeline for 
consideration at 
November CA due to 
scheme delays and 
reduced grant 
requirements.

In GFAs for 2,254 homes 
with 482 homes still 
started on site.

The whole £60m BFL 
programme is set to 
deliver at least 3,960 
homes.

Mersey Ferries River Explorer = 
139,998
Commuters = 16,967

Total = 156,965

Beatles Story Visitor numbers = 
69,637

Total Spend 21/22 & 22/23 (In 
Quarter Spend shown in brackets)
Mayoral Town Centres =            
£3,558,007 (£686,524)
Strand Shopping Centre =        
£306,527 (£75,658)
Shakespeare Playhouse =    
£8,258,623 (£778,071)
Bootle AAP =
£39,880 (£0)
Southport TCC =
£26,943 (£5,187)
Prescot Shopping Centre = 
£22,320 (£22,320)                                    
Total = £16,647,542 (£3,188,089)

Green ↑

• Refurbished 365sqm Educational floorspace by 
Music Industry Development Pilot

• Refurbished 365 sqm Commercial floorspace by 
Music Industry Development Pilot

• Activity for phase two delivery of business support 
has not yet commenced. 82 businesses will  receive 
focused/specialist IAG. Formal letter issued to LCC 
for second tranche of funding (£1.6m) but concerns 
over  LCC gaining legal / procurement sign off.

• Phase 2 includes target of 30 schools in most 
deprived areas of the LCR, working with 45 specialist 
teachers and aiming to deliver specialist careers 
advice to 2,000 KS4 (age 14+) children using 
combination of live and online events (in addition to 
500 in Phase 1 – 10 schools and 15 specialist 
teachers) by March 23

• Talent Development (Music Industry focus) 
delivered

• Int Student Welcome 2022 in delivery - figures to be 
captured end Q3

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

VIBRANT - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outputs Summary

P
age 133



Outcome Objectives by 
2024 Latest Value Direction of Travel 

(from Q4 2021/22)

i. Increased the number of new, 
affordable, quality housing

Number of houses completed: 4080
Housing affordability ratio: 5.67 

Median house price, year ending March 2022: £168,000
Median annual gross full-time wage 2021: £30,000

↑
↔
↓
↔

ii. Improved the quality and choice 
of homes

Proportion of EPCs carried out with an energy efficiency rating of C or above: 40%
Owned dwelling: 60%

Private rented dwellings: 18%
Social rented dwellings: 22%

↑
↔
↔
↔

iii. Improved access to natural 
assets

Average distance to nearest park or public garden (metres):
Halton: 338
Knowsley: 286
Liverpool: 275
Sefton: 335
St. Helens: 280
Wirral: 327 

↔
↔
↔
↔
↔
↔

iv. Reduced the proportion of LCR’s 
communities in the 10% most 
deprived nationally

Proportion of LSOAs in the 10% most deprived in England: 34% ↔

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

VIBRANT - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 134



Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value
Direction of Travel 
(from Q4 
2021/22)

v. Reduced vacancy rates in our City and 
town centres

Current Vacancy Rates (October 2022)
Halton: 11.6%

Knowsley: 13.1%
Liverpool: 10.3%
Sefton: 11.6%

St. Helens: 10.5%
Wirral: 11.3%

Liverpool City Region: 10.8%

New data
New data
New data
New data
New data
New data
↓

vi. Returned to Pre-COVID levels of 
visitor numbers across the city region 
Net additional visitor days: 150,000 Net 
additional visitor days: 200,000 Net 
additional visitor days: 250,000

Overall visitors (2019): 67.38 million
Overall visitors (2020): 26.14 million
Overall visitors (2021): 42.15 million

↑

vii. Returned to Pre-COVID levels of 
visitor spend Net additional GVA: £25m 
Net additional GVA: £35m Net 
additional GVA: £50m

Overall tourism value (2019): £4.93 billion
Overall tourism value (2020): £2.10 billion
Overall tourism value (2021): £3.58 billion

↑

NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond and are reported bi-annually

VIBRANT - Quarter 2 2022-23 Outcomes Summary

P
age 135



Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Project is 
represented by 7 Activities and

 25 Actions/Milestones

Developing our Organisation (DoO) – Quarter 2 2022/23

P
age 136



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Leadership & Management 
Development G ↑

5 Actions; 1 Amber / 2 Green / 2 Blue - First Report Writing course developed. Future modules are in 
development. Mentoring scheme successfully completed. Subsequent scheme going live Jan 23. Coaching 
available. Senior leadership development programme being evaluated and phase 2 in discussion Team leader 
development programme in development. LCR OD Network convened with OD leads from constituent LAs. 
Developing proposals for joint working focused on Leadership and Management Development

New Ways of Working G ↔

4 Actions; 1 Green / 2 Blue / 1 Amber - Space booking system is live with improved video conferencing facilities. 
The digital screens project has paused due to budget availability. Proof of Concept areas rolled out in Mann Island 
and floor development complete. Meeting Etiquette launched via Connect: Live. New ways of working toolkit 
issued in September. Consultation is ongoing for new approaches to flexible working 

Our People G ↔ 3 Actions; 1 Green / 2 Blue - JE is up and running and now part of BAU. HR transformation scope is complete and 
HR transformation project is in progress

Employee Engagement G ↔
4 Actions; 2 Green / 2 Blue - Leadership and Listening events are planned for rest of year. Planning is underway for 
the next employee survey. The date was changed to allow more time between the pulse survey and the next full 
survey. Employee Celebration Event delivered. Most plans received regarding staff survey improvement plans

Developing our Organisation (DoO) – Quarter 2 2022/23

DoO Activity Updates
NB: DoO will be closed-down in November and will not report from Quarter 3 onwards

P
age 137



CA Plan Activity RAG Headlines

Stakeholder Engagement G ↑
3 Actions; 1 Amber / 1 Blue / 1 Purple – There are challenges relating to stakeholder mapping. Next phase of CRM on 
hold pending digital transformation work. Recommendations for improvement of Portfolio boards and LA engagement 
implemented. 

Managing performance 
and delivery G ↔

3 Actions; 1 Amber / 1 Blue / 1 Purple – Revised performance reporting progressing following move of Performance 
Team to the EIR Service Area. All delivery boards operational and are now BAU. Procurement of a corporate 
performance management system on hold but engagement is continuing via the current procurement process.

Digital Transformation G ↔
3 Actions; 1 Green / 2 Blue - Stakeholder engagement and workshop sessions complete. Digital Transformation 
implementation roadmap and plan now part of business transformation  and work has started to deliver the plan 
including market engagement for new back office systems and procuring a partner for cloud transformation

Developing our Organisation (DoO) – Quarter 2 2022/23

DoO Activity Updates

P
age 138



Report Title Fair Employment Charter: Implementation and 
Next Steps  
  

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Education, Skills, Equality 
and Diversity and the Portfolio Holder for Policy 
Reform and Resources  
 

Summary of report This report provides an overview of the 
development and an update on the 
implementation of the Fair Employment Charter, 
with an outline of next steps, for consideration 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

No  

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √ 

A Stronger City Region  √ 

A Cleaner City Region   

A Connected City Region   

A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.2 

Social Value implications  
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.3 
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications Yes, see paragraph 4.4 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 4.5 
 

Privacy implications 
 

Yes, privacy and fair processing notices in place 
as per paragraph 4.6 
  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.7 

Page 139

Agenda Item 6



Contact Officers Rob Tabb, Policy Lead: employment and Skills 
(07795 497441) 
Tim Moore, Principal Employment and Skills 
officer (07818 437475)  
 

Appendices Yes – Analysis of approved employers  
 

Background Documents No 

 

  

Page 140



LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Thursday, 19 January 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director: Policy, Strategy and Government Relations and 
the Portfolio Holders for Education, Skills, Equality & Diversity and Policy Reform 

and Resources 
 

FAIR EMPLOYMENT CHARTER: IMPLEMENTATION AND NEXT STEPS  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee of the implementation of the Fair Employment Charter and identify the 
next steps for action. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee: 
 

(a) consider the update provided on the development and implementation of the 
Fair Employment Charter; and 

(b) request a regular update on implementation to be provided to future 
meetings of the Committee. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 

Development 
 
3.1 The Fair Employment Charter is referenced in the Corporate Plan, development 

commenced in 2019..  An initial consultation process was undertaken in early 2019 
with a view to identifying key areas and priorities for a charter. Feedback suggested 
areas to prioritise included fair pay, stability of hours, flexible working and access to 
training in addition to other important elements of employment activity notably 
equality and diversity and opportunities for young people.  

 
3.2 A Reference Panel of key stakeholders was established to develop a Charter. 

Learning was sought and shared from other organisations with similar ambitions 
and charters, including Greater Manchester and the Greater London Authority. In 
Autumn 2019 a draft framework was published focusing on 3 key pillars Fair, 
Inclusive, and Just. It was also proposed to have 3 levels of the Charter; Aspiring, 
Accredited and Ambassador to offer an appropriate engagement point, and clear 
path to all organisations who shared the ambitions and aims of the Charter.  

 
3.3 A consultation on this framework was commenced in early 2020 – however this was 

paused during the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, with the development of 
the Charter beginning again in Autumn 2020.   Further work was undertaken in the 

Page 141



light of findings from the shortened consultation process including the specific 
inclusion of a “Healthy” pillar in response to COVID-19, specific reference to 
homeworking and the strengthening of Equality and Diversity elements to include 
evidence of proactive commitment to action in this area.  Draft proposals were 
shared with key stakeholders including local authorities and a further consultation 
undertaken in Winter 2020. The final framework was agreed by the Combined 
Authority in January 2021 with a launch in Spring 2021. 
 
Assessment 

 
3.4 In order to implement and deliver the Charter effectively a pilot assessment process 

was developed and considered with a small number of organisations invited to be 
taken through the assessment and application process as part of a Test and Learn 
approach.   A Senior Fair Employment Charter Officer was recruited in Autumn 
2021 beginning full time in January 2022.   

 
3.5 This role supported the development of an online application process for 

Employers, proactive face to face conversations with potential applicants and the 
formalisation of assessment practices and procedures to underpin delivery. 

 
3.6 Delivery of these processes began in Spring 2022 with an announcement of the first 

tranche of Aspiring Members taking place in November 2022.  Currently 64 
applications have been approved with 90 having been received, exceeding the 
corporate target of 25 for 2022/23.  Analysis of the successful employers can be 
found at Appendix One. 

 
Link to procurement 

 
3.7 Work has been undertaken with colleagues in Procurement and Legal and 

Democratic services to develop a robust and constitutionally sound assessment and 
application process balancing capacity considerations, integrity of the aims of the 
charter and transparency and ease of use for applicants and those involved in 
assessing applications. 

 
3.8 Officers are currently working on potential options for using Combined Authority 

funding and procurement as levers to grow membership of the Charter. 
 
3.9 A number of key projects, initially LCR Connects, Brownfield Land sites work and 

the Adult Education Budget Commissioning process invited interested organisations 
to consider engaging with the Charter as one potential way to demonstrate social 
value obligations, and a shared commitment to the aims of the Combined Authority. 
A number of organisations have applied as a result and this engagement invitation 
is now extended to all opportunities on the  Chest, the procurement portal.  

 
3.10 Organisations on the Community Suppliers list and Straegic Investment Fund 

recipients have also been contacted and invited to engage and work is ongoing to 
invite all organisations with a supplier relationship with the Combined Authority  to 
apply. 

 
3.11 A number of opportunities have also been taken to mainstream awareness of the 

Charter across other Departments and Directorates in the Combined Authority , and 
constituent authorities, and identify areas where the Charter can support wider 

Page 142



objectives and other programmes – for example the Economies for Healthy Lives 
programme. Significant engagement has been undertaken with Health partners 
across City Region with a view to the Charter assisting in driving outcomes within 
the All Together Fairer programme (see https://champspublichealth.com/all-
together-fairer/). 
 
Next steps 

 
3.12 Work continues to increase the number of Aspiring Level applications, and 

employers will be invited to apply at the Accredited level in 2023. Running 
concurrently with this will be the development of an Ambassador level framework, 
currently expected to support truly excellent, leading and innovative practice in a 
particular area or theme of the Charter and employment activity – for example 
Mental Health support in the workplace, or Equality and Diversity activity.  

 
3.13  The Combined Authority is also supporting a number of colleagues in partner 

regions with developing their own charters. It is noted that there is value in 
streamlining processes where possible with some organisations operating across 
regional boundaries. Discussions are ongoing about how this can be considered in 
practice whilst maintaining localised accountability, priorities and delivery. 

 
3.14 A programme of activities has been developed for 2023 to raise awareness of the 

Charter, offer the opportunity for members of the Charter to assist in this whilst 
sharing peer to peer best practice, and widen the overall benefits to employers of 
being Charter members. 
 

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

Delivery of the Fair Employment Charter is highlighted as a critical component 
within the Fairer City Region objective of the Corporate Plan and supporting the 
delivering the Stronger City Region. 

 
 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 

 
4.2 Equality and Diversity  
 

Equality and Justice are key strands in the Charter where applicants need to 
demonstrate evidence of delivery and impact. 

 
4.3 Social Value 
 

 Accreditation against the Fair Employment Charter is included within the Combined 
Authority’s Social Value Framework as an example of how organisations are able to 
demonstrate social value locally. 

 
 
 
 

Page 143

https://champspublichealth.com/all-together-fairer/
https://champspublichealth.com/all-together-fairer/


4.4 Information Technology 
 
The development of online tools to support the application and assessment process 
are included within the overall IT Development Plan for the Combined Authority. 
 

4.5 Risks and Mitigation  
  

 There is a risk register for the implementation of the Fair Employment Charter which 
sets out key risks and relevant mitigation actions. 

 
4.6 Privacy  
 

There is a privacy and fair processing notices available on the Combined Authority’s 
website which set out how these implications and processes will be dealt with. 

 
4.7 Communication and Consultation  
 
  There is a clear approach to communication and planned events which has been 

agreed with both Corporate and Mayoral Communications Teams. 
 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1. This report has provided an update to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 

implementation of the Fair Employment Charter and identify the next steps for 
action. 

 
 

KIRSTY MCLEAN 
Executive Director Policy, Strategy and 

Government Relations   

MAYOR JOANNE ANDERSON AND THE 
METRO MAYOR, STEVE ROTHERAM  
Portfolio Holders for Education, Skills, 

Equality & Diversity and Policy. Reform & 
Resources  

  
 

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix One – Analysis of approved employers  
 
 

Page 144



APPENDIX ONE 
 
ANALYSIS OF APPROVED EMPLOYERS 
 
 

Location Number of Businesses 
Contacted  

Number of Businesses 
Approved at Aspiring  

Halton 12 4 

Knowsley 17 3 

Liverpool 156 37 

Multiple 12 0 

Sefton 25 5 

St Helens 26 3 

Wirral 35 10 

Outside the City Region 13 2 

Total 296 64 

 
The table below shows the different Business Sectors which have expressed an interest in 
becoming part of the Fair Employment Charter, the 5 most popular business sectors are 
highlighted in green. 
 

Type of Business Total  Formally Approved 
Businesses 

Accountancy Banking and Finance 4 1 

Business Consultancy & Management 8 4 

Charity & Volunteer Work 51 11 

Creative Arts and Design 2 0 

Energy & Utilities 3 1 

Engineering 6 1 

Environment and Agriculture 5 1 

Garage Services 1 0 

Healthcare 14 4 

Hospitality & Events Management 10 0 

Information Technology 3 1 

Legal & Court Services 6 0 

Leisure Sport & Tourism 8 2 

Manufacturing & Production 11 1 

Marketing Advertising & PR 5 2 

Media & Internet 5 1 

Performing Arts 3 0 

Property & Construction 27 4 

Public Services & Admin 11 9 

Recruitment & HR 3 0 

Retail 14 2 

Science and Pharmaceuticals 6 1 

Security and Protective Services 3 0 

Social Sciences and Religion 19 0 

Social Work & Caring 13 5 

Teacher Training & Education 43 9 

Transport & Logistics 12 4 

Total 296 64 

Page 145



 
 
If you are currently working with Business Sectors who would benefit from becoming part 
of the Fair Employment Charter then please ask them to contact 
fairemployment@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk for further details of how to sign up. 
 
Please click on the link below to see the gallery of all the Organisations so far who have 
added their voice to the Fair Employment Charter and have been formally approved at the 
Aspiring Level of the Charter  
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/fair-employment-charter-aspiring-level/ 
 

Page 146

mailto:fairemployment@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/fair-employment-charter-aspiring-level/


Report Title Appointment to the Audit and Governance 
Committee  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Not Applicable  

Summary of report To seek nomination from the Committee for one 
member to sit on the Combined Authority’s Audit 
and Governance Committee.  
 

Is this report exempt? No 
Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

No 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  X 

A Stronger City Region  X 

A Cleaner City Region  X 

A Connected City Region  X 

A Vibrant City Region X 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.1  

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 4.2 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Trudy Bedford,  
Principal Democratic Services Officer  
 

Appendices No 
 

Background Documents No 

 

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



  

Page 148



LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Thursday, 19 January 2023 
 

Report of the Interim Monitoring Officer  
 

APPOINTMENT TO THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek one nomination from the Committee for one member to sit on the 

Combined Authority’s Audit and Governance Committee 2022/23.  
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appoint a Labour 

Councillor to the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. The following Members were appointed to the Audit and Governance Committee at 

the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 13 July 2022.  
 

Labour – Councillors Edna Finneran and James Hansen 

Liberal Democrat – Councillor Pat Moloney 

Conservative – Councillor David Burgess-Joyce 

 
3.2 Notification was recently received from Sefton Council of a change in one of their 

nominations to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, with Councillor Brenda 
O’Brien has replaced Councillor James Hansen on the Committee. As such a new 
Labour Councillor nomination is required to the Audit and Governance Committee.  

 
 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Legal  
 

The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 
Authority’s Corporate Governance arrangements.  The Committee membership has 
to be constituted in accordance with the governance arrangements set out in the 
LCR Combined Authority Constitution and any other appropriate legislation.  This is 
to ensure that the Audit and Governance Committee can effectively carry out its 
purpose and functions as set out in its Terms of Reference. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



 
4.2 Risks and Mitigation  
  
 There is a risk that should the appointments to the Audit and Governance 

Committee 2022/23 not be made this would be detrimental to the principle of good 
governance for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  

 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1. It is anticipated that the proposed appointment will support the operation of the 

Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

 
LOUISE OUTRAM 

Interim Monitoring Officer 
 

Appendices: 
 
1 None 
 
Background Documents:  
 
1 None 

Page 150


	Agenda
	3a Meeting on the 7 September 2022
	Minutes

	3b Inquorate meeting held on 1 December 2022
	Minutes

	4 Combined Authority Budget 2023/24
	Enc. 2 for Combined Authority Budget 2023/24
	Enc. 3 for Combined Authority Budget 2023/24
	Enc. 4 for Combined Authority Budget 2023/24
	Enc. 5 for Combined Authority Budget 2023/24
	Enc. 6 for Combined Authority Budget 2023/24

	5 Corporate Plan 2021-24; Quarter 2 (July to September) 2022-23 Performance Update
	Enc. 1 for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority; Corporate Plan 2021-24; Quarter 2 (July to September) 2022-23 Performance Update Report

	6 Fair Employment Charter: Implementation and Next Steps
	7 Appointment to the Audit and Governance Committee

